UC Berkeley UC Berkeley Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Maternal Health Decision-making in Multigenerational Households: Evidence from Field Experiments in India

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/2d0288pb

Author Suri, Pooja

Publication Date

2024

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

Maternal Health Decision-making in Multigenerational Households: Evidence from Field Experiments in India

by

Pooja Suri

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Health Policy

in the

Graduate Division

of the

University of California, Berkeley

Committee in charge:

Professor William H. Dow, Chair Professor Edward A. Miguel Professor Arun G. Chandrasekhar Professor Lia H. Fernald

Summer 2024

Maternal Health Decision-making in Multigenerational Households: Evidence from Field Experiments in India

Copyright 2024 by Pooja Suri Abstract

Maternal Health Decision-making in Multigenerational Households: Evidence from Field Experiments in India

by

Pooja Suri

Doctor of Philosophy in Health Policy

University of California, Berkeley

Professor William H. Dow, Chair

In low-and middle-income countries (LMICs), women often struggle to access health services through the perinatal period. In addition to supply-side geographical access and financial barriers, in many settings there are also constraints arising from a combination of complex family structures, low female agency, social norms, and a lack of information on the importance of seeking timely care. This combination of factors makes it challenging for policymakers to improve maternal and infant health, as typical policies focus on the supplyside, i.e. reducing cost of care, and improving accessibility. This dissertation presents results from three empirical studies conducted in India on the role of household members in decisionmaking in accessing perinatal care.

The first paper examines the dynamics between new mothers and their caregivers (spouse, mother, and mother-in-law) in making caregiving decisions for postnatal maternal and infant care. The second paper uses a randomized controlled trial to investigate the impact of targeted health messaging and social learning on antenatal care visits and iron and folic acid tablet consumption among pregnant women co-residing with their mothers-in-law. The third paper uses a cluster randomized trial to evaluate the effectiveness of a mobile messaging service delivering postnatal care information to households, and its impact on maternal and infant health outcomes.

In the first paper, I find that birthing women are more likely to name their caregivers (rather than themselves) as sole decision-makers for infant and maternal care, though agreement between the mother and caregiver on who is the decision-maker is low. I also find that the identity of the primary caregiver significantly affects maternal mental well-being, with lower well-being when the primary caregiver is their mother-in-law. The second paper demonstrates that involving mothers-in-law in a health messaging education intervention increases health-seeking behaviors and improves post-delivery outcomes. In the third paper, I find that a mobile messaging service delivering postnatal care information to the entire household has a positive impact on maternal and infant health outcomes.

Collectively, these papers highlight the importance of considering the influence of family members, particularly the mother-in-law, in designing effective health interventions in LMICs. However, further research is needed to understand the factors that influence behaviors and to develop ways to address and modify strongly held priors and social norms that may hinder health-seeking behaviors. Additionally, this research focuses on the perinatal period, but future avenues of research can explore how this dynamic affects other health behaviors such as family planning and childhood nutrition, as well as resulting morbidity. To the parts that make this life whole: Agastya Skanda-Suri, Skanda, and the Suris

Contents

C	onter	nts	ii
Li	st of	Figures	\mathbf{v}
Li	st of	Tables	vi
1	Intr	oduction	1
2	Inve from	estigating the role of family members in postnatal care: Evidence n mother-caregiver dyads in India	5
	2.1	Introduction	7
	2.2	Materials and Methods	8
		2.2.1 Study design and participants	0 9
		2.2.3 Measures	9
		2.2.4 Statistical analysis	10
		2.2.5 Ethics review	10
	2.3	Results	11
		2.3.1 Dyad description	11
		2.3.2 Infant care decision-making	12
		2.3.3 Maternal care decision-making	13
		2.3.4 Postpartum care and mental well-being by caregiver type	14
	2.4	Discussion	14
3	The	role of the mother-in-law and social norms in the demand for ma-	94
	2 1	Introduction	4 4 96
	ე.1 ვე	Context and Setting	20 20
	J.2	3.2.1 Antenatal care in India	30
		3.2.1 Antenatial Care in finals	30
	33	Conceptual Framework	31
	3.0	Experiment: Design and Implementation	32
	0.4		04

		3.4.1	Treatments	32
		3.4.2	Power calculations	33
		3.4.3	Sample size and randomization	33
		3.4.4	Outcomes	35
	3.5	Estima	tion strategy	35
	3.6	Ethics	review	36
	3.7	Results	5	36
		3.7.1	Sample description, balance, and attrition	36
		3.7.2	ANC and IFA knowledge at midline and endline	38
		3.7.3	Number of ANC visits and IFA tablet consumption	39
		3.7.4	Flyer signed and district hospital visited	39
		3.7.5	Maternal and infant complications	40
	3.8	Discus	sion	40
	0.0	2100000		10
4	Imp	act of	a mobile messaging service for families on postnatal care	
	knov	wledge	and practices: Evidence from a cluster randomized trial in	
	Indi	a		53
	4.1	Introdu	uction	55
	4.2	Metho	ds	56
		4.2.1	MCCP Intervention	56
		4.2.2	Study design	57
		4.2.3	Measures	58
		4.2.4	Statistical analysis	58
	4.3	Ethics	Review	59
	4.4	Results	S	59
		4.4.1	Sample balance and attrition	59
		4.4.2	MCCP participation	59
		4.4.3	Effect on postnatal care practices	60
		4.4.4	Effect on postnatal care knowledge	60
	4.5	Discuss	sion	60
		_		
5	Disc	cussion		67
	5.1	Policy	implications	68
	5.2	Future	directions for research	69
		5.2.1	Spousal involvement	69
		5.2.2	Extending bargaining models	70
		5.2.3	Concluding Remarks	70
Bi	hliog	ranhv		71
ום	onog	ւսիпչ		11
A	Cha	pter 2	– Supplementary Tables and Figures	85

В	3 Chapter 3 – Supplementary Tables and Figures				
	B.1	Tables		90	
	B.2	Materi	hal health training scripts	117	
		B.2.1	Maternal health script for only pregnant women	117	
		B.2.2	Maternal health script for pregnant women and mothers-in-law $% \mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}$	119	
\mathbf{C}	Cha	pter 4	– Supplementary Tables and Figures	123	

List of Figures

2.1	Study flow diagram	17
2.2	Health decision-making survey flow	18
3.1	Study flow diagram	52
4.1	Participant flow diagram	66

List of Tables

 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 	Birthing woman descriptive characteristicsPrimary caregiver characteristicsDyad decision making: infant care decisionsDyad decision making: maternal care decisionsPostpartum health outcomes of birthing woman by type of primary caregiver	19 20 21 22 23
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5	State and district-wise maternal health indicators	42 43 46 49 50
$\begin{array}{c} 4.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.4 \end{array}$	Baseline balance of analytic sampleMother-reported MCCP takeup and engagementEffect of MCCP on newborn care, maternal diet, and complications (N=13,491)Effect of MCCP on newborn care knowledge	62 63 64 65
A.1 A.2 A.3 A.4	Birthing woman descriptive characteristics (no consenting caregiver) Types of caregivers, by relationship to birthing women $(N=551)$ Mental well being index components $(N = 551)$	86 87 88 89
 B.1 B.2 B.3 B.4 B.5 B.6 B.7 B.8 B.9 	Phase-wise sample \dots Daughter-in-law summary statistics in baseline sample (N=2,409) \dots Baseline covariate balance of baseline sample (DIL responses only) (N=2,409) Daughter-in-law summary statistics in midline sample (N=1,991) \dots Baseline covariate balance of midline sample (DIL responses only) (N=1,991) \dots Baseline covariate balance of endline sample (DIL responses only) (N=1,991) \dots Baseline covariate balance of endline sample (DIL responses only) (N=1,844) \dots Baseline covariate balance of endline sample (DIL responses only) (N=1,844) \dots Baseline covariate balance of endline sample (DIL responses only) (N=1,844) \dots Baseline covariate balance of endline sample (DIL responses only) (N=1,844) \dots Baseline covariate balance of endline sample (DIL responses only) (N=1,844) \dots Baseline covariate balance of endline sample (DIL responses only) (N=1,844) \dots Baseline covariate balance of endline sample (DIL responses only) (N=1,844) \dots Baseline covariate balance of endline sample (DIL responses only) (N=1,844) \dots Baseline covariate balance of endline sample (DIL responses only) (N=1,844) \dots Baseline covariate balance of endline by treatment arms \dots Baseline covariate baseline and endline by treatment arms \dots Baseline covariate baseline and endline by treatment arms \dots Baseline covariate baseline and endline by treatment arms \dots Baseline covariate baseline and endline by treatment arms \dots Baseline covariate baseline and endline by treatment arms \dots Baseline covariate baseline and endline by treatment arms \dots Baseline covariate baseline and endline by treatment arms \dots Baseline covariate baseline and endline by treatment arms \dots Baseline covariate baseline and endline by treatment arms \dots Baseline covariate baseline and endline by treatment arms \dots Baseline covariate baseline and endline by treatment arms \dots Baseline covariate baseline covariate baseline and endline baseline arms \dots Baseline covariate baseline covariate baseline covariate baseline covariate baseline covariate baseline covariat	90 91 95 99 103 107 111 115 116
C.1	Mobile Care Companion Program (MCCP) messages and delivery schedule	124

C.2	CONSORT 2010 checklist of information when reporting a cluster randomised tria	l129
C.3	High dimensional controls	133
C.4	Demographic characteristics of excluded sample (N=3,466)	134
C.5	Attrition by treatment assignment	135
C.6	Demographic characteristics, by attrition	136
C.7	Baseline balance table of full demographic survey sample	137
C.8	Effect of MCCP Intervention on newborn care, maternal diet, and complications,	
	unadjusted $(N=13,491)$	138
C.9	Effect of MCCP Intervention on newborn care, maternal diet, and complications,	
	unadjusted $(N=13,491)$	139

Acknowledgments

I am extremely grateful to my advisor and chair, Will Dow, for the immense support through all things research and personal over the last five years. You accepted me to the program, and gave me the opportunity, autonomy, and funding to pursue the research questions I had. You set a high bar for good research and writing, and I am so glad you held me to it throughout. Your support and encouragement during my pregnancy and postpartum was invaluable in helping me navigate the PhD and academic life after.

I have had the privilege of working closely with Edward Miguel during my PhD. Ted, you are an amazing and supportive mentor. Despite being in the economics department and having many of your own students to advice, you made time for me and gave me insightful feedback that ended up changing the course of my JMP. Your passion for research, helping students, optimism, and energy is truly inspiring.

I am deeply indebted to Arun Chandrasekhar. When I accepted the position with you at J-PAL, I did not realize how much you would influence every aspect of my career. Your love of research and endless curiosity sparked my interest in research in the first place. You have an incredible gift for developing ideas by asking simple but powerful questions, and this was the guiding force throughout my PhD. You taught me the value of being close to the field, whether its surveyors or respondents or the local cuisine. I learned important lessons seeing your loyalty to your collaborators, field staff, and students. Eight years later, I am still learning from you, benefiting from your mentorship, and constantly being inspired.

A special thanks to Andrew Zetilin for introducing me to research, Marcella Alsan for suggesting that the "mother-in-law is the supernova of a young woman's social network in India", Paul Gertler for teaching me new econometric methods, Lia Fernald for the amazing sessions that fostered so much collaboration, and Yann Bramoullé for funding this research.

Jamie Johnston has been a de facto committee member and an older sister. Jamie, you have taught me how to work with perfection, be meticulous in everything I do, and ALWAYS write in the active voice. You have been there every single day of this PhD, brainstorming ideas, providing feedback, handling rants and grumpy days, all while juggling so much in your own life. You inspire me to bring the same excellence you bring to every part of your life—whether in research or motherhood.

My partner-in-JMP, Anushka Chawla, I am so grateful you got stranded at our place in March 2020 because it led to the most ambitious, daring, fun, and challenging project of our lives. Manaswini Rao, thank you for the constant encouragement and for being an amazing role model. Ishita Ahmed, you have been there from before the beginning, real analysis to finishing PhDs with babies. I am grateful to have had an amazing set of classmates from whom I have learned so much. Calvin, Nicole, Claire, Eleanor and Maria, your friendship, support, and advice has meant a lot. I am lucky to have gotten to know my fellow moms in the program - Christine and Margae. Navigating a PhD and motherhood is hard, and I cannot imagine having two better friends during this time.

This thesis would not have been possible without the generous support of Shahed Alam and Edith Elliott at Noora Health, who gave me the freedom to study their wonderful program, visit their office over many breaks, travel to the field, and implement my RCT. Special thanks to Sahana, Seema, Shirley, Nikhil, Adithi, and the field team on the ANC project.

I owe everything to my family for being here. Mumma, your tenacity, perseverance, and commitment to excellence made it possible for me to complete this journey. Growing up, you had an incredible way of being attuned to me and my interests, encouraging them without question, and getting me countless books to learn from. You taught me compassion, the need to question, and the importance of failing fast. Baba, you gave me a solid foundation in my life to build an academic career on. Your passion for trains, cricket, and your family has taught me the joy of focusing on one interest and pursuing it to the fullest.

My sister and best friend, Sanah – you bring endless joy, comfort and laughter to my life since the day you were born. You have been with me from day one - whether it's feeding me breads and cakes during the pandemic, talking endlessly during our commute, or now as fellow PhDs commiserating over the challenges of academia. Yuya, I am so thankful you came into our lives. You fit in like you always belonged, and your support over the last few years has meant the world to me. Nani and Dadi for always having faith in me, and thinking I would have got "cent percent" in every exam.

Ashim Mama, I wish you were here. You taught me to be curious, to question the status quo, inspired me to help others, and most of all, you fed my appetite for books and new thoughts growing up. In so many ways, I wouldn't be doing this if not for you and our endless conversations about life and philosophy. Amma, you taught me the depth of the daughter and mother-in-law relationship, and opened my mind to the value of tradition. Chachu, Chachi thank you for encouraging me to study economics in the first place. Ana, for being my cheerleader, and Annika for all the free labor.

Agastya, words cannot describe the immense joy you bring to my life every single day. You have unknowingly shaped my research and made me curious to learn so many new things, from pregnancy, postpartum support, to child development. I am the luckiest person in the world to be your mom and to watch you learn, grow, and discover the world. Gobi, for causing and healing my emotional distress. Such a good boy.

Finally, Skanda – you have been my partner in this journey for the last 12 years and

supported me in innumerable ways, from studying my real analysis notes with me, teaching me Stata, printing pamphlets in Odisha on your birthday, to patiently supporting me over these last five years, and now holding my hand across the finish line, while you hold Aggie in the other. You redefine what it means to be a partner, husband, and father. You know me better than I know myself, love my flaws, and supported me through every high and low. I would not be here without you, and I am so excited for the next seasons of our lives together.

Chapter 1 Introduction

The focus of research in economics on intra-household health decision-making has largely been on spouses. However, in many low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), complex family structures—such as multi-generational households (Flores and Kalwij (2014); Khalil and Mookerjee (2019); Lee and Bauer (2013), polygamous families (Rossi (2019)), and those with strong matriarchal figures like the mother-in-law—significantly influence health outcomes (Anukriti et al. (2019, 2022); Ghosh and Thornton (2024); Khanna and Pandey (2020)). Interventions that target only women or couples may fail since they ignore the authority and status of other household members, especially when household preferences and incentives are misaligned (Ghosh and Thornton (2024)).

Patrilocality, a traditional system in which women live with their in-laws after marriage, is common among families in LMICs (Khalil and Mookerjee (2019)). Such a family arrangement plays a vital role in providing care for children and the elderly, perinatal support, enhancing labor force participation among younger members, and maintaining financial stability (Barr et al. (2012); Cox and Fafchamps (2007); Shorrocks (1979)). The wife's mother-in-law plays an outsized role in household management and decision-making within this family structure.

Recent descriptive and quasi-experimental studies show that co-residence can play out in opposing ways. The presence of the mother-in-law in the household can enhance labor force participation(Khanna and Pandey (2020)) and decrease the risk of iron-deficient anemia (Varghese and Roy (2019)). Positive daughter-in-law and mother-in-law relationships lead to more antenatal care visits and better postnatal mental health (Allendorf (2010); Chandran et al. (2002); Gausia et al. (2009)). However, there is evidence that also suggests that coresidence with in-laws, particularly the mother-in-law, can diminish a woman's authority in making her own health or labor participation decisions (Anukriti et al. (2019); Banerji et al. (2023); Ghosh and Thornton (2024)).

LMICs, particularly India, bear a greater burden of maternal and infant mortality and morbidity (WHO (2024)). In recent years, despite significant policy efforts in India, maternal and infant mortality rates have remained high (NFHS (2016a)). Most maternal and infant deaths are preventable with adequate care (Gupta et al. (2010); Kassebaum et al. (2016); Meh et al. (2022); Montgomery et al. (2014); Peña-Rosas et al. (2015)). However, the perinatal period in India is characterized by limited access to health information and cultural norms that lead pregnant women and new mothers to rely heavily on others, particularly their mothers or mothers-in-law, for health decision-making and care practices (Choudhry (1997); Withers et al. (2018)). Additionally, a vast body of research in economics has shown that information, who it is given to, and whether it is provided in the presence or absence of peers can also significantly impact health outcomes (Bursztyn et al. (2019, 2018); Dupas (2011); Karing (2019)).

Consequently, this dissertation presents results from three empirical studies in India, focusing on the barriers to seeking care and examining how the provision of simple information and the involvement of household members affect perinatal health outcomes.

Chapter 2 examines the dynamics between new mothers and family members —specifically, their spouse, mother, and mother-in-law —in making caregiving decisions for postpartum maternal and infant care. The post-natal period is a critical time for the physical and mental recovery of the mother, as well as the development of the newborn, and a significant portion of infant deaths occur in the weeks following birth. Previous studies have linked the involvement of family members to improved maternal mental health, maternal-infant bonding, and increased breastfeeding. However, the specific influence of the mother and mother-in-law on health outcomes for both mothers and newborns remains poorly understood, especially in a unique cultural context like India where women have limited agency and rely heavily on caregivers for health information. Potential discordance between caregivers and mothers adds complexity to this dynamic.

Using data collected by Noora Health from 551 dyads of women with infants under six months and their primary family caregivers across four Indian states, I present descriptive statistics on: 1) the identity of the primary decision-maker as reported independently by new mothers and caregivers, and 2) how disagreements are resolved. I analyze agreement levels on maternal and infant health decision-making within each dyad, as well as the primary decision-maker.

I find that women are more likely to name their caregivers (rather than themselves) as the sole decision-makers for both infant and maternal care. Less than a third of women report involvement in household decision-making. Agreement on the identity of sole decision-makers was low, with less than a third of dyads in agreement for both infant and maternal care decisions. I also find that the identity of the primary caregiver significantly affects maternal mental well-being. Women report higher mental well-being (by 0.12 standard deviations of a normalized index) when their mother is the primary caregiver, compared to the spouse. In contrast, their mental well-being is negatively impacted (by 0.12 standard deviations) when their mother-in-law is the primary caregiver compared to the spouse. The type of caregiver also significantly affects post-delivery health.

Chapter 3 shifts focus to the prenatal period and investigates the impact of differentiated health messaging and social learning on antenatal care visits (ANC) and iron and folic acid (IFA) tablet consumption for pregnant women co-residing with their mothers-in-law.

High maternal mortality rates, especially in rural areas, remain a critical policy issue in India. Despite the availability of free antenatal care, ANC visits in India are low. Com-

CHAPTER 1.

mon factors include limited involvement of pregnant women in household decision-making, restrictions on traveling unaccompanied to health clinics, and families undervaluing prenatal care (Ogbo et al. (2019)). Given India's patrilocal society, it is important to understand how household members, especially mothers-in-law, influence young women's health, mobility, and resource decisions.

Along with collaborators, I conducted a randomized trial across 2409 households in 309 villages in India. We varied whether health information on ANC visits and IFA tablet consumption was given only to the daughter-in-law (pregnant woman) (DIL treatment) or to both the daughter-in-law and the mother-in-law (DIL+MIL treatment). I also varied information delivery at a group level with and without mothers-in-law to distinguish the effects of private information from social messaging.

First, I observed significant effects on knowledge: DILs and MILs across treatments had more knowledge overall, which was particularly interesting for MILs since they were not treated in two cross-randomized arms. Individual delivery outperformed group delivery for DILs only, with group treatment showing an attenuating effect. Second, individual delivery boosted short-term gains in ANC visits and IFA consumption, whereas group delivery took longer to effect change. Finally, involving MILs significantly increased health-seeking behaviors, such as attending additional hospital training and improving post-delivery maternal and infant outcomes.

This study is the first to provide experimental evidence on the influence of mothers-in-law on prenatal care, highlighting their role as significant household decision-makers. Further research is needed to understand treatment mechanisms and to extend intrahousehold bargaining models to include mothers-in-law, where interests may not always align.

The previous study demonstrates the effectiveness of intensive in-person health information delivery to pregnant women and their mothers-in-law. However, such interventions are not always feasible or cost-effective. Chapter 4 evaluates instead the impact of a lower-cost mobile messaging service that delivers postnatal care information to the entire household from birth through six weeks postpartum. This chapter highlights the impact of a low-effort digital intervention accessible to the whole household.

I analyze data from a cluster randomized experiment involving 24 hospitals in four states in India. In this study, 15 hospitals were provided access to information via WhatsApp, while 9 received in-hospital standard-of-care information. We recruited 21,937 mothers, primarily of lower socioeconomic status, over 10 months to participate in the study. I find significant positive impacts across most neonatal and maternal care practices examined, including increased breastfeeding, recommended cord care practice, and skin-to-skin care with mothers and fathers. Additionally, I observed significant and positive impacts on maternal dietary practices, with adherence to guidelines advising against reducing food and water intake and avoiding food restrictions.

In summary, this thesis addresses critical gaps in understanding the dynamics of intrahousehold decision-making in India, particularly the influential role of mothers-in-law on perinatal health outcomes. By exploring the interactions between new mothers, their mothers, and mothers-in-law, as well as the impact of targeted health interventions, the research highlights the complexity of family structures in LMICs and their implications for health policy. The findings underscore the importance of considering broader household influences beyond the immediate nuclear family when designing and implementing health interventions. As such, this work contributes to the literature on family dynamics and health in LMICs and provides insights for policymakers aiming to improve maternal and infant health outcomes in similar contexts.

Chapter 2

Investigating the role of family members in postnatal care: Evidence from mother-caregiver dyads in India

ABSTRACT

Objectives In this study, we examine the dynamics of new mothers relative to other family members in making caregiving decisions about postpartum maternal and infant care in four states in India. Specifically, we investigate the involvement of the father, maternal grand-mother, and paternal grandmother of the newborn in household decision-making for infant and maternal care.

Methods We analyze data from 551 dyads of women with infants under six months and the family caregiver identified as providing the primary support in the postpartum period. We present descriptive statistics on 1) the identity of the primary decision-maker as independently reported by new mothers and caregivers and 2) how disagreements are resolved. Within each dyad, we examine the level of agreement on health decision-making between mothers and caregivers. We use logistic regression and Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) to analyze the association between caregiver identity, postpartum outcomes, and maternal mental well-being.

Results Our findings show that decisions in the household are predominantly made by a single person, either the birthing woman or one of the family caregivers – the father, maternal grandmother, or paternal grandmother of the newborn. Across all dyads, birthing women are more likely than other household members to name their caregivers as the sole decision-makers for infant care and their own. The involvement of birthing women in household decision-making is low, with less than a third of birthing women reporting involvement in either. Within-dyad agreement on the identity of sole decision-makers is low, with less than a third of dyads in agreement for both infant and maternal care decision-making. The identity of the family caregiver matters for maternal mental well-being. Birthing women experience

a higher level of mental well-being on a normalized index by 0.12 standard deviations (sd) when their primary caregiver is their own mother. In contrast, the mental well-being of the birthing women is negatively impacted by 0.12 sd when the caregiver is the mother-in-law. We also observe that the type of caregiver significantly impacts the postpartum recovery of the birthing woman. Specifically, birthing women whose caregivers are mothers-in-law are 15.4 percentage points less likely to be well post-delivery. We find no other significant associations between the type of caregiver and postpartum outcomes.¹

¹Note: This chapter presents results from an analysis conducted in collaboration with Jamie Johnston (Stanford University), Sahana SD (Noora Health), Shirley Yan (Noora Health), and Seema Murthy (Noora Health).

2.1 Introduction

The postpartum period is a critical time for the physical and mental recovery of the mother, as well as the optimal development of the newborn (Fahey and Shenassa (2013); Lopez-Gonzalez and Kopparapu (2023); Slomian et al. (2019)). A significant proportion of deaths and re-hospitalizations for both mothers and newborns occur in the first few weeks following birth (Lawn et al. (2004, 2005)). The Lancet's neonatal survival series highlights practical and cost-effective interventions that improve maternal and neonatal health outcomes by enhancing maternal nutrition, promoting breastfeeding, and ensuring adequate and timely neonatal care (Darmstadt et al. (2005); Knippenberg et al. (2005); Lawn et al. (2005); Martines et al. (2005)). However, these interventions often require considerable time and resources, which are frequently limited and pose implementation challenges (Darmstadt et al. (2005); Evans et al. (2005); Horton and Levin (2016)). Previous literature, such as the systematic reviews conducted by Martin et al. (2020) and Martin et al. (2021), highlight the positive impact of family and caregiver support on maternal health outcomes. Other studies have demonstrated the association between the involvement of family members who are also caregivers, and improved maternal mental health (Garcia-Esteve et al. (2008); Reid and Taylor (2015); Robertson (2003); Robertson et al. (2004)), maternal-infant bonding (Lutkiewicz et al. (2020); Ohara et al. (2017); Tichelman et al. (2019)), and increased uptake of breastfeeding (Aubel et al. (2021); Tomori et al. (2022).

In India, the postpartum period is characterized by a unique cultural context where women are considered vulnerable and reliant on other family members (especially women) within the household for support (Choudhry (1997); Withers et al. (2018)). Family caregivers in India greatly influence the mothers' decisions during their pregnancy and the postpartum period; evidence suggests that the stronger the relationship quality, the more likely the mother is to engage in WHO-recommended best practices (Allendorf (2010); Chandran et al. (2002); Gausia et al. (2009); Nguyen et al. (2019)). Nevertheless, the influence of different types of caregivers, especially mothers and mothers-in-law of the birthing woman, on health outcomes for both the mother and newborn remains poorly understood (Aubel (2012); Pulgaron et al. (2016); Sadruddin et al. (2019)). Additionally, the potential discordance between caregivers and mothers concerning postpartum care decisions adds further complexity to the caregiving dynamic (Allendorf (2010); Pulgaron et al. (2016); Vázquez-Vázquez et al. (2022)). Examining these intricate relationships is crucial for designing effective interventions and ensuring optimal postpartum health outcomes, particularly as maternal and infant mortality remains high in India (NFHS (2016b)).

Several barriers can impede caregivers' ability to support mothers effectively in the postpartum period; limited knowledge, inadequate resources, and competing responsibilities often hinder caregivers from providing comprehensive care (Gaikwad et al. (2020)). Additionally, cultural beliefs, social norms, and economic constraints can further contribute to suboptimal postpartum care practices (Kesterton and Cleland (2009); Yan et al. (2023)). This study explores the dynamics within new mother and caregiver dyads, investigating the role of caregivers (primarily the father, maternal, and paternal grandmother of the newborn) and their influence on postpartum care in four states in India. In this study, we explore three key research questions: 1) How do different family caregivers influence household health decision-making, particularly in determining responsibilities for the mother's health versus the infant's health? 2) How are conflicts regarding decision-making resolved within the household? 3) How do these caregiver relationships impact postpartum health outcomes, including mental well-being? We hypothesize that 1) decisions regarding the infant's health are made by multiple members of the household, and the type of family caregiver during the postpartum period is crucial. We expect that women cared for by their mothers-in-law will have poorer health outcomes compared to those cared for by their own mothers or spouses.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Study design and participants

In this study, we present findings from a cohort of women who had recently given birth in hospitals where the non-profit organization Noora Health, through its local partner organizations, implements its neonatal Care Companion Program (CCP), a health education program that provides in-hospital training sessions and digital messaging on postnatal care to birthing women and their family caregivers. Noora Health aims to make family caregiver education part of the standard of care to strengthen postnatal care quality in the home and improve maternal and neonatal health outcomes. Additional details on CCP can be found in Yan et al. (2023). CCP is integrated into all district hospitals and specific medical colleges in the states included in this study (Karnataka, Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra, and Punjab). All birthing women and family caregivers present in the postnatal wards during CCP training are invited to participate.

Figure 2.1 shows the study sampling flow. The sample of birthing women in the study was randomly drawn from a larger sample of 18,436 birthing women who delivered in 28 district hospitals in the four states between September 2018 and May 2020 and completed a post-discharge survey conducted by Noora Health within one month after birth. Our sample was restricted to birthing women with infants six months of age or younger at the time of the phone survey. We stratified our sample by state (each strata was sampled proportionate to size) and whether the infant fell sick at home post-discharge to ensure that our sample was reflective of the larger sample of birthing women. Birthing women whose infants had died and who spoke a language other than Hindi, Kannada, Marathi, or Punjabi were excluded from the sample due to ethical reasons and the unavailability of qualified survey staff with proficiency in languages other than the ones mentioned above. In total, we sampled 1,355 birthing women. The available budget and surveying capacity of the Noora Health field team determined this sample size. We recruited participants via phone between May and June of 2020. Of the total sample recruited, 822 birthing women were successfully contacted and consented to participate. We did not collect any data from women who did not consent.

We first administered a 30-minute phone survey to consenting birthing women. At the

end of the survey, we asked birthing women to provide their primary postpartum caregiver's name and contact details. We then contacted and independently surveyed this caregiver. A total of 551 caregivers consented to participate in the study. Because this study aims to analyze the birthing woman and caregiver dyads, we restrict our analytic sample to the 551 pairs of birthing women and caregivers for whom we have complete dyad data.

2.2.2 Data collection

Our study draws upon two sources of data. We pooled phone survey data collected during recruitment for this study, with post-discharge data collected by Noora Health within 30 days after birth for the same women in our study (Subramanian et al. (2020)). Post-discharge data collected from birthing women includes information on the age of the birthing woman; data on prior pregnancies of the birthing woman, including the number of times they have been pregnant, whether this is their first child, and number of existing children; data on postpartum practices, including exclusive breastfeeding, skin-to-skin care, umbilical cord care, and maternal diet restrictions; and health outcomes including hospital readmissions of infants and birthing women and mental health of birthing women.

Phone surveys administered to birthing women collected household demographic data, including household size, rural residence, and socioeconomic status measured by an asset score and below-poverty line status; health knowledge as proxied by a series of questions asked about COVID-19 awareness and prevention due to the timing of the survey coinciding with the start of the COVID-19 pandemic; family caregiver support and intra-household decision making about maternal and infant care; and maternal mental well-being.

The phone survey administered to caregivers included the same questions as the birthing woman survey, except for questions about mental well-being.

2.2.3 Measures

We describe the types of family caregivers that provide postpartum support to birthing women. While the birthing women reported many different family relationship types among their primary caregivers, we limit our primary analyses to the three most frequently mentioned relationship types: 1) the spouse of the birthing woman, 2) the mother of the birthing woman, and 3) the mother-in-law of the birthing woman. These three relationship types comprise 74.05 percent of family caregivers identified (see Appendix S2). Other commonly mentioned relationship types include sister, sister-in-law, daughter, and father.

We leverage data collected from family caregivers to examine the level of agreement regarding health decision-making within the birthing women and caregiver dyads. Figure 2.2 describes the flow of survey questions investigating health decision-making for the infant and separately for the birthing woman. Each dyad member was asked to identify 1) the identity of the primary decision maker(s) (single or multiple) and 2) how disagreements are resolved (by a single decision maker, joint consensus, or by deferring to the advice of an ASHA or medical doctor). Within each dyad, the birthing woman's and the caregiver's responses were compared to understand the within-dyad agreement.

Finally, we examine the association between family caregiver type, postpartum care practices, and maternal mental well-being. The postpartum practices that we examine include the following indicators: 1) exclusive breastfeeding, 2) practice of skin-to-skin care, 3) unsafe umbilical cord care (i.e., application of anything to the cord), 4) restriction of the birthing woman's diet, 5) if the infant fell sick post-discharge, 6) if the birthing woman fell sick post-discharge, and 7) missed vaccinations for the infant. We constructed a maternal mental well-being index from a series of yes / no statements asking birthing women about their anxieties, caregiving load, stress, and available support. We constructed the index by taking the unweighted sum with higher values indicating poorer mental well-being and standardizing around the mean for ease of interpretation. This is a novel index, and has not been validated elsewhere.

2.2.4 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted in Stata 16 and Stata 18. To estimate the association between the identity of the primary caregiver and the various health outcomes, we use logistic regression when the dependent variables are binary and Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) when the dependent variable is non-binary. In both model types, the reference category is the spouse and we include indicator variables for the mother and the mother-in-law.

We include covariates related to both the birthing woman and the caregivers. These covariates include the age of the birthing woman and the caregiver, household size, number of existing children, and parity, as well as indicators for rural residence and below-poverty line status. Additionally, we include an asset score, where a higher score indicates better socioeconomic status, and a health knowledge index constructed as a standardized unweighted sum of correct responses to questions related to COVID-19. Additionally, we include state-fixed effects to hold constant state-wise variations.

2.2.5 Ethics review

This study received ethics approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Stanford University, California (protocol number IRB-55003), and the ACE Ethics Committee based in Bangalore, India. At the start of each survey, a consent script was read to participants in their local language, and participants were asked to provide verbal consent. Only those who provided consent were included in the study. Participants were not compensated for their time financially or otherwise. The primary data with identifiable information were collected and maintained in India; de-identified data were shared with collaborators for analysis.

2.3 Results

We begin the discussion of our findings with Table 2.1 and Table 2.2, which describes the birthing women included in our sample, and their primary caregivers comprising the dyads. Subsequently, in Table 2.3 and 2.4, we present a descriptive analysis of household decision-making within the dyads. Finally, in Table 2.5, we describe the association between the postpartum outcomes of the birthing woman and the type of primary caregiver.

2.3.1 Dyad description

Table 2.1 presents the descriptive characteristics of the birthing women in our sample. The mean age of the women is 24.14 years (sd=3.66). Most women live in rural villages (66.79 percent), and below the poverty line (69.51 percent), owning 4.86 out of 7 everyday household items on average. The average household size is 4.50. Women have been married for 4.64 years, and more than half (54.36 percent) are first-time mothers. On the health knowledge index, the women score low, with a mean score of 3.94 out of 15.

551 birthing women identified a primary caregiver for postpartum recovery and infant care. The most common caregivers include the birthing woman's spouse (30.85 percent), mothers (25.78 percent), and mothers-in-law (17.42 percent). Other relationships mentioned include but are not limited to, the sister, sister-in-law, and the birthing woman's father (see Appendix S1).

Table 2.2 presents the descriptive characteristics of the most common primary caregivers: the spouse, mother, and mother-in-law, along with a column that consolidates all other caregivers. We see that spouses are older than the birthing women, at an average age of 30.02 years. The mothers-in-law are average 48.75 years, compared to mothers with an average age of 43.62 years. As with the birthing women's sample in Table 2.1, more than half of caregivers live in rural villages. Among these three types of caregivers, spouses tend to be more educated, with a higher percentage having completed secondary school and higher than secondary education. In contrast, most mothers and mothers-in-law have only completed primary education. Spouses score higher on the COVID-19 health knowledge index (4.28 out of 15) compared to mothers (2.92 out of 15) and mothers-in-law (3.16 out of 15).

Tables 2.3 and 2.4 describe health decision-making for 1) infant care and 2) maternal care. As shown in Figure 2.2, in each dyad, birthing women and caregivers were asked to identify the primary decision maker(s) and decision maker(s) when there was a disagreement in the household about the health of the infant or birthing woman. The tables also show the percentage of dyads in which both members agree on all questions. The analysis was restricted to core dyads (N=408) where the caregiver was a spouse, mother, or mother-in-law.

2.3.2 Infant care decision-making

2.3.2.1 Primary decision-maker for infants

Table 2.3 shows the results of decision-making for the infant's health by dyad type. The majority of respondents indicated that a single person made decisions for the infant's health. Birthing women were most likely to name their primary caregiver (dyad member), as the decision-maker; 40.15 percent in the spouse dyad, 60.75 percent in the mother dyad and 45.83 percent in the mother-in-law dyad. Across all dyads, women were less likely to name themselves as the single decision maker, with 27.74, 21.50, and 22.22 percent identifying themselves, respectively. Across all dyads, mothers and mothers-in-law are frequently identified as decision-makers.

Among caregivers naming a single decision maker, spouses (fathers of the infants) were more likely to name themselves (45.16 percent). In contrast, mothers and mothers-in-law were more likely to consider the birthing woman the sole decision-maker. After the birthing women, mothers, and mothers-in-law were most likely to identify themselves as sole decisionmakers. Few mothers and mothers-in-law identified spouses as decision-makers.

In Table 2.3, we also show agreement on single decision-maker identity. Agreement is similar for the spouse and mother-in-law dyads (28.21 and 28.57 percent, respectively) and slightly lower for the mother dyad (20.16 percent).

Among responses indicating multiple decision-makers, we examine the involvement of the birthing woman (mother of the infant), the spouse (father of the infant), the mother (maternal grandmother), and the mother-in-law (paternal grandmother of the infant). More than half of birthing women in spouse and mother dyads are involved in decisions (60.61 percent and 71.43 percent). Fewer birthing women are involved in mother-in-law dyads (45.83 percent).

Among the caregiver responses, we see the proportion of birthing women involved in infant care decisions made jointly is similar to those reported by the birthing women. However, mothers-in-law report lower birthing woman involvement compared to birthing women within the mother-in-law dyad (31.58 vs. 45.83 percent). We also see that spouses and mothers-inlaw report the spouse being involved, whereas the mothers of birthing women rarely include spouses. Both spouses and mothers do not consider mothers-in-law involved, but a 73.68 percent of mothers-in-law consider themselves involved.

Table 2.3 also shows birthing women's involvement in decision-making, either as a single or joint decision-maker. Birthing women report being involved in a third of dyads (34.12 percent spouse, 33.8 percent mother, 28.13 percent mother-in-law). Spouses and mothers-in-law report slightly higher involvement, and mothers report the highest involvement.

2.3.2.2 Resolution of infant-care disagreements

Finally, Table 2.3 presents data on the resolution of disagreements related to health decisionmaking for the infant. Similar to the previous results, birthing women tend to defer the

CHAPTER 2.

ultimate decision-making during disagreements to their dyad member: 46.15 percent in the spouse dyad, 60 percent in the mother dyad, and 64 percent in the mother-in-law dyad.

2.3.3 Maternal care decision-making

2.3.3.1 Primary decision-makers for birthing women

Table 2.4 shows decision-making for the birthing woman's health. Similar to Table 2.3, we present the results for the birthing women and caregivers by core dyad. Most birthing women and caregivers indicated that a single person makes the maternal care decisions. Birthing women in spouse dyads were most likely to name their spouse as the decision-maker (79.71 percent). Birthing women in mother and mother-in-law dyads were also more likely to name the caregiver as the sole decision maker, although to a lesser degree. Across all types of core dyads, women were less likely to name themselves the single decision-maker for her own health, with 12.32, 29.91, and 8.33 percent identifying themselves in spouse, mother, and mother-in-law dyads, respectively. Across all dyad types, birthing women identify spouses as primary decision makers for maternal care decisions at a higher rate than for infant-care decisions.

Among caregivers, spouses named themselves as decision-makers (45.11 percent) nearly as often as they named the birthing woman (41.35 percent). Compared to spouses, mothers and mothers-in-law were more likely to consider the birthing woman the primary single decision-maker for her health, with 64.29 percent of mothers and 56.00 percent of mothers-in-law identifying the birthing woman. Few mothers and mothers-in-law indicated that spouses made decisions for the birthing woman's health.

Table 2.4 also shows dyads' agreement on the single decision-maker for maternal care. Agreement is higher in spouse (32.92 percent) and mother (27.41 percent) dyads, and lowest in mother-in-law dyads (17.05 percent).

Among responses indicating multiple decision-makers, we examine the involvement of the birthing woman and each caregiver. More birthing women report involvement in decision-making for their care in the spouse dyad (40.63 percent) compared to the mother and mother-in-law dyads (22.86 and 25.00 percent, respectively). Among the caregiver responses, we see the proportion of birthing women involved in decisions regarding their care is much higher than those reported by the birthing women (75.68, 68.75, and 47.62 percent, respectively). Spouses are likewise included as multiple decision-makers across all dyad types at similar rates.

Similar to Table 2.3, we show the proportion of times the birthing woman is included as a decision-maker for her health across single and household-level decision-making. Across all dyad types, birthing women are much less likely to report their involvement in decisionmaking compared to caregivers reporting the involvement of birthing women. Birthing women reported involvement in under a third of dyads across all types (17.65, 28.17, and 13.54 percent in spouse, mother, and mother-in-law dyads, respectively. Caregivers reported

CHAPTER 2.

birthing women involvement in a majority of dyads across all types (48.82, 64.79, and 54.17 percent in spouse, mother, and mother-in-law dyads, respectively).

2.3.3.2 Resolution of maternal-care disagreements

Table 2.4 also presents data on resolving disagreements related to health decision-making for the birthing woman. Similar to the resolution of infant-care disagreements (Table 3), birthing women tend to defer the ultimate decision-making during disagreements to their dyad member (78.18 percent in spouse dyads, 46.77 percent in mother dyads, and 44.74 in mother-in-law dyads).

2.3.4 Postpartum care and mental well-being by caregiver type

Table 2.5 presents the estimated associations between the type of primary caregiver and postpartum care practices for birthing women. The analysis revealed several significant associations between postpartum outcomes and the type of primary caregiver. Notably, when the caregiver was the birthing woman's own mother, her mental well-being was significantly better than the reference group which includes the spouse. On average, the mental wellbeing of the birthing woman was 0.12 sd higher (p < 0.1). Conversely, the mental well-being of the birthing woman is significantly negatively associated with the caregiver being her mother-in-law, 0.12 sd lower on the mental well-being index (p < 0.1).

We observed few significant associations between the type of caregiver and postpartum care practices. However, we did observe that having a mother-in-law as a caregiver was associated with a 0.15 percentage point (pp) decrease in the birthing woman being well post-discharged compared to the reference group of spouses (p < 0.05).

2.4 Discussion

In this study, we examine the role of family caregivers in India in the postpartum period, investigating which household members provide primary support to birthing women and how decisions are made about maternal and infant care. Our findings show that the three most common family members supporting birthing women are the birthing woman's spouse, mother, and mother-in-law. Our study contributes to the literature by using birthing womancaregiver dyad data to examine how birthing women and their family caregivers perceive how decisions are made and the extent to which they agree, offering a unique glimpse into the spousal and intergenerational dynamics of household decision-making.

Family caregivers play a significant role in postpartum decision-making, often acting as the sole decision-maker for questions about the care of both infants and birthing women. We observe that in the majority of households, decisions are made by a single person. Across all dyad types, birthing women were more likely to name their caregiver as the sole decision maker, not just for infant care but also for decisions about their own health. Caregivers

CHAPTER 2.

were likewise more likely to name themselves as the sole decision maker over the birthing woman, although at slightly lower rates. Households shift to increased joint decision-making to resolve disagreements. Nevertheless, family caregivers are involved in decision-making in nearly all households in the study.

Our study suggests that birthing women overwhelmingly do not view themselves as primary household decision-makers. For both infant and maternal care decision-making, the involvement of birthing women as a primary decision-maker is notably low, particularly from the perspective of birthing women themselves. Birthing women report involvement as a primary decision maker, either as a sole decision maker or as part of joint decision making, in roughly a third of the dyads observed for infant care decisions and under a third of dyads for maternal care decisions.

In contrast, caregivers do report a higher involvement of birthing women, with slightly higher rates for infant care, and substantially higher for maternal care (over 50 percent of dyads). This mismatch, with birthing women deferring decision-making to caregivers, is reflected in low levels of agreement within the dyads about the identity of sole decisionmakers. Agreement on sole decision-making in under a third of dyads for both infant and maternal care. For both primary decision-making and resolution of disagreements, birthing women assigned more authority to their caregiver counterpart, while caregivers reported deferring more authority to birthing women. The presence of multiple family decision-makers in some households may also contribute to the observed discrepancies and complicate the classification of decision-making roles.

Our study also points to important distinctions regarding the identity of the family caregivers, with patterns diverging depending on whether the primary caregiver is the birthing woman's spouse, own mother, or mother-in-law. We observe notable gender dynamics at play with respect to infant care. According to birthing women, spouses are far less likely to be involved with infant care decisions compared to decisions about maternal health, suggesting birthing women may feel more authority for infant care than for autonomy over their own care. Female caregivers (i.e., mothers and mothers-in-law) are unlikely to assign infant care decision-making authority to infants' fathers.

Furthermore, the identity of caregivers appears to matter for the mental well-being of birthing women. Having one's own mother as a primary caregiver is strongly positively associated with better mental well-being compared to other types of primary caregivers, while having a mother-in-law as a primary caregiver is negatively associated with mental well-being. We also note that birthing women's mothers are more likely to assign decisionmaking authority to their daughters compared to birthing women's spouses and mothersin-law. While birthing women derive the most agency and mental well-being benefits from caregiving provided by their mothers, it is important to note that this support may be shortlived, as most women in India typically move back into their spouse's family home shortly after childbirth (Allendorf (2017)).

Our findings have important implications for health policymakers and for developing programs and interventions designed to improve maternal-child care in the postpartum period. Programs and intervention design must account for family structures and distinctions in household decision-making to ensure that information and support is directed to those who influence household decision-making.

As in India, households in many LMICs are predominantly intergenerational [39]. Our research underscores the importance of designing interventions sensitive to these nuances, acknowledging that family caregivers must be incorporated into health education and can be instrumental in improving postpartum health outcomes. This study is the first to examine this household dynamic by studying family member dyads and decision-making, especially around health decision-making. However, our study has limitations: it lacks a quasi-experimental or experimental design, and has a limited sample size from specific socioeconomic groups. These limitations restrict our ability to fully analyze the extent of these dynamics' impact on mental health and additional postpartum outcomes. Future research should study the effect of this dynamic on health decision-making, including health-seeking behavior, and the best way to design postpartum support programs to improve maternal and infant health, that involve other family members and deliver health information at the household level.

Figure 2.1: Study flow diagram



Notes: This figure presents the study sampling flow. The sample is restricted to birthing women with infants of six months of age or younger. Exclusions include women whose infants had died and who spoke a language other than Hindi, Kannada, Marathi or Punjabi. The final analytic sample is restricted to 551 pairs of birthing women and caregivers.





Notes: Within each dyad, the birthing woman and her identified caregiver were asked to respond to the survey flow described in this figure. Respondents were asked to separately describe decision making for the health of 1) the infant and 2) the birthing woman. Birthing woman and caregiver responses in each dyad were compared to measure within-dyad agreement on health decision making.

	Birthing woman
	(n = 551)
Age	24.14 ± 3.66
Live in a rural village	368 (66.79)
State	
Madhya Pradesh	176 (31.94)
Karnataka	254 (46.10)
Punjab	69 (12.52)
Maharashtra	52 (9.44)
Caste	
General	162 (36.00)
Scheduled caste (SC)	107 (23.78)
Scheduled tribe (ST)	56 (12.44)
Not specified	226 (41.02)
Primary spoken language	
Hindi	285 (51.72)
Kannada	177 (32.12)
Punjabi	43 (7.80)
Marathi	46 (8.35)
Socio-economic status	
Ownership of HH goods - out of 7	4.86 ± 0.05
Ownership of Below Poverty Line (BPL) Card	383 (69.51)
Household characteristics	
Household size	4.50 ± 0.07
Number of years married	4.64 ± 0.15
Number of previous children	1.27 ± 0.03
Birth-related characteristics	
First-time mothers	299 (54.36)
Postpartum residence in maternal home	385 (69.87)
COVID-19 Health knowledge index - score out of 15	3.94 ± 2.03

Table 2.1: Birthing woman descriptive characteristics

Notes: This table presents the descriptive characteristics of birthing women in the analysis sample. Data are displayed as either mean \pm SD or n(%). Socio-economic status is presented as a score by counting the ownership of seven common household goods. Ownership of the Below Poverty Line (BPL) card is an indicator for whether the respondent's family has a government issued card. Postpartum residence in maternal home is an indicator for whether the respondent (birthing woman) lived in their mother's home immediately following birth. The health knowledge index is constructed by taking the sum of the respondent's score on a 6 knowledge questions relating to COVID-19.

Table 2.2:	Primary	caregiver	characteristics
1 abic 2.2.	1 mary	Caregiver	characteristics

		All dyads: Caregiver survey (n=551)			
	Spouse	Mother	Mother-in-law	Other caregivers	
	(n=170)	(n=142)	(n=96)	(n=143)	
Age	30.02 ± 6.79	43.62 ± 7.51	48.75 ± 7.52	37.90 ± 13.35	
Live in a rural village	110 (64.71)	115 (80.99)	60 (62.5)	95 (66.43)	
Highest level of education completed					
Primary school completed	25 (14.71)	91 (64.08)	61 (63.54)	43 (30.07)	
Less than secondary school	94 (55.29)	33 (23.24)	15 (15.62)	51 (35.66)	
Secondary school completed	29 (17.06)	1 (0.70)	3 (3.12)	12 (8.39)	
Higher than secondary school	18 (10.59)	0 (0)	1 (1.04)	15 (10.49)	
Do not know	4 (2.35)	17 (11.97)	16 (16.67)	22 (15.38)	
Health knowledge index - score out of 15	4.28 ± 0.15	2.92 ± 0.13	3.16 ± 0.20	$\textbf{3.80} \pm \textbf{0.17}$	

Notes: This table presents the descriptive characteristics of the caregivers in the analysis sample. Data are displayed as either mean \pm SD or n(%). We combine primary caregiver relationships that don't include the spouse, mother, and mother-in-law as other caregivers. The health knowledge index is constructed by summing the respondent's score on a 6 knowledge questions relating to COVID-19.

	Core dyads: birthing woman survey (n=408)		Core dyads: caregiver survey (n=408)			
Primary caregiver	Spouse (n=170)	Mother (n=142)	Mother-in-law (n=96)	Spouse (n=170)	Mother (n=142)	Mother-in-law (n=96)
Primary decision-maker for the baby						
Single decision-maker	137 (80.59)	107 (75.35)	72 (75.00)	124 (72.94)	118 (83.09)	77 (80.20)
Birthing woman (self)	38 (27.74)	23 (21.50)	16 (22.22)	37 (29.83)	55 (46.61)	30 (38.96)
Spouse	55 (40.15)	9 (8.41)	7 (9.72)	56 (45.16)	9 (7.62)	5 (6.49)
Mother	17 (12.41)	65 (60.75)	10 (13.89)	15 (12.10)	41 (34.74)	11 (14.28)
Mother-in-law	20 (14.60)	3 (2.80)	33 (45.83)	5 (4.03)	1 (0.84)	24 (31.17)
Other	7 (5.11)	7 (6.54)	6 (8.33)	11 (8.87)	12 (10.16)	7(9.09)
Dyads agreed on identity of single decision-						
maker	44 (28.21)	26 (20.16)	24 (28.57)	-	-	-
Multiple decision-makers	33 (19.41)	35 (24.65)	24 (25.00)	46 (27.06)	24 (16.90)	19 (19.79)
Birthing woman involved	20 (60.61)	25 (71.43)	11 (45.83)	28 (60.87)	19 (79.17)	6 (31.58)
Spouse involved	24 (72.73)	4 (11.43)	12 (50.00)	28 (60.87)	3 (12.50)	7 (36.84)
Mother involved	5 (15.15)	28 (80.00)	9 (37.50)	12 (26.09)	5 (20.83)	7 (36.84)
Mother-in-law involved	9 (27.27)	1 (2.86)	15 (62.50)	5 (10.87)	1 (4.17)	14 (73.68)
Dyads with birthing women as a decision-						
maker	58 (34.12)	38 (33.80)	27 (28.13)	65 (38.24)	74 (52.11)	36 (37.50)
Resolution of disagreements for decisions about the baby						
Single decision-maker	39 (22.94)	60 (42.25)	25 (26.04)	47 (27.64)	53 (37.32)	34 (35.42)
Birthing woman (self)	12 (30.77)	15 (25.00)	3 (12.00)	25 (53.19)	31 (58.49)	21 (61.76)
Spouse	18 (46.15)	4 (6.67)	6 (24.00)	8 (17.02)	4 (7.55)	0 (0.00)
Mother	2 (5.13)	36 (60.00)	0 (0.00)	7 (14.89)	5 (9.43)	1 (2.94)
Mother-in-law	4 (10.26)	1 (1.67)	16 (64.00)	2 (4.25)	0 (0.00)	6 (17.65)
Multiple decision-makers	81 (47.65)	30 (21.13)	38 (39.59)	74 (43.53)	38 (26.76)	34 (35.42)
Birthing woman involved	26 (32.10)	8 (26.67)	18 (47.37)	30 (40.54)	28 (73.68)	19 (55.88)
Spouse involved	65 (80.25)	13 (43.33)	23 (60.53)	60 (81.08)	19 (50.00)	18 (52.94)
Mother involved	1 (1.23)	22 (73.33)	3 (7.89)	9 (12.16)	6 (15.79)	4 (11.76)
Mother-in-law involved	23 (28.40)	4 (13.33)	28 (73.68)	4 (5.41)	1 (2.63)	12 (35.29)

Table 2.3: Dyad decision making: infant care decisions

Notes: This table displays descriptive statistics related to decision-making for infant care. Data are displayed as n(%). The responses from birthing women are organized according to the dyad they identify with, allowing for comparison within dyad type responses. In cases of dyad agreement on a single decision-maker, this table excludes agreements marked as "Other" in the survey. Similarly, for the resolution of disagreements, it does not present data related to the two additional options: 1) asking a community health worker or doctor, and 2) other.
	Core dyads:	birthing won	1an survey (n=408)	Core dyad	s: caregiver s	survey (n=408)
	Spouse	Mother	Mother in Law	Spouse	Mother	Mother in Law
Primary caregiver	(n=170)	(n=142)	(n=96)	(n=170)	(n=142)	(n=96)
Primary accision-maker for the birthing						
woman						
Single decision-maker	138 (81.18)	107 (75.35)	76 (79.17)	133 (78.24)	126 (88.73)	75 (78.13)
Birthing woman (self)	17 (12.32)	32 (29.91)	8 (8.33)	55 (41.35)	81 (64.29)	42 (56.00)
Spouse	110 (79.71)	20 (18.69)	32 (33.33)	60 (45.11)	11 (8.73)	5 (6.66)
Mother	1 (0.72)	46 (42.99)	2 (2.08)	8 (6.02)	24 (19.05)	2 (2.66)
Mother-in-law	6 (4.35)	2 (1.87)	30 (31.25)	4 (3.01)	1 (0.79)	16 (21.33)
Other	4 (2.90)	7 (6.54)	4 (4.17)	6 (4.51)	9 (7.14)	10 (13.33)
Dyads agreed on identity of single decision-						
maker	53 (32.92)	37 (27.41)	15 (17.05)	-	-	-
Multiple decision-makers	32 (18.82)	35 (24.65)	20 (20.83)	37 (21.76)	16 (11.27)	21 (21.87)
Birthing woman involved	13 (40.63)	8 (22.86)	5 (25.00)	28 (75.68)	11 (68.75)	10(47.62)
Spouse involved	22 (68.75)	11 (31.43)	15 (75.00)	25(67.57)	7 (43.75)	13(61.90)
Mother involved	1 (3.13)	29 (82.86)	1 (5.00)	11 (29.73)	4 (25.00)	2 (9.52)
Mother-in-law involved	17 (53.13)	4 (11.43)	17 (85.00)	7(18.92)	2 (12.50)	8(38.10)
Dyads with birthing women as a decision-						
maker	30 (17.65)	40 (28.17)	13 (13.54)	83 (48.82)	92 (64.79)	52 (54.17)
Resolution of disagreements for decisions						
about the birthing woman						
Single decision-maker	55 (32.35)	62 (43.66)	38 (39.58)	55 (32.35)	60 (42.25)	30 (31.25)
Birthing woman (self)	8 (14.55)	19 (30.65)	9 (23.68)	35 (63.64)	40 (66.67)	19 (63.33)
Spouse	43 (78.18)	12 (19.35)	9 (23.68)	11 (20.00)	5 (8.33)	1 (3.33)
Mother	0 (0.00)	29 (46.77)	2 (5.26)	4 (7.27)	2 (3.33)	1 (3.33)
Mother-in-law	3 (5.45)	1 (1.61)	17 (44.74)	2 (3.64)	1 (1.67)	2 (6.67)
Multiple decision-makers	69 (40.59)	29 (20.42)	26 (27.08)	73 (42.94)	31 (21.83)	38 (39.58)
Birthing woman involved	19 (27.54)	6 (20.69)	8 (30.77)	29 (39.73)	18 (58.06)	19 (50.00)
Spouse involved	67 (97.10)	12 (41.38)	20 (76.92)	62 (84.93)	17 (54.84)	18 (47.37)
Mother involved	2 (2.90)	19 (65.52)	1 (3.85)	12 (16.44)	5 (16.13)	5 (13.16)
Mother-in-law involved	17 (24.64)	2 (6.90)	19 (73.08)	6 (8.22)	2 (6.45)	15 (39.47)

Table 2.4: Dyad decision making: maternal care decisions

Notes: This table displays descriptive statistics related to decision-making for maternal care. Data are displayed as n(%). The responses from birthing women are organized according to the dyad they identify with, allowing for comparison within dyad type responses. In cases of dyad agreement on a single decision-maker, this table excludes agreements marked as "Other" in the survey. Similarly, for the resolution of disagreements, it does not present data related to the two additional options: 1) asking a community health worker or doctor, and 2) other.

caregiver
f primary
type of
man by
thing wc
s of bir
outcomes
health
ostpartum
<u>с</u>
ble 2.5
Ĥ

	(1	((2	()			
	Mot	her		Mother	-in-law		Mean of reference group (Spouse)	
	RD	<i>p</i> -value		RD	<i>p</i> -value			z
Mental well-being index	0.120	0.080	*	-0.121	0.091	*	0.000	408
Practicing exclusive breastfeeding	0.078	0.138		0.075	0.155		0.794	408
Practicing skin-to-skin care	-0.143	0.292		-0.145	0.383		0.606	112
Practicing safe cord care	0.084	0.125		0.080	0.164		0.429	408
Practicing unrestricted dietary practics	-0.021	0.697		0.086	0.195		0.194	408
Infant is well post-discharge	-0.037	0.539		0.047	0.387		0.782	408
Birthing woman is well post-discharge	-0.047	0.422		-0.154	0.019	* *	0.775	408
Infant's vaccinations are current	-0.011	0.828		0.011	0.815		0.850	408

women about their anxieties, caregiving load, stress, and available support. The index is cacluated by taking the unweighted sum with higher values indicating poorer mental well-being and standardizing around the mean of the reference group. All other dependent variables presented are indicators that are 0 if the behavior was not practiced, and 1 if the behavior was practiced. The independent variable is 0 if the spouse is the caregiver, 1 if the Notes: Notes: This table presents the results of a logistic regression of the primary outcomes by type of primary caregiver. Each row represents a separate regression. The maternal mental well-being index is a continuous outcome constructed from a series of yes / no statements asking birthing number of previous children, parity, rural residence, below poverty line status, asset score, and health knowledge score. Standard errors (not shown here) are robust, and we include state fixed effects. * denotes statistical significant at 10 pct, ** at 5 pct, and *** at 1 pct level. RD: risk difference. mother is the caregiver, and 2 if the mother-in-law is the caregiver Covariates included in the mode are mother's age, caregiver's age, household size,

CHAPTER 2.

Chapter 3

The role of the mother-in-law and social norms in the demand for maternal health services: Evidence from a field experiment in India

ABSTRACT

This paper investigates the impact of differentiated health messaging and social learning on antenatal care (ANC) visits and Iron and Folic Acid (IFA) tablet consumption for pregnant women or daughters-in-law using a randomized controlled trial in India. Specifically, we examine providing information to pregnant daughters-in-law in private or jointly with their co-residing mothers-in-law in the context of traditional multigenerational households, characterized by low female agency, high conformity to gender norms, and collective health decision-making. In a field experiment conducted in the Indian state of Madhya Pradesh, we cross-randomized health information delivery on the importance of ANC visits and IFA along two social dimensions.

First, we varied at the individual level, randomizing each pregnant women to receive information either jointly with her mother-in-law or without her mother-in-law. We further varied delivery at the village-level, with information delivered either privately within the household or else jointly along with others in the village, to distinguish the effect of private information from social messaging. We hypothesize that the effects on our outcomes are larger at the individual level with the mother-in-law present since they control decision-making in the household and potentially smaller effects in group settings because of deep-seated traditional norms.

We document three key findings: 1) information delivery increased knowledge of antenatal care and IFA consumption across all treatments immediately after the intervention,

CHAPTER 3.

2) private information to the pregnant daughter-in-law alone or with their mother-in-law results in an increase in ANC visits in the short-term whereas we find no effects of the group information treatment in the short-term, and 3) information interventions improved post-delivery maternal and infant health outcomes subsequently.¹

¹(Chawla (2023)). This chapter includes results from the complete sample, Phase 5 for the midline and Phases 3-5 for the endline, thus substantially updating the previous version of this work in (Chawla (2023)). Additionally, it incorporates control group villages that were excluded from previous analyses. I present several models for the results, including one featuring lasso-selected controls. Furthermore, this version constructs the knowledge index using Anderson (2003) and provides midline and endline results for all outcomes where data was collected.

3.1 Introduction

Maternal mortality is the leading cause of daily deaths of almost 810 otherwise healthy women of childbearing age worldwide (WHO (2024)). India is one of 10 countries that account for 60 percent of global maternal deaths, stillbirths, and newborn deaths (UNICEF (2023)). In recent years, India has made considerable progress in improving its maternal mortality rate (MMR) NFHS (2016a)). However, the MMR still remains high at 113 per 100,000 live births in 2016-2018 and is a significant policy priority. Significant disparities in deaths persist across the country, with a large proportion of deaths concentrated in the rural regions of poorer states (NFHS (2016a)). Globally and in India, the three leading causes of maternal mortality are postpartum hemorrhage, sepsis, and hypertensive disorders such as preeclampsia and eclampsia. Several studies have demonstrated that adequate antenatal care (ANC) can easily prevent these conditions (Gupta et al. (2010); Kassebaum et al. (2016); Meh et al. (2022); Montgomery et al. (2014); Peña-Rosas et al. (2015)). Despite the Indian government's provision of free and accessible antenatal care, the number of antenatal visits remains extremely low.

In this paper, we study two questions: Is it possible to increase perinatal health behaviors, in particular the number of ANC visits and the consumption of iron and folic acid (IFA) tablets, by providing health information to either the daughter-in-law or mother-in-law in the household? In India, where social norms play a significant role, does take-up of health behaviors differ when information is provided individually (in private) or in groups (in public)?

We investigate the role of the mother-in-law and social norms together for three distinct reasons. First, sample survey data from India shows that women who are not as involved in household decision-making, travel unaccompanied to healthcare facilities, and whose families are unlikely to think ANC visits are important are less likely to make these visits (Ogbo et al. (2019)). Second, India's patrilocal society provides a unique opportunity to study how other household members, particularly the mother-in-law, influence health, mobility, and resource decisions for young women (Allendorf (2017); Anukriti et al. (2019, 2022); Banerji et al. (2023); Ghosh and Thornton (2024); Khanna and Pandey (2020); Varghese and Roy (2019)). Finally, social learning or learning from peers is especially important in low and middle-income countries (LMICs), where limited access to health information leads individuals to rely heavily on learning from others for decision-making (Bursztyn et al. (2018); Bursztyn and Jensen (2017); Chandrasekhar et al. (2018); Karing (2019)). These networks play a crucial role in maintaining social norms or promoting behavior change.

To investigate whether we can increase ANC visits through information, we conduct a randomized controlled trial in 249 villages across three districts in the central Indian state of Madhya Pradesh between 2022 and 2023. Madhya Pradesh has one of the highest MMRs of states in India, 173 deaths per 100,000 making this a context where marginal improve-

ments in ANC visits, could improve health outcomes. In our experimental design, we vary whether health information on the importance of completing ANC visits is provided to only the daughter-in-law (only DIL treatment) or to both the daughter-in-law, and the motherin-law (DIL+MIL treatment). We also vary whether the information is provided in private (Individual treatment) or in public setting (Group treatment). The study involves 2409 households across three districts. Our treatment provides health information on regularly going for ANC visits, and consuming IFA tablets to reduce the risk of anemia and birth defects. Previous pilot work as well as the baseline survey show that women either underestimate or have incorrect prior beliefs about the benefits of ANC, and the consumption of IFA tablets is associated with strong beliefs that they cause harm to the mother and baby due to their side effects. As a result, our treatment uses a counseling style script and our trainers spent time encouraging conversation and a discussion around priors about these behaviors. Our study also has a few other aspects: 1) to prevent mothers-in-law intervening during the 'Only DIL' treatments, we provided them placebo health information on COVID-19 to keep them engaged during the same time, 2) we offered all participants a flyer to sign to commit to attending an ANC and health information visit at the hospital immediately after the intervention; 3) Information effects tend to taper over time so we play an engaging recorded message to the participants during the midline as a reminder. Finally, we collect outcomes at two points in time: a midline survey approximately a month and a half after the initial intervention to measure short-term effects, and an endline survey after the participants have given birth to measure longer-term outcomes.

We measure three primary outcomes: ANC and IFA knowledge, and self-reported number of ANC visits completed, and IFA tablet consumption. We also consider the following secondary outcomes: post-intervention flyer signed, self-reported visit to the district hospital, pregnancy, birth and perinatal maternal and infant complications. From a policy perspective, we are interested in understanding whether involving the MIL improves ANC visits and IFA, and whether group or public settings are the best to disseminate health information, which is often the case in India.

We find immediate significant improvements at midline in ANC and IFA knowledge, measured by a standardized index, for both DILs and MILs in both Individual and Group treatments. The effects were higher in magnitude for DILs in the Group treatment compared to Individual, although this difference is not significant. We see a 0.28 standard deviation (sd) increase in knowledge, closely followed by the MIL. However, at endline, the individual treatment effects strengthened, whereas the group treatment effects decreased for DILs but remained stable for MILs. Cross-randomized treatment arms showed similar trends, with DILs in the individual treatment arms displaying even stronger knowledge gains at endline. Interestingly, MILs exhibited knowledge increases even in treatment arms where they were not directly treated, suggesting knowledge transfer from DILs. Overall, DILs learned more when grouped with other DILs, while MILs showed significant knowledge gains even when not included in the treatment, providing evidence of intergenerational bargaining in

the household.

For ANC visits and IFA tablet consumption, the Individual treatment led to a quick increase in ANC visits at midline, significantly outperforming the Group treatment. However, by endline, the Group treatment caught up, suggesting that Individual treatment boosts short-term gains while Group can take time to effect changes. For IFA tablet consumption, the Group treatment showed significant gains at both midline and endline, indicating that peer effects play a crucial role in overcoming initial resistance to IFA consumption. The Individual treatment, however, did not produce significant changes in IFA consumption, reinforcing the importance of peers in health behavior change. Overall, we see more improvements in behavior when the MIL is involved in addition to the DIL and the least when DILs are treated on their own suggesting the decision-making power of the MIL in the household and the lack of agency of the DIL.

Involving MILs in the intervention significantly increases health-seeking behaviors. While there were no significant differences between the Group and Individual treatments in signing the flyer, the Group treatment showed a tendency for fewer flyers signed but more hospital visits. When further breaking down the results, daughters-in-law in both the Group and Individual treatments with their mothers-in-law were significantly more likely to visit the district hospital for additional training than daughters-in-law given information in the absence of mothers-in-law or peers. Notably, the Group treatment with both daughters-in-law and mothers-in-law resulted in the highest likelihood of hospital visits, despite being the least likely to sign the flyer immediately after the training, when compared to daughters-in-law given information alone, in the absence of the mother-in-law or peers. These findings highlight the positive impact of involving mothers-in-law in promoting health-seeking behaviors, and are also suggestive of a social norm dynamic.

Finally, we observe significant differences in perinatal complications at endline. DILs in the Individual treatment, both with and without the MIL, experienced significantly fewer complications after delivery and with the infant. Conversely, the Group treatment involving both the DIL and the MIL saw more complications during pregnancy. This group also had the fewest ANC visits at midline, suggesting a relationship between seeking ANC earlier in pregnancy and better health outcomes. This study makes four significant contributions. First, to our knowledge, it constitutes the first field experiment designed to test the impact of the relationship between the daughter-in-law and mother-in-law on women's health decisions. Existing studies have shown that this intergenerational dynamic can play out in two ways: co-residence with the mother-in-law can positively affect better sharing of household work (Khanna and Pandey (2020)), improved iron supplementation during pregnancy (Varghese and Roy (2019)), enhanced mental health during the postpartum period with a better relationship (Chandran et al. (2002); Gausia et al. (2009)), and increased likelihood of using antenatal care (Allendorf (2010)). Conversely, the mother-in-law could limit young women's mobility and access to peer networks, impact their reproductive health-seeking be-

CHAPTER 3.

havior (Anukriti et al. (2019, 2022)), or lead to power struggles over finances (Gram et al. (2018)). These studies are based on correlations or quasi-experimental analyses (Anukriti et al. (2019); Banerji et al. (2023); Ghosh and Thornton (2024); Khanna and Pandey (2020)), with no consensus on the direction and impact of the relationship on decision-making. Our findings provide new evidence on this relationship: DILs tend to take-up better health-seeking behaviors when their MILs are involved. This effect is more salient at the Individual treatment level. Second, this study contributes to the extensive literature on intrahousehold decision-making, which has largely focused on spousal bargaining within a nuclear family structure. Even within studies on spousal bargaining, limited attention has been given to understanding health decision-making, with the exception of fertility decisions (Ashraf et al. (2017, 2020)) and contraception adoption (Ashraf et al. (2014)). Intrahousehold decision making across generations holds particular importance in LMICs where multiple generations reside in the same household. This study significantly extends the existing empirical evidence on household decision-making to include intergenerational decision-making, especially regarding health decisions.

Third, we contribute to the growing literature on social norms, signaling, and peer effects in economics. Previous literature has documented the effect of social norms in educational settings (Bursztyn et al. (2019, 2018); Bursztyn and Jensen (2015, 2017)), as well as the rigidity of traditional social norms due to social image concerns (Haenni and Lichand (2021)). Building on the seminal social signaling models by (Benabou and Tirole (2011); Bénabou and Tirole (2006)), recent empirical literature has shown that individuals in limited information settings are concerned with signaling, and their utility often depends on the expectations that others form about their type based on actions they or members of their network take (Bursztyn et al. (2018); Karing (2019)). Chandrasekhar et al. (2018) and Banerjee et al. (2019) also provide evidence on how the social stigma of seeking information can inhibit social learning. We contribute to this literature by experimentally varying whether the knowledge of information delivery is public or private. In line with the literature, we find evidence consistent with the hypothesis that social image concerns inhibit the take-up of ANC visits, and consumption of IFA tablets in the short-run when information provision occurs in a group or public setting.

Lastly, we contribute to the literature on health information campaigns. A lack of information on health risks and benefits is a critical factor behind the underinvestment in preventative healthcare. Few studies have shown the causal link between simple information, reducing risky health behaviors, and remedial health-seeking (Dupas (2011); Jalan and Somanathan (2008); Madajewicz et al. (2007)). However, information impacts different individuals in different ways. Information has the desired impact when targeted to the right person Kremer and Miguel (2007)) or when differences in incentives within the household or levels of decision-making authority are considered (Ashraf et al. (2017); Björkman-Nyqvist et al. (2023); Nyqvist and Jayachandran (2017)). Additionally, the effectiveness of information can vary drastically depending on whether learning from others is possible (Kremer and Miguel (2007); Leonard et al. (2009)). We contribute to this literature by: (1) providing information about a preventative health behavior like antenatal visits, which can have highstakes negative consequences; (2) targeting the information to specific household members to understand the impact of the recipient on health behaviors; and (3) providing information in the presence of peers, thereby studying the effect of social learning and norms on health-seeking behavior.

3.2 Context and Setting

3.2.1 Antenatal care in India

ANC is defined as care provided by a skilled health professional focused on the mother and the baby throughout pregnancy. The typical components of antenatal care in India include identifying risk factors, management of pregnancy-related health conditions and health education. The government of India defines complete antenatal care as at least 4 antenatal visits with the first visit being in the first trimester, three tetanus typhoid injections, and a minimum of 100 iron folic acid tablets taken throughout the pregnancy. All antenatal visits in India are provided free of cost. In addition, Village Health and Nutrition Day is organized once every month in every village to provide maternal and child healthcare services within the village.

Obstetric hemorrhage, pregnancy-related infection, and improper monitoring and underestimating the importance of warning signs hypertensive disorders are the main drivers of maternal deaths in India (Gupta et al. (2010); Kassebaum et al. (2016); Meh et al. (2022); Montgomery et al. (2014)). Regular antenatal check-ups allow for the opportunity to diagnose these disorders and provide treatment promptly. In addition, pre-existing conditions like anemia which worsen during pregnancy and exacerbate postpartum bleeding increase the proportion of hemorrhage-related deaths in poorer states and rural areas. The prevalence of iron deficiency anemia in pregnant Indian women is among the highest in the world and untreated anemia can have significantly adverse birth outcomes for mothers and newborns (Tandon et al. (2018)). Indian women, particularly in rural areas, are unable to meet the iron demands of pregnancy through diet alone. As a result, along with communication of nutritional requirements, the World Health Organization (WHO) recommends all pregnant women be given 30-60 mg of elemental iron per day along with 2.8 mg of folic acid. Thus, an important component of antenatal care visits in India is the provision of iron folic acid (IFA) supplements free of cost to all pregnant women.

3.2.2 Setting

In this study, we focus on the central state of Madhya Pradesh which is a large state in central India with approximately 40 percent of its population living in poverty. The state is administratively divided into 52 districts with 51,527 villages. We chose to conduct the study in three districts in the state: Sagar, Panna, and Chhattarpur. We selected these districts as they have a higher burden of adverse maternal health outcomes, are a priority for our implementing partner, and state government. Table 3.1 shows health indicators for Madhya Pradesh, and the sample districts. A little more than half of the state's pregnant women reported going for four ANC visits with lower proportions for the districts (35.9, 36.9, and 30.9 respectively) in the study sample. We also see that close to a majority of the sample is anemic but consumption of IFA tablets remains low.

3.3 Conceptual Framework

This paper aims to (1) understand how providing counseling-style health information on prenatal best practices to DILs and their MILs can improve health outcomes for mothers and infants and (2) examine how participation in social learning through groups affects the adoption of health behaviors by DILs and MILs. Additionally, we seek to unpack the intergenerational decision-making dynamic between the DILs and the MILs in a setting where the relationship can be restrictive and adherence to norms is high.

The intervention delivers information on two important maternal health practices: the benefits of regular antenatal check-ups, and taking iron folic acid supplements to reduce the risk of anemia during pregnancy. We deliver this information in a counseling-style (see Appendix A1) to encourage conversation and cooperation between the DIL and MIL. Our motivating hypothesis is that DILs and MILs lack information about the benefits of ANC and IFA consumption, and that prior beliefs and norms may limit improvements in these outcomes. Previous pilot work has shown that women are either unaware or underestimate both the benefits of ANC and the risks involved in not receiving appropriate care during pregnancy.

By providing information to individuals alone versus in groups, we aim to understand better how the joint provision of information to informal networks outside the household can influence the DIL's agency and health-seeking behavior. If the MIL has no prior beliefs, we expect to see a strong effect of the group treatment on the take-up of ANC visits by the MIL. Given the DIL's limited access to a social network in the village (Anukriti et al. (2019)), we expect the effect on the DIL to be positive but similar to the effect when only the DIL is informed individually. When the MIL holds strong prior beliefs and receives information (e.g., IFA-related information), we expect one of two outcomes: either a change in norms through social learning or a stronger adherence to norms due to social pressure to maintain the status quo.

Based on this, we have the following independent hypotheses:

- We anticipate a greater treatment effect when the MIL is treated along with the DIL as the literature suggests that the MIL exerts more influence in household decision-making (Only DIL < DIL and MIL)
- If neither the DIL nor the MIL have strong priors, we predict they will update their beliefs, resulting in a treatment effect. Otherwise, no effect is expected.
- If the MIL has no strong priors, we expect to see a higher effect of the group (public information) (Group > Individual; DIL and MIL > Only DIL)
- If the DIL has no strong priors, we expect group (public information) to have a higher effect (Group + Only DIL > Individual + Only DIL)
- If the MIL has strong priors, we expect the DIL to align with the MIL's decision, but we cannot predict ex-ante which way the effect would go (Only DIL < DIL and MIL; Group >, < or = Individual).

3.4 Experiment: Design and Implementation

We designed our experiment to explore the most effective way to convey health information to pregnant women in environments with particularly low agency. Central to the design is the observation that providing information to daughters-in-law (DILs) alone might not achieve the desired effect of increasing preventative care during pregnancy if social norms and mothers-in-law (MILs) play a dominant role in household decision-making. Our ultimate goal was to determine the most influential recipient of the information and the optimal mode of delivery.

3.4.1 Treatments

All of our experimental treatment arms involved delivering important health information on the importance of ANC, and leveraging support from household members, particularly the MIL. Specifically, our intervention focused on the following: 1) benefits of ANC and the minimum number of visits recommended; 2) availability of free care and place to find care; 3) the risk of anemia during pregnancy; and 4) common misconceptions about iron tablets. In all treatment arms, DILs were also encouraged to talk to their mothers-in-law about this information and ask her for support during the pregnancy. The treatment arm involving DILs and MILs together encouraged asking questions and discussion between the DIL and her MIL (B.2). Finally, participants in each treatment group were provided a flyer to sign at the end of the intervention, committing to attending an in-hospital training.

The treatments are as follows:

1. Control group: The control group was a pure control group; they did not receive any intervention.

- 2. Individual + Only DIL $(T_{I:DIL})$: only the DIL received the health information, which was provided at her home. To maintain the privacy of the information delivery from the MIL, the MIL received a placebo training on COVID-19-related safety.
- 3. Individual + DIL and MIL $(T_{I:DIL+MIL})$: The DIL and MIL received the health information at their home. The information was given to them together, at the same time, and the script encouraged conversation and questions.
- 4. Group + Only DIL $(T_{G:DIL})$: The DIL was invited to a village group meeting, and received the health information there, in the presence of other DILs from the village. To ensure participation, the MILs were also invited but received the place COVID-19 related training in the presence of other MILs. All group meetings encouraged conversation and questions.
- 5. Group + DIL and MIL ($T_{G:DIL+MIL}$): The DILs and MILs were invited to a village group meeting, and received the health information there, in the presence of other DILs and MILs from the village. All group meetings encouraged conversation and questions.

3.4.2 Power calculations

We computed the sample size for the impact of the treatment on the number of ANC visits using the NFHS 2015-16 data. We calculated the mean (2.31 visits), standard deviation (3.1), and intraclass correlation coefficient (0.285) for ANC visits using data from our three sample districts. We also assumed a cluster size of 10 pregnant women per village. Exante, our budget allowed us to work in a maximum of 400 villages, so we calculated power based on those estimates. We divided these equally across the pooled and cross-randomized treatment arms. This allocation gave us a maximum of 1000 DILs and 1000 MILs per pooled treatment, resulting in a maximum total sample size of 4000 DILs and 4000 MILs. With this design, we achieved a power of 0.8 to detect a minimum detectable effect (MDE) of 0.73 visits (cluster size 10) or 0.80 visits (cluster size 5) in the pooled treatment groups versus the control group and an MDE of 0.9 visits (cluster size 10) or 0.98 visits (cluster size 5) in the pooled treatment groups versus the control group.

3.4.3 Sample size and randomization

We selected 618 initial villages in our sample districts from the 2011 district-wise census. We chose villages based on the following criteria: 1) 300-700 households per village; 2) a maximum distance of 10 kilometers from a health facility; and 3) the presence of public transport in the village. We conducted an initial scouting survey in these 618 villages to collect a roster of pregnant women from the community health workers and gather village-level characteristics. Our inclusion criteria for the baseline survey required villages to have more than five pregnant women, resulting in a final list of 426 villages. For ease of implementation, we conducted the study in five phases. We randomized the 426 villages into these five phases.

In each phase, we implemented a baseline survey, the intervention, a midline survey, and an endline survey (see 3.1 for details).

We collected baseline survey data from all consenting daughters-in-law and mothers-inlaw after applying the study's inclusion criteria: 1) DILs had to be less than seven months pregnant at the time of the survey; and 2) DILs had to reside with their MILs on a permanent basis. We conducted the baseline survey in person, simultaneously surveying both the DIL and MIL. The survey collected data on demographics, pregnancy and fertility history, knowledge of preventative care during pregnancy, and beliefs in social norms. Additionally, the survey included questions to elicit the relationship between the DIL and the MIL.

We randomized the participants into treatments after the baseline survey. Table B.1 shows the phase-wise villages selected for randomization after applying all inclusion criteria. The total sample randomized at baseline consists of 281 villages and 2409 households. We stratified our sample by district, sub-district, number of pregnant women at baseline, total number of households, and distance to the nearest health center. The randomization was conducted in Stata 16, using the *randtreat* command. We randomized at the village level and then at the household level. First, villages were randomized into a control arm, a group treatment, and an individual treatment. We assumed an unequal cluster size, ranging between 6 and 26 households in a village. We also assigned unequal treatment fractions, with the control group having less villages than the Group and Individual treatment. Next, we randomized households within each treatment village into the Only DIL and the DIL and MIL treatments. This randomization assumed equal treatment fractions. Table B.3 tests baseline covariates between the control group and the treatment arms, and then across the treatment arms. Columns 1-10 present the mean and standard deviation by covariate in the control and each treatment, while columns 11-18 present p-values of pairwise comparisons of differences in means. Of the 656 comparisons, 5.64 percent have a p-value below 0.1 and 8.84 percent have a *p*-value below 0.05.

We delivered the intervention described in the previous section within three weeks after the baseline in all treatment groups. One and a half months after the intervention, we conducted an in-person midline survey for the entire sample. The midline survey was brief and collected only primary outcomes. At the end of the midline survey, all treated participants received a 'reminder' message, which included listening to a short audio clip of a conversation between a community health worker and a doctor about the importance of ANC, warning signs during pregnancy, and institutional birth.

We conducted endline surveys within a month after delivery. Given the range of gestational ages (2 to 6 months), the endline survey followed the timing of births rather than the phases. Since delivery dates varied among households in a village, we implemented the endline survey over the phone. The endline survey collected the same data as the baseline survey and included post-delivery outcomes, volume of conversations, and feedback on the

CHAPTER 3.

health information intervention.

3.4.4 Outcomes

We consider three main outcomes of interest at two points in time, the midline and the endline: 1) knowledge of ANC and IFA; 2) number of ANC visits completed; and 3) number of IFA tablets consumed. Additionally, we examine secondary outcomes measured once during the study period: 1) flyer signed after the intervention (measured at the time of intervention); 2) district hospital visits for additional pregnancy-related sessions; and 3) pregnancy, birth, and infant complications (measured at endline).

We construct a standardized weighted ANC and IFA knowledge index following Anderson (2008)). The index components include indicators for correctly identifying 1) the importance of ANC for detecting maternal health complications, 2) the importance of ANC for detecting fetal complications, 3) the importance of ANC for early intervention, 4) the importance of iron in preventing anemia; and 5) that beliefs about IFA side-effects are incorrect.

We then consider the number of ANC visits completed and the number of IFA tablets consumed as self-reported continuous outcomes, winsorized at the 95th percentile to control for outliers. These outcomes enable us to measure actual changes in preventative health behaviors.

By offering participants the option to sign a flyer, we provide them with a choice to commit to health-seeking, thus allowing us to measure their immediate response to the intervention. Similarly, self-reported visits to the district hospital help us measure further healthseeking behavior. Finally, we use self-reported pregnancy complications (pre-eclampsia, anemia, gestational diabetes, placenta previa, bleeding, thyroid-related disease, and infection), birth complications (pre-eclampsia, eclampsia, bleeding, infection, fetal distress, meconium aspiration, stillbirth, and preterm labor), post-delivery complications (unable to breastfeed, excessive bleeding, and infections), and an indicator if the infant was sick after delivery. These allow us to measure the impact on health in the perinatal period.

3.5 Estimation strategy

We begin by examining which delivery mechanism (group vs. individual) led to changes in our primary outcomes. To estimate this effect, we present intent-to-treat (ITT) estimates, and our main estimation equation for the pooled treatment is:

$$Y_{iv} = \alpha + \beta_1 T_{G_{iv}} + \beta_2 T_{I_{iv}} + \gamma X_v + \lambda X_i + \theta_s + \epsilon_{iv}$$

where Y_{iv} represents the ANC and IFA knowledge index, number of ANC visits, or number of IFA tablets consumed for respondent *i* in village *v*. $T_{G_{iv}}$ and $T_{I_{iv}}$ are treatment indicators for Group and Individual treatments, with the control group as the reference group.

Similarly, we consider which information recipient (only DIL vs. DIL and MIL) matters more for our outcomes. We present a similar equation to 3.5:

$$Y_{iv} = \alpha + \beta_1 T_{I:DIL_{iv}} + \beta_2 T_{I:DIL+MIL_{iv}} + \beta_3 T_{G:DIL_{iv}} + \beta_4 T_{G:DIL+MIL_{iv}} + \gamma X_v + \lambda X_i + \theta_s + \epsilon_{iv}$$

where $T_{I:DIL_{iv}}$ is a treatment indicator for belonging to the cross-randomized arm T1: Individual + Only DIL, $T_{I:DIL+MIL_{iv}}$ is an indicator for T2: Individual + DIL and MIL, $T_{G:DIL_{iv}}$ is an indicator for T3: Group + Only DIL, and $T_{G:DIL+MIL_{iv}}$ is an indicator for T4: Group + DIL and MIL.

To increase the precision of our estimates, we control for village-level covariates (X_v) and individual-level covariates (X_i) selected using post-double selection LASSO (see Chernozhukov et al. (2018)). θ_s denotes the strata fixed effects.

For all specifications, we estimate models using ordinary least squares (OLS), and standard errors are clustered at the village level. We also report p-values of F-tests to check if the coefficients in both 3.5 and 3.5 are different for our comparisons of interest. We correct for multiple hypothesis testing and present sharpened False Discovery Rate (FDR) adjusted q-values (Anderson (2008)).

3.6 Ethics review

This study received approval from the ACE Ethics Committee

(DCGI Reg. No. ECR/141/Indt/KA/2013/RR-19) based in Bangalore, India, and the Institutional Review Board (IRBs) at the University of California, Berkeley (2020-03-13149). All participants consented in their local language. The trial is registered on the AEA RCT Registry. There were no significant changes between the pre-analysis plan and the results presented here, except the inclusion of the following secondary outcomes: 1) flyer signed, and 2) district hospital visited.

3.7 Results

3.7.1 Sample description, balance, and attrition

Table B.4 and B.6 present differences in baseline characteristics of the midline and endline samples for the DIL. On average, DILs in both samples are approximately 23 years old, have slightly over 8 years of schooling, belong to non-general social categories, and less than 20

percent work outside the home. Nearly half of the DILs have been pregnant, and approximately 40 percent have had a previous live birth. At baseline, DILs are between 4 and 5 months pregnant and have completed around one ANC visit before any intervention. ANC and IFA knowledge are high, with approximately 70 percent answering knowledge questions correctly. DILs in our sample live in a very norm-based environment characterized by a restrictive relationship with their MILs. Over 80 percent of DILs need permission from their MILs to visit their maternal home, make purchases, visit friends, or meet with the community health worker. About half the DILs report their MILs limit contact with female friends, get upset with disagreements, and do not like discussing issues related to the DIL's health. Around 90 percent of DILs agree that adherence to norms is important, and only 10 percent believe women should be able to travel independently to health centers.

In addition to descriptive data, Tables B.5 and B.7 also present tests for baseline covariates for the midline (endline) samples. Similar to Table 2a, of 656 pairwise comparisons, 5.64 (41.11) percent have a *p*-value below 0.1, and 7.77(5.64) percent have a *p*-value below 0.05.

The overall attrition rate for DILs between baseline and midline was 17.4 percent and the attrition rate between baseline and endline was 23.5 percent. We expected a higher attrition at endline ex-ante as it is harder to track DILs and MILs over the phone, compared to the midline conducted in person. Table B.8 shows the differential attrition for DILs and MILs at midline. The attrition rate was significantly lower for DILs in all treatments, except for TI:DIL+MIL. The attrition rate for MILs was only lower in $T_{I:DIL}$, and $T_{G:DIL+MIL}$. DILs whose household heads were either their MIL or father-in-law, were Hindu or had an older husband were more likely to attrit at midline. Upper caste category and correct knowledge of ANC visits were less likely to attrit. All other covariates do not appear to explain attrition across treatments. Table B.9 shows the attrition rates at endline, where we did not observe significant differential attrition. To account for differential attrition, we include a set of results with inverse probability weights (IPW) for robustness. However, we report results only from model (2), which includes strata fixed effects and lasso-selected controls. For the main results, we excluded 7 villages from the midline and endline samples as they did not receive any treatment due to implementation issues. We also excluded 14 control villages from the endline data that accidentally received the reminder message at midline due to surveyor oversight. Tables B.5 and B.7 present samples that account for these changes. We now report the main empirical results of our specifications. In the following section, we describe the results from the model (2) of the tables, which includes fixed effects and baseline covariates. The results are divided into three categories: 1) knowledge of ANC and IFA, 2) number of ANC visits and IFA tablet consumption, and 3) perinatal health outcomes.

3.7.2 ANC and IFA knowledge at midline and endline

Table 3.2 presents the results on knowledge as measured by the ANC & IFA knowledge index described in section 3.4.4. We show knowledge changes for both the DIL and the MIL at midline and then at endline.

Panel A shows the estimates for specification 3.5, the pooled treatment arms. We see the health information intervention is immediately effective for the DILs and the MILs at midline, with gains in the ANC & IFA knowledge index of 0.28 sd (p = 0.001) for DILs and 0.23 sd (p = 0.037) for MILs in the Group treatment when compared to control. The individual treatment shows similar effects, with an increase of 0.20 sd (p = 0.014) for DILs and 0.21 sd (p = 0.052) for MILs when compared to control. These effects remain significant for DILs accounting for the false discovery rate (FDR). Improvements are fairly similar between the two treatments and we do not observe significant differences between them (p =0.157). Looking at the same specification,when comparing point estimates between midline and endline, we see that the effects get stronger compared to control for DILs and MILs in the Individual treatment. However, in the Group treatment, the effect remains unchanged for MILs, and decreases compared to control for DILs, suggesting some frictions in aggregation of knowledge after the intervention and reminder.

Panel B presents the estimates for specification 3.5, the cross-randomized treatment arms compared to the control group. We observe similar significant effect sizes as the pooled arms for each of the treatments, with the exception of the MILs knowledge in $T_{I:DIL+MIL}$ arm. At endline, the effects are stronger for DILs in $T_{I:DIL}$ and $T_{I:DIL+MIL}$ (0.38 sd (p = 0.000) and 0.31 sd (p = 0.005) respectively) compared to control. However, at endline we see a reduction in effects compared to control for DILs in $T_{G:DIL}$, and $T_{G:DIL+MIL}$. MILs in $T_{I:DIL+MIL}$ catch up at endline compared to control (0.35 sd (p = 0.001)). These effects remain significant for DILs accounting for the FDR. It is worth noting, the effect of $T_{G:DIL+MIL}$ is significant (compared to control) with the inclusion of inverse probability weighting. An interesting finding of these results is that we see increases in knowledge for MILs even in treatment arms where they were not treated.

When comparing treatment arms, we find that DILs learn more when grouped with other DILs than on their own ($T_{G:DIL} > T_{I:DIL}$; p=0.085), at midline and endline, an effect that remains significant account for the FDR. MILs at endline, show an increase in knowledge even when not included in treatment, indicating a transfer in knowledge from DILs ($T_{G:DIL} < T_{I:DIL}$; p=0.045). Finally, DILs treated with their MILs have significantly more knowledge when treated individually compared to groups ($T_{G:DIL+MIL} < T_{I:DIL+MIL}$).

3.7.3 Number of ANC visits and IFA tablet consumption

Table 3.3 presents the results for ANC visits and IFA tablets consumption at midline and endline, as reported by DILs.

Panel A displays the pooled results. At midline, DILs in the Individual treatment have 0.22 more ANC visits compared to control (p=0.007), indicating quick take-up. In contrast, Group treatment DILs show no significant gains. Notably, Individual treatment DILs have significantly more than Group treatment DILs (p=0.027). These effects remain significant accounting for the FDR. However, at endline, Individual treatments DILs no longer have significant gains, whereas Group treatment DILs catch up, with 0.18 more visits (p=0.079). This suggests that Individual treatment improved short-term gains, which Group treatment improved long-term gains. However, this effect is not significant at traditional levels of significance for the FDR.

Panel A also presents the pooled results for IFA tablet consumption. Despite a smaller midline sample size due to surveyor error, we observe significant results. Individual treatment DILs show no effects on IFA consumption, whereas Group treatment DILs exhibit modest but significant gains (11.38 more tablets, p=0.064). This aligns with our hypothesis that IFA consumption is associated with strong priors, and peer effects drive the differences between treatment arms (p=0.027). These effects remain significant accounting for the FDR. At end-line, Individual treatment DILs remain unchanged, while Group treatment DILs maintain their gains (9.21 more tablets, p=0.048). However, this effect is not significant at traditional levels of significance for the FDR.

Panel B presents the estimates for 3.5, comparing the cross-randomized treatment arms to the control group. We observe significant effects for $T_{I:DIL}$ and $T_{I:DIL+MIL}$ at midline, with $T_{I:DIL+MIL}$ having significantly more visits than TI:DIL (p = 0.003). These effects remain significant accounting for the FDR. However, at endline $T_{I:DIL}$ and $T_{I:DIL+MIL}$ no longer show significant gains. Interestingly, $T_{G:DIL+MIL}$ now has 0.21 more visits than control, and is significant, suggesting information seeking and aggregation over time. For IFA consumption, we observe increases of 10-11.5 tablets for $T_{G:DIL}$ and $T_{G:DIL+MIL}$, although only $T_{G:DIL}$ is significant. Finally, at endline we see significant gains for both $T_{G:DIL}$ and $T_{G:DIL+MIL}$ with effect sizes ranging from 8.4-9.9 more tablets, and $T_{G:DIL+MIL} > T_{G:DIL}$ (p = 0.068). However, this effect is not significant at traditional levels of significance for the FDR.

3.7.4 Flyer signed and district hospital visited

Table 3.4 presents results for two health-seeking outcomes: 1) flyer signed (measured at midline) and 2) district hospital visit (measured at endline). Panel A shows the results for the pooled treatment arms, with the Individual treatment as the reference group, as the Control arm was not offered the flyer or the district hospital training. We see no significant effects between the two groups, but note that the signs are opposite. The Group treatment

is less likely to sign the flyer compared to the Individual treatment but more likely to visit the district hospital, though these differences are not significant.

In Panel B, DILs in $T_{G:DIL+MIL}$ and $T_{I:DIL+MIL}$ are significantly more likely to visit the district hospital for additional training compared to DILs in $T_{I:DIL}$ (p=-0.030 and 0.049). However, DILs in $T_{G:DIL+MIL}$ s are significantly more likely to visit the hospital compared DILs in $T_{I:DIL+MIL}$. Interestingly, $T_{G:DIL+MIL}$ is the only treatment less likely to sign the flyer right after the training. One clear takeaway from these results is that involving the MIL in the intervention leads to an increase in health-seeking behaviors, such as actual visits to the hospital.

3.7.5 Maternal and infant complications

Table 3.5 displays the results for perinatal complications at endline, reported by the DIL. In Panel A, we see that Individual DILs experiences significantly lesser post-delivery and infantrelated complications than the control (p=0.029 and 0.024) and Group DILs (p=0.000). We also see that Group DILs experienced a higher proportion of pregnancy-related complications compared to control (p=0.061) and the Individual DILs (p=0.011).

In Panel B, we see that post-delivery and infant-related complications are significantly lower for $T_{I:DIL}$ and $T_{I:DIL+MIL}$ and $T_{I:DIL} < T_{I:DIL+MIL}$. We also observe that DILs in TG:DIL+MIL experienced more pregnancy complications compared to control. These results closely follow the patterns of the result for ANC visits, and are indicative of a positive relationship between preventative pregnancy care and postnatal complications for mothers and infants.

3.8 Discussion

In this paper, we analyze the effect of providing important maternal health information to DILs and MILs in a public or private setting on preventative health seeking behavior, in particular on the number of antenatal care visits, and consumption of IFA tablets. In contrast to previous literature on the effect of information on health-seeking behavior, our study sheds light on a novel dynamic within the household, the role of inter-generational decision-making on maternal health decisions. Our results show a large increase in ANC and IFA tablets consumed, in the short and long run. We also see a positive effect on perinatal health outcomes like post-delivery complications and infant health. The results are consistent with the hypotheses that: 1) mothers-in-law have considerable say in the health decisions of young married women in India; 2) norms and concerns about social image prevent mothers-in-law from allowing their daughters-in-law to seek more care during pregnancy, at least in the short run. The study provides strong motivation to further explore the role of the mother-in-law

in health decision-making. It opens up avenues for future research to understand how adherence to norms can be reversed to improve health outcomes (as well as possible spillovers).

The main contribution of our study is to shed light on a critical inter-generational dynamic across rural India when young married women co-reside with their mothers-in-law. Many health information campaigns focus on providing information to young married women, pregnant women, or new mothers. It is equally beneficial to target health information to other household members, particularly the mother-in-law. In order to improve outcomes for such women, it is vital to understand the inter-generational bargaining dynamic in the household and use it to either provide information to key decision-makers or empower the young women to engage in bargaining. The findings of our study show that not only is it essential to take this household dynamic into account but how information is provided can also have significantly different results in the presence of social norms and conformity to them.

Table 3.1 :	State and	district-wise	maternal	health	indicators

	State:			
	Madhya	District 1:	District 2:	District 3:
	Pradesh	Sagar	Chhatarpur	Panna
Completed at least four antenatal care visits (%)	57.5	35.9	36.9	30.9
Pregnant women who are anemic (%)	52.9	55.0	68.3	63.4
Consumed iron and folic acid tablets for > 100 days during pregnancy (%)	51.4	34.4	27.1	29.9
Talked to a health worker in the past year (%)	28.2	23.0	17.8	21.7

Notes: Data presented here is from the most recent version of the National Family Health Survey (NFHS) 2015-16 which is a nationally representative sample survey from the Government of India.

Table 3.2: Daughter-in-law (DIL) and mother-in-law (MIL) ANC and IFA knowledge at midline and endline

			Midlin	e					Endli	le		
		Α	NC & IFA know	ledge index				Α	NC & IFA knov	vledge index		
	Q	IL reported		IM	L reported		I	L reported		M	L reported	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(1)	(2)	(3)
Panel A. Pooled treatments												
Group	0.266***	0.281***	0.262***	0.270**	0.232**	0.271**	0.144	0.147	0.210 * *	0.236**	0.242***	0.244***
	(0.087)	(0.082)	(0.081)	(0.123)	(0.110)	(0.114)	(0.09)	(0.099)	(0.092)	(0.102)	(0.090)	(0.092)
<i>p</i> -value	0.002	0.001	0.001	0.030	0.037	0.019	0.148	0.141	0.024	0.022	0.008	0.008
q -value	[0.018]	[0.018]	[0.018]	[0.115]	[0.115]	[0.115]	[0.287]	[0.287]	[0.287]	[0.051]	[0.051]	[0.051]
Individual	0.177 * *	0.197**	0.184**	0.227*	0.210*	0.257**	0.347***	0.346***	0.454***	0.338***	0.371***	0.379***
	(0.082)	(0.079)	(0.076)	(0.119)	(0.107)	(0.110)	(0.105)	(0.105)	(0.097)	(0.109)	(660.0)	(660.0)
<i>p</i> -value	0.033	0.014	0.017	0.058	0.052	0.021	0.001	0.001	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.000
<i>q</i> -value	[0.050]	[0.050]	[0.050]	[0.150]	[0.150]	[0.150]	[0.017]	[0.017]	[0.017]	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]
Control mean	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Observations	1,246	1,244	1,150	1,309	1,309	1,197	1,844	1,844	1,702	1,977	1,835	1,835
p (Group=Individual)	0.124	0.157	0.185	0.658	0.808	0.870	0.005	0.005	0.000	0.227	0.099	060.0
<i>q</i> -value	[0.187]	[0.187]	[0.187]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[0.032]	[0.032]	[0.032]	[0.234]	[0.234]	[0.234]
				(contir	ned on n	ext page.)						

Panel B. All treatments

T1: Individual + Only DIL	0.145*	0.172**	0.157*	0.254**	0.254**	0.309***	0.377***	0.378***	0.487***	0.380***	0.399***	0.407***
<i>p</i> -value	0.095	0.041	0.058	0.036	0.025	(011.0)	00000	0000	0.000	0.001	0.000	00000
q -value	[0.093]	[0.093]	[0.093]	[0.093]	[0.093]	[0.093]	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]
T2: Individual + DIL&MIL	0.215**	0.239***	0.208***	0.195	0.190	0.214	0.316***	0.313***	0.423***	0.295***	0.346***	0.359***
	(0.087)	(0.083)	(0.078)	(0.147)	(0.132)	(0.137)	(0.110)	(0.110)	(0.101)	(0.111)	(0.104)	(0.105)
<i>p</i> -value	0.014	0.005	0.009	0.185	0.153	0.120	0.004	0.005	0.000	0.009	0.001	0.001
<i>q</i> -value	[0.032]	[0.032]	[0.032]	[0.350]	[0.350]	[0.350]	[0.032]	[0.032]	[0.032]	[0.011]	[0.011]	[0.011]
T3: Group + Only DIL	0.274***	0.288***	0.255***	0.277**	0.255**	0.300**	0.122	0.128	0.170*	0.228**	0.235**	0.241**
	(0.087)	(0.086)	(0.084)	(0.129)	(0.113)	(0.116)	(0.105)	(0.105)	(660.0)	(0.104)	(0.091)	(0.094)
<i>p</i> -value	0.002	0.001	0.003	0.032	0.025	0.010	0.247	0.226	0.088	0.029	0.010	0.011
<i>q</i> -value	[0.022]	[0.022]	[0.022]	[0.093]	[0.093]	[0.093]	[0.301]	[0.301]	[0.301]	[0.053]	[0.053]	[0.053]
T4: Group + DIL&MIL	0.258***	0.280***	0.257***	0.264*	0.227*	0.250*	0.164	0.163	0.246***	0.243**	0.259***	0.259***
	(0.095)	(0.092)	(0.089)	(0.137)	(0.130)	(0.135)	(0.101)	(0.101)	(0.094)	(0.105)	(0.094)	(0.095)
<i>p</i> -value	0.007	0.003	0.004	0.057	0.081	0.066	0.107	0.108	0.009	0.022	0.006	0.007
<i>q</i> -value	[0.022]	[0.022]	[0.022]	[0.208]	[0.208]	[0.208]	[0.286]	[0.286]	[0.286]	[0.048]	[0.048]	[0.048]
Control mean	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Observations	1,246	1,244	1,150	1,309	1,309	1,197	1,844	1,844	1,702	1,977	1,835	1,835

(continued on next page.)

p (11-12) q -value	0.764	0.454]	[0.454]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[0.442]	[0.442]	[0.442]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]
p (T3=T4) q -value	0.181 [0.187]	0.199 [0.187]	0.361 [0.187]	0.625 [1.000]	0.576 [1.000]	0.45 [1.000]	0.189 [0.287]	0.159 [0.287]	0.169 [0.287]	0.041 [0.520]	0.228 [0.520]	0.290 [0.520]
p (T1=T3) q -value	0.044 [0.088]	0.090 [0.088]	0.148 [0.088]	0.819 [1.000]	0.999 [1.000]	0.926 [1.000]	0.002 [0.018]	0.002 [0.018]	0.000 [0.018]	0.087 [1.000]	0.045 [1.000]	0.049 [1.000]
p (T2=T4) q -value	0.555 [0.440]	0.574 [0.440]	0.495 $[0.440]$	0.644 [1.000]	0.785 [1.000]	0.800 [1.000]	0.059 [0.232]	0.061 [0.232]	0.019 [0.232]	0.563 [0.697]	0.308 [0.697]	0.255 [0.697]
Strata fixed effects Baseline covariates	Yes No	Yes Yes	Yes									
Inverse probability weights (IFW)	IND	INO	ICS	IND	IND	I CS	IND	IND	ICS	INU	IND	I CS

around the mean of the control group. Panel A shows the effect of the pooled treatments on the ANC & IFA knowledge index, where the treatment variable is 1 if the DIL or MIL belong to the group or individual treatment and 0 if they belong to the control group. Panel B presents results for the same outcome for midline and endline. Each column represents a separate regression. The outcome variable of interest is an ANC & IFA knowledge index. The index components are indicators for: 1) correctly identifying the importance of ANC for detecting maternal health complications; 2) correctly identifying the importance of ANC for detecting fetal complications; 3) correctly identifying the importance of ANC for early intervention; 4) correctly identifying the importance of iron in preventing all four treatments, where the treatment variable is 1 if the DIL or MIL belong to T1-T4 and 0 if they belong to the control group. We present three models Model (2) also includes baseline covariates selected using post-double selection (Chernozhukov et al. (2018)), and model (3) includes inverse probability weights to account for differential attrition. Data was not collected for Phase 1 and 2 of the midline due to surveye error. We excluded 7 villages from the midline and endline samples as they did not receive the treatments, and 14 control villages from the endline sample only as they were given the treatment. We present sharpened False Discovery Rate (FDR) adjusted q-values (DIL and MIL outcomes, and midline and endline outcomes were grouped separately) to correct for multiple hypothesis Notes: This table presents the results of the treatments on ANC and IFA knowledge, as reported by the daughter-in-law (DIL) and the mother-in-law (MIL) at anemia; 5) correctly identifying that beliefs about IFA side effects are incorrect. These variables were combined into an index using Anderson (2008) and standardized for both participants: (1), (2), and (3). All models include strata fixed effects, and robust standard errors clustered at the village level are shown in parentheses. testing (Anderson (2008)). *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1

ine
endl
and e
midline a
at
consumption
tablet
IFA
and
visits
ANC
of
lber
Nun
3.3:
Table

		Daughter	-in-law (DIL) re	ported at midlin	le			Daughter	r-in-law (DIL)	reported at en	dline	
	Numbe	er of ANC visits		IFA table	et consumpti	uo	Numbe	r of ANC vi	sits	IFA tab	let consumpt	ion
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(1)	(2)	(3)
Panel A. Pooled treatments												
Group	0.010	0.026	0.011	10.799*	11.380*	10.014	0.180*	0.179*	0.203*	9.205**	9.214**	8.582*
1	(0.092)	(0.089)	(060.0)	(6.118)	(060.9)	(6.161)	(0.102)	(0.102)	(0.110)	(4.635)	(4.629)	(4.822)
<i>p</i> -value	0.917	0.772	0.906	0.080	0.064	0.107	0.081	0.079	0.066	0.048	0.048	0.077
<i>q</i> -value	[0.454]	[0.454]	[0.454]	[0.094]	[0.094]	[0.094]	[0.244]	[0.244]	[0.244]	[0.232]	[0.232]	[0.232]
Individual	0.201**	0.220***	0.203**	-0.706	-0.722	-0.831	0.141	0.142	0.183	7.657	7.485	6.421
	(0.084)	(0.081)	(0.085)	(5.417)	(5.474)	(5.430)	(0.124)	(0.124)	(0.135)	(5.565)	(5.608)	(5.402)
<i>p</i> -value	0.017	0.007	0.018	0.897	0.895	0.879	0.258	0.254	0.178	0.170	0.184	0.236
<i>q</i> -value	[0.028]	[0.028]	[0.028]	[0.454]	[0.454]	[0.454]	[0.302]	[0.302]	[0.302]	[0.470]	[0.470]	[0.470]
Control mean	2.969	2.969	2.969	56.63	56.63	56.63	3.300	3.300	3.300	70.79	70.79	70.79
Observations	1,991	1,991	1,831	731	731	676	1,835	1,835	1,695	1,835	1,835	1,695
<i>p</i> (Group=Individual)	0.032	0.027	0.039	0.052	0.027	0.052	0.668	0.680	0.841	0.703	0.676	0.627
<i>q</i> -value	[0.028]	[0.028]	[0.028]	[0.066]	[0.066]	[0.066]	[0.470]	[0.470]	[0.470]	[0.470]	[0.470]	[0.470]
				(continued c	m next p	age.)						

treatments	
All	
В.	
Panel	

T1: Individual + Only DIL	0.173*	0.196**	0.182*	0.705	0.452	0.603	0.091	0.094	0.092	9.966	9.845	9.637
	(0.092)	(0.090)	(0.093)	(5.977)	(5.916)	(5.846)	(0.121)	(0.120)	(0.130)	(6.145)	(6.170)	(6.034)
<i>p</i> -value	0.060	0.031	0.053	0.906	0.939	0.918	0.450	0.432	0.477	0.106	0.112	0.112
<i>q</i> -value	[0.067]	[0.067]	[0.067]	[0.402]	[0.402]	[0.402]	[0.442]	[0.442]	[0.442]	[0.286]	[0.286]	[0.286]
T2: Individual + DIL&MIL	0.233***	0.247***	0.226**	-2.279	-3.377	-4.156	0.196	0.195	0.278*	5.289	5.054	3.240
	(0.088)	(0.084)	(0.089)	(5.110)	(5.278)	(5.264)	(0.140)	(0.140)	(0.153)	(5.245)	(5.302)	(5.091)
<i>p</i> -value	0.009	0.004	0.012	0.656	0.524	0.432	0.163	0.167	0.070	0.314	0.342	0.525
<i>q</i> -value	[0.022]	[0.022]	[0.022]	[0.187]	[0.187]	[0.187]	[0.287]	[0.287]	[0.287]	[0.395]	[0.395]	[0.395]
T3: Group + Only DIL	0.100	0.117	0.074	11.363*	11.394*	9.825	0.151	0.152	0.171	8.457*	8.468*	8.480
	(0.094)	(0.093)	(0.094)	(6.065)	(5.915)	(5.928)	(0.106)	(0.105)	(0.112)	(4.882)	(4.872)	(5.283)
<i>p</i> -value	0.289	0.208	0.435	0.064	0.057	0.100	0.157	0.151	0.129	0.085	0.084	0.110
<i>q</i> -value	[0.192]	[0.192]	[0.192]	[0.178]	[0.178]	[0.178]	[0.287]	[0.287]	[0.287]	[0.244]	[0.244]	[0.244]
T4: Group + DIL&MIL	-0.079	-0.065	-0.051	10.279	10.312	8.942	0.210*	0.208*	0.239**	9.888**	9.896**	8.546*
	(0.098)	(0.094)	(0.095)	(7.165)	(7.016)	(7.169)	(0.110)	(0.109)	(0.117)	(4.703)	(4.702)	(4.816)
<i>p</i> -value	0.420	0.493	0.590	0.154	0.144	0.215	0.057	0.058	0.042	0.037	0.037	0.078
<i>q</i> -value	[0.415]	[0.415]	[0.415]	[0.093]	[0.093]	[0.093]	[0.232]	[0.232]	[0.232]	[0.209]	[0.209]	[0.209]
Control mean	2.969	2.969	2.969	56.63	56.63	56.63	3.300	3.300	3.300	70.79	70.79	70.79
Observations	1,991	1,991	1,831	731	731	676	1,835	1,835	1,695	1,835	1,835	1,695

(continued on next page.)

CHAPTER 3.

p(11=12)	0.003	0.003	CCU.U	0.000	170.0	0.000	0.0.0	0.400	100.0	0000	600.0	0.985
q -value	[0.022]	[0.022]	[0.022]	[0.402]	[0.402]	[0.402]	[0.442]	[0.442]	[0.442]	[0.422]	[0.422]	[0.422]
n (T3=T4)	0.371	0.438	0.503	0.273	0.161	0.0958	0.18	0.199	0.031	0.077	0.068	0.027
g-value	[0.402]	[0.402]	[0.402]	[0.192]	[0.192]	[0.192]	[0.297]	[0.297]	[0.297]	[0.236]	[0.236]	[0.236]
<i>p</i> (T1=T3)	0.461	0.436	0.304	0.096	0.066	0.134	0.551	0.563	0.455	0.756	0.778	0.832
g-value	[0.402]	[0.402]	[0.402]	[0.440]	[0.440]	[0.440]	[0.442]	[0.442]	[0.442]	[0.489]	[0.489]	[0.489]
p (T2=T4)	0.002	0.001	0.005	0.067	0.0323	0.0447	0.893	0.899	0.73	0.245	0.233	0.212
g-value	[0.018]	[0.018]	[0.018]	[0.454]	[0.454]	[0.454]	[0.538]	[0.538]	[0.538]	[0.301]	[0.301]	[0.301]
Strata fixed efffects	Yes											
Baseline covariates	No	Yes	Yes									
Inverse probability weights (IPW)	No	No	Yes									

Notes: This table presents the results of the treatments on the number of ANC visits, and IFA tablet consumption as reported by the daughter-in-law (DIL) at midline and endline. Each column represents a separate regression. The outcome variable of interest are number of ANC completed at the time of the survey and the number of iron and folic acid tablets consumed. The number of ANC visits are self-reported at midline and endline. The number of IFA tablets consumed at to the 95th percentile for outliers. Panel A shows the effect of the pooled treatments on the outcomes, where the treatment variable is 1 if the DIL or MIL belong to the group or individual treatment and 0 if they belong to the control group. Panel B presents results for the same outcome for all four treatments, where the treatment variable is 1 if the DIL or MIL belong to T1-T4 and 0 if they belong to the control group. We present three models for both participants: (1), (2), and (3). All models include strate fixed effects, and robust standard errors clustered at the village level are shown in parenthese. Model (2) also includes baseline midline were only asked to participants who had registered their pregnancy, and had a Mother and Child Protection (MCP) card. Both outcomes were winsorized covariates selected using post-double selection (Chernozhukov et al. (2018)), and model (3) includes inverse probability weights to account for differential attrition. We present sharpened False Discovery Rate (FDR) adjusted q-values (DIL and MIL outcomes, and midline and endline outcomes were grouped separately) to correct for multiple hypothesis testing (Anderson (2008)). *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1

Daughter-in-	law reported			
	<u>Flyer sig</u>	ned	<u>District hospi</u>	tal visited
	(1)	(2)	(1)	(2)
Panel A. Pooled treatments				
Group	-0.023	-0.025	0.050	0.039
	(0.015)	(0.017)	(0.038)	(0.041)
	0.116	0.156	0.188	0.342
Mean of reference group (Individual)	0.972	0.972	0.610	0.610
Observations	1,400	1,287	1,400	1,287
Panel B. All treatments				
T2: Individual + DIL&MIL	-0.002	-0.002	0.054**	0.068**
	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.027)	(0.027)
	0.848	0.865	0.049	0.013
T3: Group + Only DIL	-0.022	-0.021	0.056	0.052
	(0.015)	(0.014)	(0.043)	(0.043)
	0.155	0.141	0.198	0.230
T4: Group + DIL&MIL	-0.026*	-0.026*	0.097**	0.097**
	(0.015)	(0.014)	(0.044)	(0.045)
	0.080	0.066	0.030	0.031
Mean of reference group (T1: Individual + Only DIL)	0.971	0.971	0.579	0.579
Observations	1,400	1,287	1,400	1,287
p(T3=T4)	0.763	0.689	0.288	0.464
<u>p(T2=T4)</u>	0.172	0.152	0.081	0.058
Strata fixed efffects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Baseline covariates	No	Yes	No	Yes

T 1 1 9 4		· · · 1		1	1 1	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
I ADIE 3 4	HIVER	SIGNED	ิจทศ	alstrict.	nosnital	VISITED
Table 0.T.		DIEIICU	and	ULDUITUU	TOSPICA	VIDIUCU

Notes: This table presents the results of the treatments on flyer signed and district hospital visited as reported by the DIL at endline. We do not include the control group in this analysis, as control did not get the flyer. Each column represents a separate regression. The outcome variable of interest are indicators which are 1 if the daughter-in-law reported signing the flyer or visiting the district hospital and, and 0 if they did not. Panel A shows the effect of the pooled treatments on the outcomes, where the treatment variable is 1 if the DIL belongs to the group treatment and 0 if they belong to the individual treatment. Panel B presents results for the same outcome for cross-randomized treatments, where the treatment variable is 1 if the DIL or MIL belong to T2-T4 and 0 if they belong to T1. We present two models for participants: (1), and (2). All models include strata fixed effects, and robust standard errors clustered at the village level are shown in parentheses. Model (2) also includes baseline covariates selected using post-double selection (Chernozhukov et al. (2018)). We excluded 7 villages from the sample as they did not receive the treatments, and 14 control villages as they were given the treatment. *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1

CHAPTER 3.

Table 3.5: Maternal and infant complications

				Daughter-in-	law reported	(endline)						
	Complicatio	ns during pre	egnancy	Complicat	ions during h	irth	Post-deliv	/ery complica	itions	Infant-rel	ated compli	cations
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(1)	(2)	(3)
Panel A. Pooled treatments												
Group	0.032*	0.031*	0.026	-0.009	-0.009	-0.008	0.005	0.005	-0.002	-0.020	-0.016	-0.008
	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.018)	(0.028)	(0.028)	(0.028)	(0.026)	(0.026)	(0.027)	(0.022)	(0.021)	(0.021)
	0.057	0.061	0.148	0.737	0.752	0.782	0.850	0.850	0.955	0.363	0.438	0.710
Individual	-0.006	-0.007	-0.006	-0.018	-0.016	-0.007	-0.067**	-0.067**	-0.071**	-0.057**	-0.055**	-0.040*
	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.017)	(0.029)	(0.028)	(0.028)	(0.029)	(0.029)	(0.030)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.022)
	0.706	0.676	0.726	0.539	0.569	0.811	0.024	0.024	0.017	0.020	0.021	0.078
Control mean	0.056	0.056	0.056	0.131	0.131	0.131	0.108	0.108	0.108	0.081	0.081	0.081
Observations	1,844	1,844	1,702	1,844	1,844	1,702	1,799	1,799	1,658	1,799	1,796	1,658
p (Group=Individual)	0.012	0.011	0.039	0.721	0.749	0.963	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.012	0.010	0.034
				(continue	d on next	page.)						

50

	(0.018)	(0.018)	-0.019)	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.030)	(0.030)	(0.030)	(0.030)	(0.026)	(0.025)	(0.024)
	0.353	0.338	0.302	0.391	0.410	0.486	0.016	0.016	0.009	0.040	0.044	0.180
idual + DIL&MIL	0.005	0.004	0.007	-0.008	-0.006	0.007	-0.060*	-0.060*	-0.063*	-0.060**	-0.058**	-0.046**
	(0.018)	(0.018)	(0.019)	(0.029)	(0.029)	(0.028)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.025)	(0.024)	(0.023)
	0.781	0.809	0.708	0.797	0.841	0.792	0.059	0.059	0.051	0.017	0.018	0.050
tp + Only DIL	0.015	0.015	0.018	-0.018	-0.018	-0.006	-0.017	-0.017	-0.017	-0.034	-0.031	-0.023
	(0.019)	(0.019)	(0.020)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.033)	(0.030)	(0.030)	(0.032)	(0.023)	(0.022)	(0.022)
	0.353	0.338	0.302	0.581	0.580	0.852	0.578	0.578	0.588	0.130	0.156	0.295
th + DIL&MIL	0.048**	0.048**	0.035*	-0.001	0.000	-0.009	0.026	0.026	0.014	-0.006	-0.002	0.006
	(0.019)	(0.019)	(0.020)	(0.029)	(0.029)	(0.028)	(0.027)	(0.027)	(0.027)	(0.024)	(0.023)	(0.024)
	0.013	0.015	0.089	0.970	0.997	0.764	0.334	0.334	0.614	0.810	0.936	0.792
nean	0.056	0.056	0.056	0.131	0.131	0.131	0.108	0.108	0.108	0.081	0.081	0.081
ions	1,844	1,844	1,702	1,844	1,844	1,702	1,799	1,799	1,658	1,799	1,796	1,658
	0.078	0.081	0.374	0.493	0.465	0.925	0.059	0.059	0.174	0.088	0.082	0.102
(0.170	0.171	0.100	0.355	0.347	0.148	0.511	0.511	0.419	0.642	0.630	0.401
(0.089	0.087	0.058	0.759	0.793	0.625	0.010	0.010	0.005	0.293	0.275	0.601
(0.031	0.029	0.167	0.794	0.808	0.517	0.002	0.002	0.007	0.004	0.003	0.008
ced effects	Yes	Yes	Yes									
covariates	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
rohahility wei9hts (IPW)	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes

only. Each column represents a separate regression. The outcome variable of interests indicators which are 1 if the daughter-in-law reported that she or the infant experience complications during pregnancy, brith or after delivery, and 0 if they did not. Panel A shows the effect of the pooled treatments on the outcomes, where the treatment variable is 1 if the DIL or MIL belong to the group or individual treatment and 0 if they belong to the control group. Panel B presents results for the Notes: This table presents the results of the treatments on maternal and infant related complications as reported by the daughter-in-law (DIL) at the endline same outcome for all four treatments, where the treatment variable is 1 if the DIL or MIL belong to T1-T4 and 0 if they belong to the control group. We present three models for both participants: (1), (2), and (3). All models include strate fixed effects, and robust standard errors clustered at the village level are shown in parentheses. Model (2) also includes baseline covariates selected using post-double selection (Chernozhukov et al. (2018)), and model (3) includes inverse probability weights to account for differential attrition. We excluded 7 villages from the sample as they did not receive the treatments, and 14 control villages as they were given the treatment. *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1

CHAPTER 3.

Panel B. All treatments



Figure 3.1: Study flow diagram

Notes: At midline, we dropped 7 villages from the study as they were contaminated, and at endline we dropped an additional 14 control villages that accidently received the treatment. Villages were first randomized into Group or Individual treatments, and then households in each village were randomized into Only DIL or DIL & MIL treatments. Since one village can have multiple household level treatments, we only show unique number of villages here for T1-T4 and the midline and endlin totals. The loss to follow up for midline and endline are compared to control as we tried each village and household at endline even if we didn't get them at midline.

Chapter 4

Impact of a mobile messaging service for families on postnatal care knowledge and practices: Evidence from a cluster randomized trial in India

ABSTRACT

Objectives To evaluate the impact of a mobile messaging service that delivers messages on postnatal care practices following WHO guidelines via the WhatsApp platform for families from birth through six weeks postpartum.

Methods We randomized tertiary hospitals in four states in India into a treatment group of 15 hospitals where the messaging service was promoted to families in maternity wards prior to discharge following a recent birth. Nine hospitals served as a control where families received in-hospital standard-of-care information. We recruited 21,937 mothers, primarily of lower socioeconomic status, over a 10-month period to participate in the study. Using logistic regression controlling for state-fixed effects and baseline covariates, we examine intent-totreat (ITT) estimates and report risk differences.

Findings We observed significant positive impacts across the majority of neonatal and maternal care practices examined (*p*-values<0.05), with an estimated 3.1 percentage point (pp) increase in breastfeeding, 4.1 pp increase in recommended cord care practice, 9.2 pp increase in skin-to-skin care with mothers, and 2.2 pp increase in skin-to-skin care by fathers. We observed a significant and positive impact on some recommended maternal dietary practices, with 7.1 pp, 7.9 pp, and 10.8 pp increases in adherence to guidelines advising no reduction of food intake, no reduction of water intake, and no restrictions on food items, respectively (*p*-values<0.01).

Conclusion This study demonstrates that concise yet comprehensive digital messaging de-

livered to families during the postpartum period can effectively encourage recommended postpatal care practices. $^{\rm 1}$

¹This chapter presents results from an analysis conducted in collaboration with Jamie Johnston (Stanford), Shirley Yan (Noora Health), Adithi Chandrasekhar(Noora Health), Seemaa Murthy(Noora Health), Victoria Ward (Stanford), Saumya Singla(Stanford).

4.1 Introduction

Reducing maternal and neonatal mortality is a pressing global health priority, particularly in regions like India, where the burden is significant (noa (2024); Liu et al. (2019); UNICEF (2023)). For the last decade, national and state policy initiatives have focused on decreasing preventable maternal and infant deaths in India (Datta et al. (2022)). However, despite recent progress, the rate of maternal and neonatal deaths remains high, particularly among the country's poorest households (Liu et al. (2019); Meh et al. (2022); Tripathy and Mishra (2017)).

The Lancet's neonatal survival series underscores the importance of health education interventions that improve postnatal care practices to save lives and improve infant and mother well-being (Bhutta et al. (2014); Darmstadt et al. (2005, 2008); Knippenberg et al. (2005)). Providing predischarge information and postnatal health education to new parents in the critical time period following childbirth has significantly impacted the improvement of knowledge and care practices (Dol et al. (2019a)). Several health education interventions aim to address this need (Subramanian et al. (2020)), including the Care Companion Program (CCP), designed by the non-profit organization Noora Health in partnership with governments in India, Bangladesh, and Indonesia. This in-hospital education program aims to fill a gap in the provision of postnatal education in hospitals (Murthy et al. (2023)). Through interactive sessions run by health educators in postpartum maternity wards, mothers and their family caregivers are invited to attend in-hospital training sessions on essential care practices following World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines (WHO (2024)).

The CCP model is grounded in the strong body of evidence pointing to the importance of family members in postnatal care (Martin et al. (2020, 2021)). In India, family members, particularly grandmothers of new infants, not only support new mothers with caregiving but are also primary household decision-makers for maternal and infant care (Choudhry (1997); Withers et al. (2018)). Evidence suggests that new mothers are more likely to take up WHO-recommended best practices when they receive stronger family support (Allendorf (2010); Nguyen et al. (2019)). The model has shown promising results, with evidence suggesting improvements in health outcomes (Kashyap et al. (2022); Murthy et al. (2023); Subramanian et al. (2020)).

Despite the successes observed, anecdotal evidence suggests gaps in CCP, notably in followup care post-discharge. Many patients fail to return for postnatal doctor appointments, missing out on crucial information and support. Evidence from the parent-education literature points to the challenges observed, chief among them related to the time and resources required to provide effective postnatal health education (Gilmer et al. (2016)). Often, the families that fall through the gaps are the poorest and those in rural regions, with limited literacy and fewer opportunities to access health centers and critical health information (Balarajan et al. (2011); Subramanian (2008)).

Increased access to digital technology presents a promising opportunity to overcome these challenges. India has witnessed a significant increase in smartphone penetration, with social media and messaging platforms like WhatsApp widely used across all demographics, including lower socioeconomic status (SES) populations (Balkrishan et al. (2016)). Evidence also suggests parents seek out infant care advice through mobile devices (Richardson et al. (2019)). Increasingly, studies are demonstrating the effectiveness of perinatal education delivered to new parents through mobile phones, showcasing the potential for digital messaging interventions to bridge gaps in in-person information delivery to promote attendance in antenatal and postnatal care visits (Bossman et al. (2022); Dol et al. (2019b); Feroz et al. (2017); Lund et al. (2014); Watterson et al. (2015)), skilled birth attendance (Bossman et al. (2022)), breastfeeding and safe infant feeding (Mohamad Pilus et al. (2022); Murthy et al. (2019)), and immunizations (Bossman et al. (2022); Chakraborty et al. (2021); Gibson et al. (2017); LeFevre et al. (2022); Lubis et al. (2022); Murthy et al. (2019); Watterson et al. (2015)). However, more causal studies are needed to establish key ways to improve effectiveness for mobile messaging interventions, particularly in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) (Bossman et al. (2022); Feroz et al. (2017); Watterson et al. (2015)).

Recognizing the shift in opportunity accompanying the widespread adoption of smartphones in India, CCP includes a mobile extension of the program, the Mobile Care Companion Program (MCCP). MCCP aims to continue providing key health information directly to households through channels like WhatsApp in the critical months following the discharge of new mothers from the hospital. In this study, we evaluate the impact of WhatsApp MCCP on maternal and newborn care practices through a cluster randomized trial in four states in India. The study contributes to the mobile health messaging literature in several distinct ways. First, we provide strong causal evidence on the effectiveness of a replicable model of mobile messaging on behavior change and the uptake of key recommended care practices among a low SES population. Second, while a majority of postnatal education interventions focus on a narrow set of practices (e.g., breastfeeding or immunization alone) (Dol et al. (2019a)), MCCP aims to provide concise yet comprehensive messaging across a broad set of practices. Third, unlike many postnatal interventions, MCCP actively targets information at the household level, inviting all family members active in caregiving to engage in the service alongside new mothers. The intervention design embraces family members' role in postnatal care and decision-making. The design also accommodates the fact that access to mobile phones is often shared within families, with use often determined by male heads of households (Mohan et al. (2020); Scott et al. (2021)).

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 MCCP Intervention

The Mobile Care Companion Program (MCCP) is a digital extension of Noora Health's Care Companion Program (CCP), which provides in-person training sessions conducted by nurses and health educators for new mothers and their family members in hospital maternity wards. MCCP seeks to deliver continued care advice to families via a free mobile messaging service on WhatsApp. At the end of every CCP training session, mothers and family caregivers (commonly the fathers and grandmothers of newborns) are encouraged to enroll and provide a phone number to sign up for the service.

MCCP delivers 25 messages, including 7 videos, over 50 days (Supplement C.1. The messages are consistent with CCP content and promote WHO-recommended postnatal practices including early and exclusive breastfeeding, hygienic cord care, skin-to-skin care, vaccination, maternal nutrition recommendations, and recognizing warning signs of critical illness for mother and baby (WHO (2024)). Messages were reviewed by a team of medical experts and State Departments of Health. The service is available in 7 languages: English, Hindi, Kannada, Marathi, Punjabi, Tamil, and Telugu. Like CCP, MCCP directs advice to entire families rather than exclusively to new mothers. Upon introduction to MCCP, family members are encouraged to engage with the service alongside new mothers.

In addition to receiving care advice through MCCP, recipients can also ask questions. A team of trained support staff monitors and responds to questions; however, they do not provide medical consultation or advice on medications, rather they direct recipients to health providers for such queries.

4.2.2 Study design

To evaluate the effectiveness of MCCP, we designed a cluster-randomized controlled trial, with hospitals as the unit of randomization. The trial is registered on Open Science Framework, and CONSORT checklist in Supplement C.2. We selected 26 tertiary hospitals in four states (Karnataka, Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra, and Punjab) for inclusion in the study. To achieve a representative sample of hospitals, we first stratified districts in each state by India's Health Management Information (HMIS) Health Index quartiles, and randomly selected a set of high- and low-delivery load hospitals where CCP had been implemented for at least two years. Two hospitals were excluded from the study. The first was excluded prior to randomization because the facility was converted to focus on COVID-19 treatment and births were diverted to alternative facilities. The second was excluded after randomization because the state government requested the hospital assigned to the CCP standard of care control start receiving the MCCP intervention three months after the start of the study. The hospitals were stratified by state, and 15 were randomly assigned via a random number generator to the treatment group where the MCCP intervention would be promoted, with 9 hospitals serving as a control, receiving only the in-person CCP. Figure 4.1 displays the participant flow diagram. Over a 10-month period, data collection field teams recruited new mothers to participate in the study in the 24 hospitals. Participants were recruited in maternity wards prior to hospital discharge following birth. All birthing women present at the time of data collection were invited to participate. Inclusion criteria included completing a demographic survey at the time of recruitment in hospitals and household ownership of a smartphone. Families in which newborns or mothers died prior to discharge were excluded. In treatment hospitals, out of 14,018 mothers recruited, 11,611 (82.8%) consented and met inclusion criteria. In control hospitals, 10,326 (87.4%) out of 11,806 recruited consented and met inclusion criteria.
4.2.3 Measures

Data collection teams conducted face-to-face demographic surveys with all consenting mothers during recruitment. In instances when new mothers were unable to respond, family members designated by the mother responded on their behalf. We constructed an SES index using the same methodology followed by the Indian National Family Health Survey (NFHS-4), assigning pre-determined weights to each socioeconomic indicator. We then summed and standardized these weights around the control group's mean. Roughly six weeks (55 days on average) after participants consented, data collection teams attempted to contact all participants to administer a follow-up phone survey. Our primary outcomes include postdischarge behaviors in three categories: (1) newborn care practices: exclusive breastfeeding, any breastfeeding, recommended umbilical cord care, skin-to-skin care, and six-week immunizations; (2) maternal dietary practices including adherence to recommendations not to reduce or restrict food and water and consumption of iron and folic and calcium supplements; (3) newborn and maternal complications, including post-discharge hospital readmissions. We also collected data on knowledge of newborn care practices regarding infant feeding, skin-toskin care, and cord care.

We controlled for baseline characteristics from the demographic survey and imputed missing values for covariates using the median of the non-missing values conditioned on the state. The final set of covariates included in the model was determined using post-double selection (Chernozhukov et al. (2018)), with a complete list of high-dimensional controls provided in Supplement Table C.3. The outcomes analyzed and covariates used are the same as what was pre-specified by us in OSF. We analyze all dependent variables, and include each in a separate model. We then correct for multiple hypothesis testing.

4.2.4 Statistical analysis

To estimate the impact of the MCCP intervention, we present intent-to-treat (ITT) estimates, which capture the effect of offering the WhatsApp program, regardless of take-up. Our main estimating equation for the ITT is a logistic regression.

$$\log(P_{ih}) = \alpha + \beta_1 T_h + \gamma X_{ih} + \theta_s + \epsilon_{ih}$$

where the dependent variable P_{ih} represents the probability of an outcome for a mother *i* recruited in hospital *h*. The treatment variable T_h is a binary variable, which is 0 if a hospital is assigned the CCP standard of care, and 1 if it is assigned the MCCP intervention. Our main estimate of interest is β_1 which provides the ITT estimate of the impact of MCPP as compared to CCP. The vector X_{ih} consists of mother- and hospital-level covariates, selected using post-double selection to improve precision (Chernozhukov et al. (2018)). We include state-fixed effects (θ_s) and ϵ_{ih} is the error term clustered at the hospital level. We use a logistic regression model to estimate the results as outcomes are binary and report risk differences (RD) using the Stata margins command. We correct for multiple hypothe-

CHAPTER 4.

sis testing and present sharpened False Discovery Rate (FDR) adjusted q-values(Anderson (2008)). Analyses were conducted in Stata 16.

4.3 Ethics Review

This study received approval from the ACE Ethics Committee

(DCGI Reg. No. ECR/141/Indt/KA/2013/RR-19) based in Bangalore, India, and the Institutional Review Boards (IRBs) at Stanford University, California (IRB-65931) and the University of California, Berkeley (2024-04-17420). All participants consented in their local language.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Sample balance and attrition

The in-hospital demographic survey had a high consent and completion rate of over 98% in both control and treatment groups, as shown in Figure 4.1. Following the survey, we applied the inclusion criteria and excluded families without access to a smartphone. Supplement Table C.4 presents the demographic characteristics of the excluded sample and shows a lower SES compared to the included sample. The study's overall loss-to-follow-up rate was 35.6%(Figure 4.1). We observe no significant differences in attrition between the control and treatment groups (Supplement Table C.5). Attriters were more likely to have someone other than the mother complete the demographic survey, experience newborn readmission to the hospital after delivery, belong to other minority social categories, and possess fewer household assets (Supplement Table C.6). Table 4.1 shows differences in pre-intervention characteristics in our analytic sample (mothers responding to the follow-up survey). Treatment and control appear well-balanced on observed characteristics. Supplement Table C.7 shows similar patterns of balance across the two groups for the full sample of mothers randomized at baseline. Significant, but small differences exist between the groups in the proportion of first-time mothers and number of previous births. The average age of the mothers at baseline across the two groups was approximately 24 years. Vaginal delivery accounted for just over half of the births, and mothers had an average of 1.2 previous births. The majority of mothers, about 80%, are from the Scheduled Caste/Tribe (SC/ST) social category indicating lower socio-economic status, and the majority of mothers possess a Below Poverty Line (BPL) card. Most mothers are homemakers and completed secondary education.

4.4.2 MCCP participation

Table 4.2 presents mother-reported engagement with MCCP. At follow-up, 61.75% of mothers in the treatment group recalled which family member enrolled in MCCP, with 70.15%

reporting themselves as enrollees, 22.18% reporting spouses, and 7.67% reporting other relatives. Under half (44.07%) recalled viewing MCCP messages, and of these mothers, nearly all (96.48%) reported understanding messages, while 37.51% recalled viewing any videos, and 15.82% recalled asking questions on the platform. Of mothers who recalled viewing videos, 28.06% shared information or videos with other family members. Of mothers whose family members enrolled (either spouse or other family member), 67.25% recalled family members sharing information or videos with them.

4.4.3 Effect on postnatal care practices

Table 4.3 presents the results of our main specification (4.2.4). We divide our results into three categories: (1) newborn care practices, (2) maternal diet, and (3) newborn and maternal complications. The MCCP intervention improved four of the six newborn care practices measured (*p*-values < 0.05). Mothers in the treatment group experienced increases of 3.1 percentage points (pp) in any breastfeeding, 4.1 pp in practicing recommended cord care, 9.2 pp in skin-to-skin care by the mother, and 2.2 pp in skin-to-skin care by the father. We observed no significant impact on exclusive breastfeeding or six-week vaccinations. We observed significant improvements in three of the five maternal diet practices measured (*p*values < 0.01). Mothers in the treatment group were significantly more likely to adhere to recommendations advising that they do not reduce their food intake (7.1 pp increase) or water intake (7.9 pp increase) or restrict specific food items (10.8 pp increase). We do not observe any significant impact on supplement consumption. We observe no differences in newborn complications at follow up. Mothers in the treatment group were significantly more likely to report experiencing complications after discharge (RD: 2.1 pp, *p*-value<0.01).

4.4.4 Effect on postnatal care knowledge

Table 4.4 presents the results of our main specification (4.2.4) on knowledge. We observed a significant impact on two of the five knowledge outcomes measured (*p*-values < 0.01). Mothers in the treatment group were significantly more likely to know to breastfeed even when the mother has a fever (8.7 pp) and to know about skin-to-skin care (14.9 pp). Calculation of q-values combined all outcomes reported in Tables 3 and 4, and conclusions regarding the significance of outcomes were consistent with *p*-values. Supplement Tables C.8 and C.9 show the unadjusted results of the primary outcomes on treatment, which are robust to adjusted specifications.

4.5 Discussion

This study demonstrates that delivery of simple concise, yet comprehensive messaging to families in the postpartum period can positively influence the uptake of WHO-recommended postnatal care practices. While MCCP covered the same content as CCP education also re-

ceived in control hospitals, delivery of the messages spaced over the 6-week period resulted in improvements in a majority of neonatal practices measured. These findings suggest there is added value to mobile delivery of information with optimal timing to correspond to newborn milestones, viewed at the recipient's discretion, and stored on devices allowing for access as a reference tool when needed.

Delivery of messages to mobile devices also allows for the sharing of information among family members providing postnatal care. A defining feature of MCCP is messaging directed to the entire household. While our study is limited by reliance on maternal self-report given an inability to link WhatsApp platform analytics with participants, we nonetheless observed evidence of engagement in MCCP among family members, with nearly a third initiating household enrollment, for which nearly two-thirds of mothers reported receiving information from family members. Likewise, nearly a third of mothers who recalled using MCCP reported sharing with family members. Future studies should explore the shared nature of phone ownership and ways in which messaging services can individualize and direct educational content to family caregivers to increase effectiveness.

Our study demonstrates the impact of a mobile intervention among a largely low socioeconomic population (roughly 80% SC/ST and 60% BPL), with several implications worth noting. The proliferation of smartphones in India, even among those of low SES, highlights the potential of digital interventions to overcome barriers faced by poorer, marginalized populations with limited access to facilities and quality in-person care. In our study, smartphone ownership was high among all families delivering in hospitals, with only 13.65% excluded due to lack of a smartphone. Although this criterion excludes the poorest in communities, our study nonetheless demonstrates impact among a largely low SES population. However, we assert there are still equity implications for the delivery of information that require additional resources. The lack of impact on supplement consumption and vaccination (requiring travel to vaccination sites) suggests that educational interventions alone do not solve for the resources needed to engage in certain practices. Finally, while MCCP was designed as a two-way service, it was largely used as a one-way source of information, with only 15.82% of mothers who recalled receiving messages reported asking questions. While the interactive component is costlier to maintain, our study may suggest that even simple information delivery can positively impact care, consistent with evidence that one-way postnatal messaging can be cost-effective at saving lives (LeFevre et al. (2023)). Our data do not allow us to speak to the importance of the interactive aspects of MCCP for the small number of mothers utilizing it. We recommend future studies explore how interactive messaging services can identify at-risk patients and provide information individualized to their needs.

CHAPTER 4.

-	Contr	ol	Treatm	nent	Treatment
	(n = 6,6	650)	(n = 6,8	841)	vs. Control
	mean	sd	mean	sd	p-values
Mother's age	24.27	3.769	24.39	3.660	0.604
Newborn is male	0.523	0.500	0.524	0.499	0.625
Primary respondent is the mother	0.986	0.116	0.972	0.164	0.413
Vaginal delivery	0.566	0.496	0.502	0.500	0.788
First time mothers	0.218	0.413	0.265	0.442	0.010 **
Number of previous live births	1.292	0.989	1.164	0.952	0.015 **
Category: General	0.141	0.348	0.119	0.324	0.424
Category: Scheduled caste/scheduled tribe	0.822	0.382	0.828	0.377	0.606
Category: Other	0.037	0.189	0.052	0.223	0.825
Ownership of a Below Poverty Line (BPL) card	0.573	0.495	0.608	0.488	0.440
SES index	0.000	1.000	-0.008	1.006	0.872
Ownership of household items:					
Pressure cooker	0.782	0.413	0.779	0.415	0.872
Color television	0.748	0.434	0.721	0.448	0.601
Refrigerator	0.394	0.489	0.390	0.488	0.205
Table	0.241	0.428	0.402	0.490	0.110
Washing machine	0.094	0.291	0.169	0.375	0.215
Sewing machine	0.238	0.426	0.206	0.405	0.781
Air conditioner/cooler	0.337	0.473	0.266	0.442	0.826
Mattress	0.568	0.495	0.630	0.483	0.958
Motorcycle/scooter	0.602	0.490	0.594	0.491	0.159
None of these	0.051	0.219	0.063	0.243	0.872
Home roof material is concrete	0.624	0.484	0.664	0.472	0.477
Household uses LPG fuel mostly for cooking	0.826	0.379	0.885	0.319	0.219
Household uses open toilet	0.271	0.444	0.130	0.336	0.051 *
Highest level of education					
No formal schooling	0.124	0.330	0.053	0.225	0.167
Primary school completed	0.061	0.240	0.043	0.202	0.222
Secondary school completed	0.465	0.499	0.484	0.500	0.327
Higher than secondary school completed	0.349	0.477	0.419	0.493	0.266
Occupation					
Unemployed	0.004	0.064	0.029	0.169	0.292
Homemaker	0.807	0.395	0.870	0.336	0.331
Self-employed	0.036	0.187	0.037	0.190	0.852
Daily wage worker	0.130	0.336	0.036	0.186	0.137
Private sector employee	0.015	0.122	0.022	0.148	0.463
Public sector employee	0.008	0.089	0.005	0.068	0.127

Table 4.1: Baseline balance of a	analytic sample
----------------------------------	-----------------

Notes: This table shows the means and standard deviations of the participants in the control and treatment groups after the intervention is completed, and at the time of the followup survey. This table represents the final analytic sample after loss-to-follow-up. For binary characteristics, the proportion of participants is shown. The p-values here represent significant differences between control and treatment along these characteristics. The p-value displayed is from a regression of the dependent variable on an indicator variable for treatment. State fixed effects are included, and standard errors were clustered at the hospital level (not shown here). The SES index is calculated using the methodology from the NFHS-4 and standardized around the control group. * denotes statistical significance at 10 pct, ** at 5 pct, and *** at 1 pct level.

	n	%	Ν
Mother recalled which family member enrolled in MCCP	4224	61.75	6841
Mother (self)	2963	70.15	4224
Spouse	937	22.18	4224
Other family member	324	7.67	4224
Mother cannot recall who or if anyone enrolled in MCCP	2617	61.39	6841
Engagement with MCCP			
Mother recalled viewing messages on WhatsApp	3015	44.07	6841
Mother understood messages received	2909	96.48	3015
Mother viewed any linked videos	1131	37.51	3015
Mother asked questions on the platform	477	15.82	3015
Mother shared information or videos with family members	846	28.06	3015
Family members shared information or videos with the mother	848	67.25	1261

Table 4.2: Mother-reported MCCP	takeup	and	engagement
---------------------------------	--------	-----	------------

Notes: This table presents data on engagement with the MCCP intervention and data are displayed as n and %. Household member who enrolled shows which household member called to enroll in the WhatsApp service. Whether a family member shared the message with the mother was only asked of mothers who recalled family members enrolling in MCCP.

Outcomes	Control mean	RD	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	q-value
Newborn care practices					
Exclusive breastfeeding	0.499	0.018	[-0.060, 0.096]	0.654	0.563
Fed any breastmilk	0.941	0.031	[0.015, 0.047]	0.000 ***	0.001
Practiced recommended cord care	0.489	0.041	[0.004, 0.078]	0.029 **	0.056
Mother practiced skin-to-skin with newborn	0.094	0.092	[0.062, 0.122]	0.000 ***	0.001
Father practiced skin-to-skin with newborn	0.010	0.022	[0.007, 0.038]	0.005 **	0.012
Completed six-week vaccinations	0.509	0.042	[-0.015, 0.099]	0.146	0.259
Maternal dietary practices					
No reduction of food intake	0.697	0.071	[0.050, 0.092]	0.000 ***	0.001
No reduction of water intake	0.751	0.079	[0.036, 0.121]	0.000 ***	0.001
No restriction of food items	0.380	0.108	[0.071, 0.145]	0.000 ***	0.001
Consumed iron and folic acid supplements	0.124	0.060	[-0.032, 0.153]	0.198	0.267
Consumed calcium supplements	0.116	0.065	[-0.016, 0.146]	0.114	0.214
Newborn and maternal complications					
Newborn admitted to hospital after discharge	0.068	0.003	[-0.017, 0.023]	0.784	0.697
Newborn experienced complications after discharge	0.295	0.022	[-0.008, 0.051]	0.157	0.259
Mother admitted to hospital after discharge	0.012	0.002	[-0.004, 0.008]	0.482	0.504
Mother experienced complications after discharge	0.112	0.021	[0.007, 0.035]	0.004 **	0.010
Experienced issues with cord care	0.056	-0.003	[-0.015, 0.009]	0.624	0.563

Table 4.3: Effect of MCCP on newborn care, maternal diet, and complications (N=13,491)

Notes: This table presents the results of a logistic regression of the primary outcomes on treatment. Each row represents a separate regression. All outcome variables presented are indicators that are 0 if the behavior was not practiced, and 1 if the behavior was practiced. The treatment variable is an indicator that is 0 if they were assigned to the control group and 1 if they were assigned to treatment. Covariates were included in all regressions using post-double selection (Chernozhukov et al. (2018)), and missing values were imputed using the median of the non-missing values conditional on the state. Standard errors (not shown here) are robust, and are clustered at the hospital level. We present sharpened False Discovery Rate (FDR) adjusted q-values (that include all outcomes from Tables 4.3 and 4.4) to correct for multiple hypothesis testing (Anderson (2008)). * denotes statistical significance for p-values at 10 pct, ** at 5 pct, and *** at 1 pct level. RD: risk difference; CI: confidence interval.

Table 4.4: Effect of MCCP on newborn care knowledge

Knowledge outcomes	Control mean	RD	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	q -value
Know to breastfeed when mother has a fever	0.402	0.087	[0.041, 0.133]	0.000 ***	0.001
Know to breastfeed jaundiced newborn	0.535	0.049	[-0.024, 0.121]	0.189	0.267
Know age to start complementary feeding	0.683	-0.045	[-0.109, 0.019]	0.172	0.265
Know recommended cord care	0.38	0.021	[-0.036, 0.079]	0.467	0.504
Know about skin-to-skin care	0.185	0.149	[0.105, 0.194]	0.000 ***	0.001

Notes: This table presents the results of a logistic regression of the knowledge outcomes on treatment. Each row represents a separate regression. All outcome variables presented are indicators that are 0 if they did not have the correct response to the knowledge question, and 1 if they did. The treatment variable is an indicator that is 0 if they were assigned to the control group and 1 if they were assigned to treatment. Covariates were included in all regressions using post-double selection (Chernozhukov et al. (2018)), and missing values were imputed using the median of the non-missing values conditional on the state. Standard errors (not shown here) are robust, and are clustered at the hospital level. We present sharpened False Discovery Rate (FDR) adjusted q-values (that include all outcomes from Tables 3 and 4) to correct for multiple hypothesis testing (Anderson (2008)). * denotes statistical significance of p-values at 10 pct, ** at 5 pct, and *** at 1 pct level. RD: risk difference; CI: confidence interval.





Notes: Notes: Two hospitals were excluded from the study. The first was excluded prior to randomization because the facility was converted to focus on COVID-19 treatment and births were diverted to alternative facilities. The second was excluded because the state government requested the hospital assigned to the CCP standard of care control start receiving the MCCP intervention three months after the start of the study. Participant inclusion criteria includes completion of baseline survey at the time of recruitment in hospitals and household ownership of a smartphone through which WhatsApp can be accessed. Households with mothers or babies who died prior to hospital discharge were also excluded.

Chapter 5 Discussion

This dissertation contributes new evidence on the mechanisms influencing health decisionmaking within multi-generational households in LMICs, focusing on the critical perinatal period. Adequate preventative care, including routine checkups and early screenings, significantly impacts the health of both the mother and the fetus. The postpartum period is crucial for the mother's physical and mental recovery. The first two years after birth is vital for the infant's development, potentially having lifelong consequences (UNICEF (2023)). Problems during pregnancy, birth, and postpartum are among the leading causes of death for young, otherwise healthy women aged 20 to 45 globally (WHO (2024)).

Addressing maternal and infant mortality is a global priority, with substantial governmental resources dedicated to this issue. Despite progress in recent decades, many countries continue to experience significantly higher than the global average maternal and infant mortality rates, particularly among marginalized communities and for women with limited autonomy (Aziz et al. (2021); Fotso et al. (2009); Mondal et al. (2020)). Much existing research has focused on supply-side factors like improving accessibility, quality of care, and pay-for-performance; demand-side interventions (such as conditional cash transfers, voucher programs, and community mobilization) have been of interest as well but have shown mixed evidence (Bowser et al. (2016)).

A growing body of work in economics points to several mechanisms where household structure might influence health and labor decisions, as well as the autonomy of younger women residing in those households. Family members like the mother-in-law play an outsized role in determining household decisions around fertility, demand for health services, labor force participation, and allocation of household resources (Allendorf (2010); Anukriti et al. (2019, 2022); Banerji et al. (2023); Gram et al. (2018); Khanna and Pandey (2020)).

In this dissertation, I presented three studies in India to understand the role of household members in perinatal decision-making. I provided causal evidence on how the involvement of the mother-in-law impacts health-seeking behaviors and health outcomes. The first paper examined the dynamics between new mothers and their caregivers (spouse, mother, and mother-in-law) in caregiving decisions for postnatal maternal and infant care. I found that women were more likely to name their caregivers as sole decision-makers for both infant and maternal care over themselves, and agreement between the mother and caregiver on who is the decision-maker is low. I also found the identity of the primary caregiver significantly affects maternal mental well-being. The second paper investigated the impact of targeted health messaging and social learning on antenatal care visits and iron and folic acid tablet consumption among pregnant women co-residing with their mothers-in-law. It demonstrated that involving mothers-in-law in health messaging increases health-seeking behaviors and improves post-delivery outcomes. The results also showed that the adoption of behaviors varies in the short and long term, with the effect on individual beliefs being stronger than the peer effects in the short term and then peer effects catching up in the long term. The third paper evaluated the effectiveness of a mobile messaging service delivering postnatal care information to households and its impact on maternal and infant health outcomes and found that a mobile messaging service delivering postnatal care information to the entire household positively affects maternal and infant health outcomes.

5.1 Policy implications

By quantifying the impact of family members, particularly the mother-in-law, on healthseeking behaviors and postnatal recovery in India, I highlight the importance of policy interventions that leverage household support to improve maternal and infant health outcomes. The findings of this dissertation suggest that policymakers have overlooked the critical role of household members, particularly the mother-in-law, in influencing health decisions and outcomes.

In Chapter 2, I find that family caregivers play a significant role in postpartum decisionmaking, often acting as the sole decision-maker for infant and maternal care. Notably, decisions are frequently made by a single household member, who is often not the new mother. For example, most interventions have a direct-to-beneficiary design and don't consider the family (LeFevre et al. (2022)). I suggest that policymakers adopt a family-centered approach to healthcare, recognizing the significant influence of household members on health-seeking behaviors and outcomes. This approach contrasts with the prevalent direct-to-beneficiary design of most interventions, which neglects the critical role of family members in healthcare decision-making.

In Chapter 3, I provide novel evidence on how intergenerational dynamics and social norms affect health-seeking behaviors during pregnancy, specifically regarding crucial preventative care such as ANC visits and IFA tablet consumption. My research reveals that engaging the mother-in-law has a significant and lasting impact on ANC and IFA tablet consumption, leading to improved post-delivery health outcomes for the mother and the infant. These findings challenge the conventional approach of targeting health information in LMICs solely to young married women, pregnant women, or new mothers (LeFevre et al. (2022)). Instead, I demonstrate that it is equally, if not more, effective to involve other household members, particularly the mother-in-law, in health interventions. Moreover, delivering health information in group settings or a public setting, focusing on addressing social norms, can in some cases yield even more significant improvements in health-seeking behaviors and outcomes in the long term. However, future work will be required to better understand when group delivery will increase effectiveness, as in some settings strong pre-existing social norms could cause group delivery models to perform worse.

The findings in Chapter 4 demonstrate that mobile delivery of information offers added value beyond in-person interventions, as recipients can access messages at their discretion and store them for future reference. Moreover, mobile delivery enables information sharing among family members providing postnatal care, increasing the number of informed individuals in the household. This insight is crucial for policymakers. Leveraging mobile platforms like WhatsApp for information dissemination is a low-cost and easily implementable solution, especially since smartphone access is increasingly widespread in LMICs. Increasingly, studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of perinatal education delivered to new parents via mobile phones. These digital messaging interventions have shown potential in bridging gaps in in-person information delivery, promoting attendance at antenatal and postnatal care visits (Bossman et al. (2022); Dol et al. (2019b); Feroz et al. (2017); Lund et al. (2014); Watterson et al. (2015)), skilled birth attendance (Bossman et al. (2022)), breastfeeding and safe infant feeding practices (Mohamad Pilus et al. (2022); Murthy et al. (2019)), and immunizations (Bossman et al. (2022); Chakraborty et al. (2021); Gibson et al. (2017); LeFevre et al. (2022); Lubis et al. (2022); Murthy et al. (2019); Watterson et al. (2015)). However, more causal studies are needed to identify key strategies for improving the effectiveness of mobile messaging interventions, especially in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs)(Bossman et al. (2022); Feroz et al. (2017); Watterson et al. (2015)). Implementing partners should investigate the shared nature of phone ownership and explore strategies for individualizing and directing educational content to family caregivers to enhance effectiveness. This intervention also highlights a critical gap: individuals from very low socioeconomic backgrounds may be excluded due to limited device ownership. Further research is needed to address this disparity and ensure inclusive access to vital information to refine policy recommendations.

5.2 Future directions for research

5.2.1 Spousal involvement

This research establishes that household members, especially mother-in-law involvement, are crucial for health decision-making and affecting outcomes. However, this dissertation does not explore the role of the spouse. Future research should investigate the complex dynamics of household decision-making involving the spouse. Despite evidence showing the importance of father involvement in the perinatal period and early childhood (as seen in systematic reviews highlighting increased utilization of skilled birth attendants, institutional deliveries, postpartum visits, and reduced odds of postpartum depression) (Suandi et al. (2020); Yargawa and Leonardi-Bee (2015), our findings suggest that female caregivers, especially mothers-in-law, may limit spouses' involvement in infant care decisions.

Recent work by Ashraf et al. (2020) demonstrates the significant impact of providing information to men in the household on maternal mortality risk and fertility choices, while Ghosh and Thornton (2024) reveals the crowding out effect of couples counseling in households with dominant mothers-in-law. Building on these findings, future studies should explore intervention designs that can leverage the presence of mothers-in-law when trying to increase spouse involvement. It will be crucial to then investigate subsequent effects on maternal mental well-being, infant and child development, and overall health outcomes.

5.2.2 Extending bargaining models

This dissertation provides causal evidence on the significant influence of mothers-in-law on household decision-making, particularly in health-related choices. While studies from other disciplines have long recognized the crucial role of the mother-in-law-daughter-in-law relationship in household dynamics, including instances of collusion between the daughter-in-law and her spouse against the mother-in-law (Gram et al. (2018); Kandiyoti (1988)), traditional economic models of intra-household decision-making have overlooked the influence of extended family members, focusing instead on spousal bargaining.

To address this gap, the next step is to develop a theoretical framework of the household that accounts for multiple agents with misaligned incentives, and allowing for collusion. This framework will enable a more generalizable framework to design effective interventions to improve health outcomes. By acknowledging the significant influence of extended family members, we can move beyond the traditional spousal bargaining model and develop a more nuanced understanding of household decision-making.

5.2.3 Concluding Remarks

In conclusion, this dissertation provides significant insights into the complex dynamics of health decision-making within multi-generational households in LMICs, with a particular focus on the critical perinatal period. The findings underscore the profound influence that household members, especially mothers-in-law, have on health-seeking behaviors and outcomes. Through three empirical studies conducted in India, this research highlights the importance of involving family members in healthcare interventions to enhance maternal and infant health outcomes. The results challenge traditional approaches that primarily target individual beneficiaries, advocating instead for a family-centered approach that acknowledges the roles of various household members. Furthermore, the dissertation opens new avenues for future research, including the need to explore the role of spouses and to extend economic models of household decision-making to include multiple agents with potentially conflicting interests. This work not only contributes to the academic literature but also offers practical implications for policymakers seeking to design more effective health interventions in similar cultural contexts.

Bibliography

- (2024). Mortality rate, neonatal (per 1,000 live births) India | Data.
- (2024). WHO recommendations on Postnatal care of the mother and newborn.
- Allendorf, K. (2010). The Quality of Family Relationships and Use of Maternal Health-care Services in India. *Studies in Family Planning*, 41(4):263–276. Number: 4.
- Allendorf, K. (2017). Like Her Own: Ideals and Experiences of the Mother-In-Law/Daughter-In-Law Relationship. Journal of Family Issues, 38(15):2102–2127. Number: 15.
- Anderson, M. L. (2008). Multiple Inference and Gender Differences in the Effects of Early Intervention: A Reevaluation of the Abecedarian, Perry Preschool, and Early Training Projects. Journal of the American Statistical Association, 103(484):1481–1495. Number: 484.
- Anukriti, S., Herrera-Almanza, C., Karra, M., and Pathak, P. (2019). Curse of the Mummy-ji: The Influence of Mothers-in-Law on Women's Social Networks, Mobility, and Reproductive Health in India. Publisher: Unknown.
- Anukriti, S., Herrera-Almanza, C., Karra, M., and Valdebenito, R. (2022). Convincing the Mummy-ji: Improving Mother-in-Law Approval of Family Planning in India. AEA Papers and Proceedings, 112:568–572.
- Ashraf, N., Field, E., and Lee, J. (2014). Household Bargaining and Excess Fertility: An Experimental Study in Zambia. American Economic Review, 104(7):2210–2237. Number: 7.
- Ashraf, N., Field, E., Rusconi, G., Voena, A., and Ziparo, R. (2017). Traditional Beliefs and Learning about Maternal Risk in Zambia. *American Economic Review*, 107(5):511–515. Number: 5.
- Ashraf, N., Field, E. M., Voena, A., and Ziparo, R. (2020). Maternal Mortality Risk and Spousal Differences in the Demand for Children. Number no. w28220 in NBER working paper series. National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, Mass.

- Aubel, J. (2012). The role and influence of grandmothers on child nutrition: culturally designated advisors and caregivers: Grandmothers: nutrition advisors and caregivers. *Maternal & Child Nutrition*, 8(1):19–35. Number: 1.
- Aubel, J., Martin, S. L., and Cunningham, K. (2021). Introduction: A family systems approach to promote maternal, child and adolescent nutrition. *Maternal & Child Nutrition*, 17(S1). Number: S1.
- Aziz, N., He, J., Sarker, T., and Sui, H. (2021). Exploring the Role of Health Expenditure and Maternal Mortality in South Asian Countries: An Approach towards Shaping Better Health Policy. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(21):11514.
- Balarajan, Y., Selvaraj, S., and Subramanian, S. (2011). Health care and equity in India. *The Lancet*, 377(9764):505–515. Number: 9764.
- Balkrishan, D., Joshi, A., Rajendran, C., Nizam, N., Parab, C., and Devkar, S. (2016). Making and Breaking the User-Usage Model: WhatsApp Adoption Amongst Emergent Users in India. In *Proceedings of the 8th Indian Conference on Human-Computer Interaction*, pages 52–63, Mumbai India. ACM.
- Banerjee, A., La Ferrara, E., and Orozco, V. (2019). Entertainment, Education, and Attitudes Toward Domestic Violence. *AEA Papers and Proceedings*, 109:133–137.
- Banerji, A., Batheja, D., and Deolalikar, A. B. (2023). Co-Residence with Parents-in-Law, Female Labor Force Participation, and Autonomy.
- Barr, A., Dekker, M., and Fafchamps, M. (2012). Who Shares Risk with Whom under Different Enforcement Mechanisms? *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 60(4):677–706. Number: 4 Publisher: The University of Chicago Press.
- Benabou, R. and Tirole, J. (2011). Laws and Norms. Technical Report w17579, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA.
- Bhutta, Z. A., Das, J. K., Bahl, R., Lawn, J. E., Salam, R. A., Paul, V. K., Sankar, M. J., Blencowe, H., Rizvi, A., Chou, V. B., and Walker, N. (2014). Can available interventions end preventable deaths in mothers, newborn babies, and stillbirths, and at what cost? *The Lancet*, 384(9940):347–370. Number: 9940.
- Björkman-Nyqvist, M., Jayachandran, S., and Zipfel, C. (2023). A Mother's Voice: Impacts of Spousal Communication Training on Child Health Investments. Technical Report w30962, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA.
- Bossman, E., Johansen, M. A., and Zanaboni, P. (2022). mHealth interventions to reduce maternal and child mortality in Sub-Saharan Africa and Southern Asia: A systematic literature review. *Frontiers in Global Women's Health*, 3:942146.

- Bowser, D., Gupta, J., and Nandakumar, A. (2016). The Effect of Demand- and Supply-Side Health Financing on Infant, Child, and Maternal Mortality in Low- and Middle-Income Countries. *Health Systems & Reform*, 2(2):147–159.
- Bursztyn, L., Egorov, G., and Jensen, R. (2019). Cool to be Smart or Smart to be Cool? Understanding Peer Pressure in Education. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 86(4):1487–1526. Number: 4.
- Bursztyn, L., González, A., and Yanagizawa-Drott, D. (2018). Misperceived Social Norms: Female Labor Force Participation in Saudi Arabia. Technical Report w24736, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA. Issue: w24736.
- Bursztyn, L. and Jensen, R. (2015). How Does Peer Pressure Affect Educational Investments? The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 130(3):1329–1367. Number: 3.
- Bursztyn, L. and Jensen, R. (2017). Social Image and Economic Behavior in the Field: Identifying, Understanding, and Shaping Social Pressure. Annual Review of Economics, 9(1):131–153. Number: 1.
- Bénabou, R. and Tirole, J. (2006). Incentives and Prosocial Behavior. American Economic Review, 96(5):1652–1678.
- Chakraborty, A., Mohan, D., Scott, K., Sahore, A., Shah, N., Kumar, N., Ummer, O., Bashingwa, J. J. H., Chamberlain, S., Dutt, P., Godfrey, A., and LeFevre, A. E. (2021). Does exposure to health information through mobile phones increase immunisation knowledge, completeness and timeliness in rural India? *BMJ Global Health*, 6(Suppl 5):e005489. Number: Suppl 5.
- Chandran, M., Tharyan, P., Muliyil, J., and Abraham, S. (2002). Post-partum depression in a cohort of women from a rural area of Tamil Nadu, India: Incidence and risk factors. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 181(6):499–504. Number: 6.
- Chandrasekhar, A., Golub, B., and Yang, H. (2018). Signaling, Shame, and Silence in Social Learning. Technical Report w25169, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA. Issue: w25169.
- Chawla, A. (2023). Essays on intra-household decision-making and social networks.
- Chernozhukov, V., Chetverikov, D., Demirer, M., Duflo, E., Hansen, C., Newey, W., and Robins, J. (2018). Double/debiased machine learning for treatment and structural parameters. *The Econometrics Journal*, 21(1):C1–C68. Number: 1.
- Choudhry, U. K. (1997). Traditional Practices of Women From India: Pregnancy, Childbirth, and Newborn Care. Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing, 26(5):533–539. Number: 5.

- Cox, D. and Fafchamps, M. (2007). Chapter 58 Extended Family and Kinship Networks: Economic Insights and Evolutionary Directions. In *Handbook of Development Economics*, volume 4, pages 3711–3784. Elsevier.
- Darmstadt, G. L., Bhutta, Z. A., Cousens, S., Adam, T., Walker, N., and de Bernis, L. (2005). Evidence-based, cost-effective interventions: how many newborn babies can we save? *The Lancet*, 365(9463):977–988. Number: 9463.
- Darmstadt, G. L., Walker, N., Lawn, J. E., Bhutta, Z. A., Haws, R. A., and Cousens, S. (2008). Saving newborn lives in Asia and Africa: cost and impact of phased scale-up of interventions within the continuum of care. *Health Policy and Planning*, 23(2):101–117. Number: 2.
- Datta, V., Ghosh, S., and Aquino, L. D. (2022). Progressing towards SDG 2030 goals with system changes: the India Newborn Action Plan. *BMJ Open Quality*, 11(Suppl 1):e001971. Number: Suppl 1.
- Dol, J., Campbell-Yeo, M., Tomblin Murphy, G., Aston, M., McMillan, D., Gahagan, J., and Richardson, B. (2019a). Parent-targeted postnatal educational interventions in low and middle-income countries: A scoping review and critical analysis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 94:60–73.
- Dol, J., Richardson, B., Tomblin Murphy, G., Aston, M., McMillan, D., and Campbell-Yeo, M. (2019b). Impact of mobile health (mHealth) interventions during the perinatal period for mothers in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports, 17(8):1634–1667.
- Dupas, P. (2011). Health Behavior in Developing Countries. Annual Review of Economics, 3(1):425–449. Number: 1.
- Evans, D. B., Adam, T., Edejer, T. T.-T., Lim, S. S., Cassels, A., and Evans, T. G. (2005). Time to reassess strategies for improving health in developing countries. *BMJ*, 331(7525):1133–1136. Number: 7525.
- Fahey, J. O. and Shenassa, E. (2013). Understanding and Meeting the Needs of Women in the Postpartum Period: The Perinatal Maternal Health Promotion Model. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health*, 58(6):613–621. Number: 6 _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/jmwh.12139.
- Feroz, A., Perveen, S., and Aftab, W. (2017). Role of mHealth applications for improving antenatal and postnatal care in low and middle income countries: a systematic review. *BMC Health Services Research*, 17(1):704. Number: 1.
- Flores, M. and Kalwij, A. (2014). The associations between early life circumstances and later life health and employment in Europe. *Empirical Economics*, 47(4):1251–1282. Number: 4.

- Fotso, J.-C., Ezeh, A. C., and Essendi, H. (2009). Maternal health in resource-poor urban settings: how does women's autonomy influence the utilization of obstetric care services? *Reproductive Health*, 6(1):9.
- Gaikwad, L., Taluja, Z., Kannuri, N. K., and Singh, S. (2020). Caregiver knowledge, attitude and practices about early child development in Telangana, India: a cross-sectional study. *International Journal of Contemporary Pediatrics*, 7(10):1940. Number: 10.
- Garcia-Esteve, L., Navarro, P., Ascaso, C., Torres, A., Aguado, J., Gelabert, E., and Martín-Santos, R. (2008). Family caregiver role and premenstrual syndrome as associated factors for postnatal depression. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 11(3):193–200. Number: 3.
- Gausia, K., Fisher, C., Ali, M., and Oosthuizen, J. (2009). Antenatal depression and suicidal ideation among rural Bangladeshi women: a community-based study. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 12(5):351–358. Number: 5.
- Ghosh, P. and Thornton, R. (2024). The mother-in-law effect: Heterogeneous impacts of counseling on family planning take-up in Jordan. *Review of Economics of the Household*.
- Gibson, D. G., Ochieng, B., Kagucia, E. W., Were, J., Hayford, K., Moulton, L. H., Levine, O. S., Odhiambo, F., O'Brien, K. L., and Feikin, D. R. (2017). Mobile phone-delivered reminders and incentives to improve childhood immunisation coverage and timeliness in Kenya (M-SIMU): a cluster randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Global Health*, 5(4):e428–e438. Number: 4.
- Gilmer, C., Buchan, J. L., Letourneau, N., Bennett, C. T., Shanker, S. G., Fenwick, A., and Smith-Chant, B. (2016). Parent education interventions designed to support the transition to parenthood: A realist review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 59:118–133.
- Gram, L., Skordis-Worrall, J., Mannell, J., Manandhar, D. S., Saville, N., and Morrison, J. (2018). Revisiting the patriarchal bargain: The intergenerational power dynamics of household money management in rural Nepal. World Development, 112:193–204.
- Gupta, S. D., Khanna, A., Gupta, R., Sharma, N. K., and Sharma, N. D. (2010). Maternal Mortality Ratio and Predictors of Maternal Deaths in Selected Desert Districts in Rajasthan. Women's Health Issues, 20(1):80–85. Number: 1.
- Haenni, S. and Lichand, G. (2021). Harming to signal: child marriage vs. public donations in Malawi. Publisher: University of Zurich.
- Hopewell, S., Clarke, M., Moher, D., Wager, E., Middleton, P., Altman, D. G., and Schulz, K. F. (2008a). CONSORT for reporting randomised trials in journal and conference abstracts. *The Lancet*, 371(9609):281–283.

- Hopewell, S., Clarke, M., Moher, D., Wager, E., Middleton, P., Altman, D. G., Schulz, K. F., and and the CONSORT Group (2008b). CONSORT for Reporting Randomized Controlled Trials in Journal and Conference Abstracts: Explanation and Elaboration. *PLoS Medicine*, 5(1):e20.
- Horton, S. and Levin, C. (2016). Cost-Effectiveness of Interventions for Reproductive, Maternal, Neonatal, and Child Health. In Black, R. E., Laxminarayan, R., Temmerman, M., and Walker, N., editors, *Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health: Disease Control Priorities, Third Edition (Volume 2)*. The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank, Washington (DC).
- Ioannidis, J. P. (2004). Better Reporting of Harms in Randomized Trials: An Extension of the CONSORT Statement. Annals of Internal Medicine, 141(10):781.
- Jalan, J. and Somanathan, E. (2008). The importance of being informed: Experimental evidence on demand for environmental quality. *Journal of Development Economics*, 87(1):14–28. Number: 1.
- Kandiyoti, D. (1988). BARGAINING WITH PATRIARCHY. Gender & Society, 2(3):274–290. Number: 3.
- Karing, A. (2019). Social Signaling and Childhood Immunization: A Field Experiment in Sierra Leone.
- Kashyap, S., Spielman, A. F., Ramnarayan, N., Sd, S., Pant, R., Kaur, B., N, R., Premkumar, R., Singh, T., Pratap, B., Kumar, A., Alam, S., and Murthy, S. (2022). Impact of family-centred postnatal training on maternal and neonatal health and care practices in district hospitals in two states in India: a pre-post study. *BMJ Open Quality*, 11(Suppl 1):e001462. Number: Suppl 1.
- Kassebaum, N. J., Barber, R. M., Bhutta, Z. A., Dandona, L., Gething, P. W., Hay, S. I., Kinfu, Y., Larson, H. J., Liang, X., Lim, S. S., Lopez, A. D., Lozano, R., Mensah, G. A., Mokdad, A. H., Naghavi, M., Pinho, C., Salomon, J. A., Steiner, C., Vos, T., Wang, H., Abajobir, A. A., Abate, K. H., Abbas, K. M., Abd-Allah, F., Abdallat, M. A., Abdulle, A. M., Abera, S. F., Aboyans, V., Abubakar, I., Abu-Rmeileh, N. M. E., Achoki, T., Adebiyi, A. O., Adedeji, I. A., Adelekan, A. L., Adou, A. K., Afanvi, K. A., Agarwal, A., Kiadaliri, A. A., Ajala, O. N., Akinyemiju, T. F., Akseer, N., Al-Aly, Z., Alam, K., Alam, N. K. M., Alasfoor, D., Aldhahri, S. F., Aldridge, R. W., Alhabib, S., Ali, R., Alkerwi, A., Alla, F., Al-Raddadi, R., Alsharif, U., Martin, E. A., Alvis-Guzman, N., Amare, A. T., Amberbir, A., Amegah, A. K., Ammar, W., Amrock, S. M., Andersen, H. H., Anderson, G. M., Antoine, R. M., Antonio, C. A. T., Aregay, A. F., Ärnlöv, J., Arora, M., Arsenijevic, V. S. A., Artaman, A., Asayesh, H., Atique, S., Avokpaho, E. F. G. A., Awasthi, A., Quintanilla, B. P. A., Azzopardi, P., Bacha, U., Badawi, A., Bahit, M. C., Balakrishnan, K., Banerjee, A., Barac, A., Barker-Collo, S. L., Bärnighausen, T.,

Basu, S., Bayou, T. A., Bayou, Y. T., Bazargan-Hejazi, S., Beardsley, J., Wang, N. H., Bedi, Bekele, T., Bell, M. L., Bennett, D. A., Bensenor, I. M., Berhane, A., Bernabé, E., Betsu, B. D., Beyene, A. S., Biadgilign, S., Bikbov, B., Abdulhak, A. A. B., Biroscak, B. J., Biryukov, S., Bisanzio, D., Bjertness, E., Blore, J. D., Brainin, M., Brazinova, A., Breitborde, N. J. K., Brugha, T. S., Butt, Z. A., Campos-Nonato, I. R., Campuzano, J. C., Cárdenas, R., Carrero, J. J., Carter, A., Casey, D. C., Castañeda-Orjuela, C. A., Castro, R. E., Catalá-López, F., Cavalleri, F., Chang, H.-Y., Chang, J.-C., Chavan, L., Chibueze, C. E., Chisumpa, V. H., Choi, J.-Y. J., Chowdhury, R., Christopher, D. J., Ciobanu, L. G., Cirillo, M., Coates, M. M., Coggeshall, M., Colistro, V., Colquhoun, S. M., Cooper, C., Cooper, L. T., Cortinovis, M., Dahiru, T., Damasceno, A., Danawi, H., Dandona, R., Das Neves, J., Leo, D. D., Dellavalle, R. P., Deribe, K., Deribew, A., Des Jarlais, D. C., Dharmaratne, S. D., Dicker, D. J., Ding, E. L., Dossou, E., Dubey, M., Ebel, B. E., Ellingsen, C. L., Elyazar, I., Endries, A. Y., Ermakov, S. P., Eshrati, B., Esteghamati, A., Faraon, E. J. A., Farid, T. A., Farinha, C. S. E. S., Faro, A., Farvid, M. S., Farzadfar, F., Fereshtehnejad, S.-M., Fernandes, J. C., Fischer, F., Fitchett, J. R. A., Fleming, T., Foigt, N., Franca, E. B., Franklin, R. C., Fraser, M. S., Friedman, J., Fullman, N., Fürst, T., Futran, N. D., Gambashidze, K., Gamkrelidze, A., Gebre, T., Gebrehiwot, T. T., Gebremedhin, A. T., Gebremedhin, M., Gebru, A. A., Geleijnse, J. M., Gibney, K. B., Giref, A. Z., Giroud, M., Gishu, M. D., Glaser, E., Goenka, S., Gomez-Dantes, H., Gona, P., Goodridge, A., Gopalani, S. V., Goto, A., Graetz, N., Gugnani, H. C., Guo, Y., Gupta, R., Gupta, R., Gupta, V., Hafezi-Nejad, N., Hailu, A. D., Hailu, G. B., Hamadeh, R. R., Hamidi, S., Hancock, J., Handal, A. J., Hankey, G. J., Harb, H. L., Harikrishnan, S., Harun, K. M., Havmoeller, R., Hoek, H. W., Horino, M., Horita, N., Hosgood, H. D., Hoy, D. G., Htet, A. S., Hu, G., Huang, H., Huang, J. J., Huybrechts, I., Huynh, C., Iannarone, M., Iburg, K. M., Idrisov, B. T., Iyer, V. J., Jacobsen, K. H., Jahanmehr, N., Jakovljevic, M. B., Javanbakht, M., Jayatilleke, A. U., Jee, S. H., Jeemon, P., Jha, V., Jiang, G., Jiang, Y., Jibat, T., Jonas, J. B., Kabir, Z., Kamal, R., Kan, H., Karch, A., Karletsos, D., Kasaeian, A., Kaul, A., Kawakami, N., Kayibanda, J. F., Kazanjan, K., Kazi, D. S., Keiyoro, P. N., Kemmer, L., Kemp, A. H., Kengne, A. P., Keren, A., Kereselidze, M., Kesavachandran, C. N., Khader, Y. S., Khan, A. R., Khan, E. A., Khang, Y.-H., Khonelidze, I., Khosravi, A., Khubchandani, J., Kim, Y. J., Kivipelto, M., Knibbs, L. D., Kokubo, Y., Kosen, S., Koul, P. A., Koyanagi, A., Krishnaswami, S., Defo, B. K., Bicer, B. K., Kudom, A. A., Kulikoff, X. R., Kulkarni, C., Kumar, G. A., Kutz, M. J., Lal, D. K., Lalloo, R., Lam, H., Lamadrid-Figueroa, H., Lan, Q., Larsson, A., Laryea, D. O., Leigh, J., Leung, R., Li, Y., Li, Y., Lipshultz, S. E., Liu, P. Y., Liu, S., Liu, Y., Lloyd, B. K., Lotufo, P. A., Lunevicius, R., Ma, S., Razek, H. M. A. E., Razek, M. M. A. E., Majdan, M., Majeed, A., Malekzadeh, R., Mapoma, C. C., Marcenes, W., Margolis, D. J., Marquez, N., Masiye, F., Marzan, M. B., Mason-Jones, A. J., Mazorodze, T. T., Meaney, P. A., Mehari, A., Mehndiratta, M. M., Mejia-Rodriguez, F., Mekonnen, A. B., Melaku, Y. A., Memish, Z. A., Mendoza, W., Meretoja, A., Meretoja, T. J., Mhimbira, F. A., Miller, T. R., Mills, E. J., Mirarefin, M., Misganaw, A., Ibrahim, N. M., Mohammad, K. A.,

Mohammadi, A., Mohammed, S., Mola, G. L. D., Monasta, L., De La Cruz Monis, J., Hernandez, J. C. M., Montero, P., Montico, M., Mooney, M. D., Moore, A. R., Moradi-Lakeh, M., Morawska, L., Mori, R., Mueller, U. O., Murthy, G. V. S., Murthy, S., Nachega, J. B., Naheed, A., Naldi, L., Nand, D., Nangia, V., Nash, D., Neupane, S., Newton, J. N., Ng, M., Ngalesoni, F. N., Nguhiu, P., Nguyen, G., Nguyen, Q. L., Nisar, M. I., Nomura, M., Norheim, O. F., Norman, R. E., Nyakarahuka, L., Obermeyer, C. M., Ogbo, F. A., Oh, I.-H., Ojelabi, F. A., Olivares, P. R., Olusanya, B. O., Olusanya, J. O., Opio, J. N., Oren, E., Ota, E., Oyekale, A. S., Pa, M., Pain, A., Papantoniou, N., Park, E.-K., Park, H.-Y., Caicedo, A. J. P., Patten, S. B., Paul, V. K., Pereira, D. M., Perico, N., Pesudovs, K., Petzold, M., Phillips, M. R., Pillay, J. D., Pishgar, F., Polinder, S., Pope, D., Pourmalek, F., Qorbani, M., Rafay, A., Rahimi, K., Rahimi-Movaghar, V., Rahman, M., Rahman, M. H. U., Rahman, S. U., Rai, R. K., Ram, U., Ranabhat, C. L., Rangaswamy, T., Rao, P. V., Refaat, A. H., Remuzzi, G., Resnikoff, S., Rojas-Rueda, D., Ronfani, L., Roshandel, G., Roy, A., Ruhago, G. M., Sagar, R., Saleh, M. M., Sanabria, J. R., Sanchez-Niño, M. D., Santos, I. S., Santos, J. V., Sarmiento-Suarez, R., Sartorius, B., Satpathy, M., Savic, M., Sawhney, M., Saylan, M. I., Schneider, I. J. C., Schwebel, D. C., Seedat, S., Sepanlou, S. G., Servan-Mori, E. E., Setegn, T., Shackelford, K. A., Shaikh, M. A., Shakh-Nazarova, M., Sharma, R., She, J., Sheikhbahaei, S., Shen, J., Shibuya, K., Shin, M.-J., Shiri, R., Shishani, K., Shiue, I., Sigfusdottir, I. D., Silpakit, N., Silva, D. A. S., Silveira, D. G. A., Silverberg, J. I., Simard, E. P., Sindi, S., Singh, A., Singh, J. A., Singh, O. P., Singh, P. K., Singh, V., Skirbekk, V., Sligar, A., Sliwa, K., Smith, J. M., Soneji, S., Sorensen, R. J. D., Soriano, J. B., Soshnikov, S., Sposato, L. A., Sreeramareddy, C. T., Stathopoulou, V., Stroumpoulis, K., Sturua, L., Sunguya, B. F., Swaminathan, S., Sykes, B. L., Szoeke, C. E. I., Tabarés-Seisdedos, R., Tabb, K. M., Talongwa, R. T., Tavakkoli, M., Taye, B., Tedla, B. A., Tefera, W. M., Tekle, T., Shifa, G. T., Terkawi, A. S., Tesfay, F. H., Tessema, G. A., Thomson, A. J., Thorne-Lyman, A. L., Tobe-Gai, R., Topor-Madry, R., Towbin, J. A., Tran, B. X., Dimbuene, Z. T., Tura, A. K., Tyrovolas, S., Ukwaja, K. N., Uthman, O. A., Vasankari, T., Venketasubramanian, N., Violante, F. S., Vladimirov, S. K., Vlassov, V. V., Vollset, S. E., Wagner, J. A., Wang, L., Weichenthal, S., Weiderpass, E., Weintraub, R. G., Werdecker, A., Westerman, R., Wijeratne, T., Wilkinson, J. D., Wiysonge, C. S., Woldeyohannes, S. M., Wolfe, C. D. A., Wolock, T., Won, S., Wubshet, M., Xiao, Q., Xu, G., Yadav, A. K., Yakob, B., Yalew, A. Z., Yano, Y., Yebyo, H. G., Yip, P., Yonemoto, N., Yoon, S.-J., Younis, M. Z., Yu, C., Yu, S., Zaidi, Z., Zaki, M. E. S., Zeeb, H., Zhao, Y., Zhao, Y., Zhou, M., Zodpey, S., Zuhlke, L. J., and Murray, C. J. L. (2016). Global, regional, and national levels of maternal mortality, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. The Lancet, 388(10053):1775–1812. Number: 10053.

Kesterton, A. J. and Cleland, J. (2009). Neonatal care in rural Karnataka: healthy and harmful practices, the potential for change. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 9(1):20. Number: 1.

- Khalil, U. and Mookerjee, S. (2019). Patrilocal Residence and Women's Social Status:
 Evidence from South Asia. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 67(2):401–438.
 Number: 2 Publisher: The University of Chicago Press.
- Khanna, M. and Pandey, D. (2020). Reinforcing gender norms or easing housework burdens? The role of mothers-in-law in determining women's labor force participation.
- Knippenberg, R., Lawn, J. E., Darmstadt, G. L., Begkoyian, G., Fogstad, H., Walelign, N., and Paul, V. K. (2005). Systematic scaling up of neonatal care in countries. *The Lancet*, 365(9464):1087–1098. Number: 9464.
- Kremer, M. and Miguel, E. (2007). The Illusion of Sustainability. *The Quarterly Journal* of *Economics*, 122(3):1007–1065. Number: 3.
- Lawn, J. E., Cousens, S., Bhutta, Z. A., Darmstadt, G. L., Martines, J., Paul, V., Knippenberg, R., Fogstadt, H., Shetty, P., and Horton, R. (2004). Why are 4 million newborn babies dying each year? *The Lancet*, 364(9432):399–401. Number: 9432.
- Lawn, J. E., Cousens, S., and Zupan, J. (2005). 4 million neonatal deaths: When? Where? Why? The Lancet, 365(9462):891–900. Number: 9462.
- Lee, J. and Bauer, J. W. (2013). Motivations for Providing and Utilizing Child Care by Grandmothers in South Korea. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 75(2):381–402. Number: 2.
- LeFevre, A. E., Mendiratta, J., Jo, Y., Chamberlain, S., Ummer, O., Miller, M., Scott, K., Shah, N., Chakraborty, A., Godfrey, A., Dutt, P., and Mohan, D. (2023). Cost-effectiveness of a direct to beneficiary mobile communication programme in improving reproductive and child health outcomes in India. *BMJ Global Health*, 6(Suppl 5):e009553.
- LeFevre, A. E., Shah, N., Scott, K., Chamberlain, S., Ummer, O., Bashingwa, J. J. H., Chakraborty, A., Godfrey, A., Dutt, P., Ved, R., and Mohan, D. (2022). The impact of a direct to beneficiary mobile communication program on reproductive and child health outcomes: a randomised controlled trial in India. *BMJ Global Health*, 6(Suppl 5):e008838.
- Leonard, K. L., Adelman, S. W., and Essam, T. (2009). Idle chatter or learning? Evidence of social learning about clinicians and the health system from rural Tanzania. *Social Science & Medicine*, 69(2):183–190. Number: 2.
- Liu, L., Chu, Y., Oza, S., Hogan, D., Perin, J., Bassani, D. G., Ram, U., Fadel, S. A., Pandey, A., Dhingra, N., Sahu, D., Kumar, P., Cibulskis, R., Wahl, B., Shet, A., Mathers, C., Lawn, J., Jha, P., Kumar, R., Black, R. E., and Cousens, S. (2019). National, regional, and state-level all-cause and cause-specific under-5 mortality in India

in 2000–15: a systematic analysis with implications for the Sustainable Development Goals. *The Lancet Global Health*, 7(6):e721–e734. Number: 6.

- Lopez-Gonzalez, D. M. and Kopparapu, A. K. (2023). Postpartum Care of the New Mother. In *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island (FL).
- Lubis, T. A., Gunardi, H., Herqutanto, Soedjatmiko, S., Satari, H. I., Alatas, F. S., and Pulungan, A. B. (2022). Educational videos to address vaccine hesitancy in childhood immunization. *Vaccine*, 40(41):5965–5970. Number: 41.
- Lund, S., Nielsen, B. B., Hemed, M., Boas, I. M., Said, A., Said, K., Makungu, M. H., and Rasch, V. (2014). Mobile phones improve antenatal care attendance in Zanzibar: a cluster randomized controlled trial. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 14(1):29. Number: 1.
- Lutkiewicz, K., Bieleninik, , Cieślak, M., and Bidzan, M. (2020). Maternal–Infant Bonding and Its Relationships with Maternal Depressive Symptoms, Stress and Anxiety in the Early Postpartum Period in a Polish Sample. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(15):5427. Number: 15.
- Madajewicz, M., Pfaff, A., Van Geen, A., Graziano, J., Hussein, I., Momotaj, H., Sylvi, R., and Ahsan, H. (2007). Can information alone change behavior? Response to arsenic contamination of groundwater in Bangladesh. *Journal of Development Economics*, 84(2):731–754. Number: 2.
- Martin, S. L., McCann, J. K., Gascoigne, E., Allotey, D., Fundira, D., and Dickin, K. L. (2020). Mixed-Methods Systematic Review of Behavioral Interventions in Low- and Middle-Income Countries to Increase Family Support for Maternal, Infant, and Young Child Nutrition during the First 1000 Days. *Current Developments in Nutrition*, 4(6):nzaa085. Number: 6.
- Martin, S. L., McCann, J. K., Gascoigne, E., Allotey, D., Fundira, D., and Dickin, K. L. (2021). Engaging family members in maternal, infant and young child nutrition activities in low- and middle-income countries: A systematic scoping review. *Maternal & Child Nutrition*, 17(S1). Number: S1.
- Martines, J., Paul, V. K., Bhutta, Z. A., Koblinsky, M., Soucat, A., Walker, N., Bahl, R., Fogstad, H., and Costello, A. (2005). Neonatal survival: a call for action. *The Lancet*, 365(9465):1189–1197. Number: 9465.
- Meh, C., Sharma, A., Ram, U., Fadel, S., Correa, N., Snelgrove, J., Shah, P., Begum, R., Shah, M., Hana, T., Fu, S., Raveendran, L., Mishra, B., and Jha, P. (2022). Trends in maternal mortality in India over two decades in nationally representative surveys. *BJOG:* An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 129(4):550–561. Number: 4.

- Mohamad Pilus, F., Ahmad, N., Mohd Zulkefli, N. A., and Mohd Shukri, N. H. (2022).
 Effect of Face-to-Face and WhatsApp Communication of a Theory-Based Health
 Education Intervention on Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy (SeBF Intervention): Cluster
 Randomized Controlled Field Trial. JMIR mHealth and uHealth, 10(9):e31996. Number:
 9.
- Mohan, D., Bashingwa, J. J. H., Tiffin, N., Dhar, D., Mulder, N., George, A., and LeFevre, A. E. (2020). Does having a mobile phone matter? Linking phone access among women to health in India: An exploratory analysis of the National Family Health Survey. *PLOS ONE*, 15(7):e0236078. Number: 7.
- Mondal, D., Karmakar, S., and Banerjee, A. (2020). Women's autonomy and utilization of maternal healthcare in India: Evidence from a recent national survey. *PLOS ONE*, 15(12):e0243553. Number: 12.
- Montgomery, A. L., Ram, U., Kumar, R., Jha, P., and for The Million Death Study Collaborators (2014). Maternal Mortality in India: Causes and Healthcare Service Use Based on a Nationally Representative Survey. *PLoS ONE*, 9(1):e83331. Number: 1.
- Murthy, N., Chandrasekharan, S., Prakash, M. P., Kaonga, N. N., Peter, J., Ganju, A., and Mechael, P. N. (2019). The Impact of an mHealth Voice Message Service (mMitra) on Infant Care Knowledge, and Practices Among Low-Income Women in India: Findings from a Pseudo-Randomized Controlled Trial. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 23(12):1658–1669.
- Murthy, S., Yan, S. D., Alam, S., Kumar, A., Rangarajan, A., Sawant, M., Sulaiman, H., Yadav, B. P., Singh Pathani, T., Kumar H. G., A., Kak, S., A. M., V., Kaur, B., N., R., Mishra, A., Elliott, E., Delaney, M. M., and Semrau, K. E. A. (2023). Improving neonatal health with family-centered, early postnatal care: A quasi-experimental study in India. *PLOS Global Public Health*, 3(5):e0001240. Number: 5.
- NFHS (2016a). National Family Health Survey (NFHS-4).
- NFHS (2016b). National Family Health Survey (NFHS-4).
- Nguyen, P. H., Kachwaha, S., Avula, R., Young, M., Tran, L. M., Ghosh, S., Agrawal, R., Escobar-Alegria, J., Patil, S., and Menon, P. (2019). Maternal nutrition practices in Uttar Pradesh, India: Role of key influential demand and supply factors. *Maternal & Child Nutrition*, 15(4). Number: 4.
- Nyqvist, M. B. and Jayachandran, S. (2017). Mothers Care More, But Fathers Decide: Educating Parents about Child Health in Uganda. American Economic Review, 107(5):496–500. Number: 5.

- Ogbo, F. A., Dhami, M. V., Ude, E. M., Senanayake, P., Osuagwu, U. L., Awosemo, A. O., Ogeleka, P., Akombi, B. J., Ezeh, O. K., and Agho, K. E. (2019). Enablers and Barriers to the Utilization of Antenatal Care Services in India. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(17):3152. Number: 17.
- Ohara, M., Okada, T., Aleksic, B., Morikawa, M., Kubota, C., Nakamura, Y., Shiino, T., Yamauchi, A., Uno, Y., Murase, S., Goto, S., Kanai, A., Masuda, T., Nakatochi, M., Ando, M., and Ozaki, N. (2017). Social support helps protect against perinatal bonding failure and depression among mothers: a prospective cohort study. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1):9546. Number: 1.
- Peña-Rosas, J. P., De-Regil, L. M., Garcia-Casal, M. N., and Dowswell, T. (2015). Daily oral iron supplementation during pregnancy. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2015(7). Number: 7.
- Pulgaron, E. R., Marchante, A. N., Agosto, Y., Lebron, C. N., and Delamater, A. M. (2016). Grandparent involvement and children's health outcomes: The current state of the literature. *Families, Systems, & Health*, 34(3):260–269. Number: 3.
- Reid, K. M. and Taylor, M. G. (2015). Social support, stress, and maternal postpartum depression: A comparison of supportive relationships. *Social Science Research*, 54:246–262.
- Richardson, B., Dol, J., Rutledge, K., Monaghan, J., Orovec, A., Howie, K., Boates, T., Smit, M., and Campbell-Yeo, M. (2019). Evaluation of Mobile Apps Targeted to Parents of Infants in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit: Systematic App Review. *JMIR mHealth* and uHealth, 7(4):e11620.
- Robertson, E. (2003). MATERNAL MENTAL HEALTH.
- Robertson, E., Grace, S., Wallington, T., and Stewart, D. E. (2004). Antenatal risk factors for postpartum depression: a synthesis of recent literature. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 26(4):289–295. Number: 4.
- Rossi, P. (2019). Strategic Choices in Polygamous Households: Theory and Evidence from Senegal. The Review of Economic Studies, 86(3):1332–1370. Number: 3.
- Sadruddin, A. F., Ponguta, L. A., Zonderman, A. L., Wiley, K. S., Grimshaw, A., and Panter-Brick, C. (2019). How do grandparents influence child health and development? A systematic review. *Social Science & Medicine*, 239:112476.
- Scott, K., Ummer, O., Shinde, A., Sharma, M., Yadav, S., Jairath, A., Purty, N., Shah, N., Mohan, D., Chamberlain, S., and LeFevre, A. E. (2021). Another voice in the crowd: the challenge of changing family planning and child feeding practices through mHealth messaging in rural central India. *BMJ Global Health*, 6(Suppl 5):e005868. Number: Suppl 5.

- Shorrocks, A. F. (1979). On the Structure of Inter-Generational Transfers between Families. *Economica*, 46(184):415. Number: 184.
- Slomian, J., Honvo, G., Emonts, P., Reginster, J.-Y., and Bruyère, O. (2019). Consequences of maternal postpartum depression: A systematic review of maternal and infant outcomes. *Women's Health*, 15:174550651984404.
- Suandi, D., Williams, P., and Bhattacharya, S. (2020). Does involving male partners in antenatal care improve healthcare utilisation? Systematic review and meta-analysis of the published literature from low- and middle-income countries. *International Health*, 12(5):484–498.
- Subramanian, L., Murthy, S., Bogam, P., Yan, S. D., Marx Delaney, M., Goodwin, C. D. G., Bobanski, L., Rangarajan, A. S., Bhowmik, A., Kashyap, S., Ramnarayan, N., Hawrusik, R., Bell, G., Kaur, B., Rajkumar, N., Mishra, A., Alam, S. S., and Semrau, K. E. A. (2020). Just-in-time postnatal education programees to improve newborn care practices: needs and opportunities in low-resource settings. *BMJ Global Health*, 5(7):e002660. Number: 7.
- Subramanian, S. (2008). Health Inequalities in India: The Axes of Stratification. *The* Brown Journal of World Affairs.
- Tandon, R., Jain, A., and Malhotra, P. (2018). Management of Iron Deficiency Anemia in Pregnancy in India. *Indian Journal of Hematology and Blood Transfusion*, 34(2):204–215. Number: 2.
- Tichelman, E., Westerneng, M., Witteveen, A. B., Van Baar, A. L., Van Der Horst, H. E., De Jonge, A., Berger, M. Y., Schellevis, F. G., Burger, H., and Peters, L. L. (2019). Correlates of prenatal and postnatal mother-to-infant bonding quality: A systematic review. *PLOS ONE*, 14(9):e0222998. Number: 9.
- Tomori, C., Hernández-Cordero, S., Busath, N., Menon, P., and Pérez-Escamilla, R. (2022). What works to protect, promote and support breastfeeding on a large scale: A review of reviews. *Maternal & Child Nutrition*, 18(S3). Number: S3.
- Tripathy, J. P. and Mishra, S. (2017). Causes and Predictors of Neonatal, Post-neonatal and Maternal Deaths in India: Analysis of a Nationwide District-Level Household Survey-4 (DLHS-4), 2012–13. Journal of Tropical Pediatrics, 63(6):431–439.
- UNICEF (2023). Improving maternal and newborn health and survival and reducing stillbirth.
- Varghese, R. and Roy, M. (2019). Coresidence with mother-in-law and maternal anemia in rural India. Social Science & Medicine, 226:37–46.

- Vázquez-Vázquez, A. D. P., Fewtrell, M. S., Chan-García, H., Batún-Marrufo, C., Dickinson, F., and Wells, J. C. K. (2022). Do maternal grandmothers influence breastfeeding duration and infant nutrition? Evidence from Merida, Mexico. American Journal of Biological Anthropology, 179(3):444–459. Number: 3.
- Watterson, J. L., Walsh, J., and Madeka, I. (2015). Using mHealth to Improve Usage of Antenatal Care, Postnatal Care, and Immunization: A Systematic Review of the Literature. *BioMed Research International*, 2015:1–9.
- Withers, M., Kharazmi, N., and Lim, E. (2018). Traditional beliefs and practices in pregnancy, childbirth and postpartum: A review of the evidence from Asian countries. *Midwifery*, 56:158–170.
- Yan, S. D., S.d, S., Desai, M., Delaney, M. M., Bobanski, L., Rajkumar, N., Murthy, S., and Henrich, N. (2023). Qualitative assessment of family caregiver-centered neonatal education program in Karnataka, India. *PLOS Global Public Health*, 3(2):e0000524. Number: 2 Publisher: Public Library of Science.
- Yargawa, J. and Leonardi-Bee, J. (2015). Male involvement and maternal health outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 69(6):604–612.

Appendix A

Chapter 2 – Supplementary Tables and Figures

	Ν	n (%)
Age	219	24.66 ± 0.22
Live in a rural village	219	154 (70.32)
State		
Madhya Pradesh	219	95 (43.38)
Karnataka	219	37 (16.90)
Punjab	219	75 (34.24)
Maharashtra	219	12 (5.48)
Caste		
General	219	71 (32.43)
Scheduled caste (SC)	219	62 (28.11)
Scheduled tribe (ST)	219	23 (10.27)
Not specified	219	34 (15.52)
Primary spoken language		
Hindi	209	107 (51.12)
Kannada	209	28 (13.40)
Punjabi	209	63 (30.14)
Marathi	209	7 (3.35)
Socio-economic status		
Ownership of HH goods - out of 7	219	4.74 ± 0.09
Ownership of Below Poverty Line (BPL) Card	219	121 (55.25)
Household characteristics		
Household size	219	4.48 ± 0.11
Number of years married	219	4.62 ± 0.23
Number of previous children	219	1.25 ± 0.05
Birth-related characteristics		
First-time mothers	219	119 (54.33)
Postpartum residence in maternal home	219	122 (55.70)

Table A.1: Birthing woman descriptive characteristics (no consenting caregiver)

Notes: This table presents the descriptive characteristics of birthing women in the analysis sample, whose caregivers did not consent to the survey. Data are displayed as either mean \pm SD or n(%). Socio-economic status is presented as a score by counting the ownership of seven common household goods. Ownership of the Below Poverty Line (BPL) card is an indicator for whether the respondent's family has a government issued card. Postpartum residence in maternal home is an indicator for whether the respondent (birthing woman) lived in their mother's home immediately following birth.

	n	%
Spouse	170	30.91
Mother	142	25.82
Mother-in-law	96	17.45
Other	36	6.55
Daughter	31	5.64
Sister	26	4.73
Sister-in-law	18	3.27
Father	12	2.18
Brother	5	0.91
Father-in-law	3	0.55
Maternal aunt	3	0.55
Niece	2	0.36
Grandmother	2	0.36
Children of other family members	2	0.36
Son	1	0.18
Cousin	1	0.18

Table A.2: Types of caregivers, by relationship to birthing women (N=551)

Notes: This table presents the n and % for the caregiver relationships as reported by the birthing woman and in relation to her

	Spouse	(N = 170)	Mother	(N = 142)	Mother in l	aw (N = 96)
	u	%	u	%	u	%
I am afraid to go to the doctor/hospital to seek treatment	69	40.59	52	36.62	34	35.42
The ASHA/ANM is too busy with her work and are unable to respond to my concerns	78	45.88	88	61.97	40	41.67
I don't have any family or friends to turn to as nobody is allowed to step outside	61	35.88	92	64.79	41	42.71
I am spending a lot more time taking care of children	138	81.18	126	88.73	74	77.08
I do not feeling like eating; my appetite was poor	33	19.41	16	16.90	16	16.67
My husband and I are fighting more	12	7.06	9	4.23	9	6.25
I am worried about my health	55	32.35	42	29.58	30	31.25
I am worried about the health of my baby	99	38.82	48	33.80	34	35.42
I am bothered by things that didn't usually bother me	51	30.00	25	17.61	13	13.54
The environment in my home is tense	29	17.16	36	25.35	12	12.50

Table A.3: Mental well being index components (N = 551)

Notes:This table presents the n and % for the respondents answering yes to the components of the mental well-being index

	Spouse	(N = 170)	Mother	(N = 142)	Mother in	law (N = 96)
	u	%	u	%	u	%
I am afraid to go to the docott/hospital to seek treatment	69	40.59	52	36.62	34	35.42
The ASHA/ANM is too busy with her work and are unable to respond to my concerns	78	45.88	88	61.97	40	41.67
I don't have any family or friends to turn to as nobody is allowed to step outside	61	35.88	92	64.79	41	42.71
I am spending a lot more time taking care of children	138	81.18	126	88.73	74	77.08
I do not feeling like eating; my appetite was poor	33	19.41	16	16.90	16	16.67
My husband and I are fighting more	12	7.06	9	4.23	9	6.25
I am worried about my health	55	32.35	42	29.58	30	31.25
I am worried about the health of my baby	99	38.82	48	33.80	34	35.42
I am bothered by things that didn't usually bother me	51	30.00	25	17.61	13	13.54
The environment in my home is tense	29	17.16	36	25.35	12	12.50

Table A.4: Mental well being index components by dyad

Notes: This table presents the n and % for the respondents answering yes to the components of the mental well-being index, shown by the core dyads they belong to

Appendix B

Chapter 3 – Supplementary Tables and Figures

B.1 Tables

Table B.1: Phase-wise sample

	Ba	seline	Midline		Midline Endli		ndline
Phase	Villages	Households	Villages	Households	Villages	Households	
1	66	479	56	354	65	442	
2	59	497	58	447	59	445	
3	65	576	64	476	65	494	
4	51	442	51	399	51	361	
5	55	415	54	353	52	295	

Notes: This table presents the phase-wise sample for baseline, midlne and endline

õ
40
Ľ,
E
le
du
sar
ne
El:
JS(
q
in
cs
sti
ti
sta
50
J.L.
Βį
Ш
su
2
lav
'n
Г.
te
gh Sh
n
Õ
5.
Ш
Ð
ĮΠ
Ца

	Contr (n=66	9 ()	T1: Individ Only DIL (1	lual + 1=455)	T2: Individ DIL&MIL (lual + n=442)	T3:Group - DIL (n=	+ Only 421)	T4: Gro DIL&MIL	up + (n=427)
	mean	sd	mean	sd	mean	ps	mean	ps	mean	ps
Daughter-in-law characteristics										
Age at baseline	23.131	3.062	23.547	3.410	23.532	3.235	23.333	3.228	23.3	3.374
Years of schooling completed	9.039	3.491	8.657	3.474	8.425	3.298	8.77	3.412	8.593	3.59
Religion: Hindu	0.959	0.198	0.982	0.132	0.989	0.106	0.986	0.119	0.991	0.096
Social category: General	0.089	0.285	0.073	0.260	0.075	0.263	0.078	0.269	0.07	0.256
Social category: Scheduled caste/ Scheduled tribe	0.334	0.472	0.409	0.492	0.353	0.478	0.352	0.478	0.349	0.477
Social category: Other backward castes	0.550	0.498	0.424	0.495	0.511	0.5	0.482	0.5	0.52	0.5
Currently working outside the home	0.142	0.349	0.200	0.400	0.19	0.393	0.216	0.412	0.183	0.387
Household characteristics										
Total permanent household members	5.360	1.678	5.424	1.705	5.473	1.818	5.278	1.526	5.41	1.774
Household head is the mother-in-law	0.166	0.372	0.165	0.371	0.176	0.382	0.152	0.359	0.148	0.355
Household head is the father-in-law	0.166	0.372	0.165	0.371	0.176	0.382	0.152	0.359	0.148	0.355
Monthly household income $< $ ₹2000 (\$24)	0.444	0.497	0.468	0.500	0.446	0.498	0.475	0.5	0.482	0.5
Husband characteristics										
Husband's age	25.915	3.555	26.284	3.618	26.35	4.083	26.233	3.676	26.211	3.626
Husband's years of schooling completed	9.968	3.555	9.453	3.471	9.357	3.393	9.834	3.323	9.487	3.498
Husband's occupation:										
Daily wage worker	0.201	0.401	0.215	0.412	0.191	0.393	0.164	0.371	0.173	0.379
Agricultural worker	0.480	0.500	0.560	0.497	0.568	0.496	0.637	0.482	0.628	0.484
Migrant worker	0.154	0.361	0.073	0.260	0.091	0.288	0.086	0.28	0.07	0.256
Public sector employee	0.015	0.122	0.013	0.114	0.014	0.116	0.007	0.084	0.009	0.096
Private sector employee	0.095	0.293	0.088	0.283	0.09	0.287	0.067	0.249	0.056	0.231
Unemployed	0.032	0.175	0.029	0.167	0.018	0.134	0.026	0.16	0.04	0.196
Marriage characteristics										
Number of years married at baseline	3.612	3.151	3.640	3.403	3.627	3.337	3.47	3.122	3.527	3.212
Knew husband before marriage	0.270	0.444	0.231	0.422	0.215	0.411	0.185	0.389	0.218	0.413
Husband lives in the same household for at least 9										
months in a year	0.965	0.183	0.974	0.160	0.975	0.156	0.964	0.186	0.958	0.201
Spend less than 6 hours alone with husband in a day	0.803	0.398	0.798	0.402	0.819	0.385	0.815	0.389	0.773	0.419
Husband spends less than 6 hours at home in a day	0.675	0.469	0.571	0.495	0.604	0.49	0.589	0.493	0.546	0.498
Husband discusses work often	0.503	0.500	0.543	0.499	0.523	0.5	0.518	0.5	0.562	0.497
Husband discusses community issues often	0.419	0.494	0.431	0.496	0.403	0.491	0.442	0.497	0.461	0.499
Husband discusses family issues often	0.544	0.498	0.565	0.496	0.55	0.498	0.546	0.498	0.574	0.495
Husband discusses family planning often	0.571	0.495	0.578	0.494	0.572	0.495	0.549	0.498	0.567	0.496

APPENDIX B. CHAPTER 3 – SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES AND FIGURES

Fertility history			0110		C 1 1 2		1210	0 100		L01 0
been pregnant perore	0.445 0	.49/	0.442	0.49/	0.443	0.49/	0.454	0.498	0.44	0.49/
Number of previous pregnancies	1.520 0	.817	1.478	0.889	1.597	0.926	1.524	0.832	1.495	0.862
Pregnancy ended in a live birth	0.422 0	.494	0.431	0.496	0.434	0.496	0.442	0.497	0.426	0.495
Pregnancy ended in a stillbirth	0.027 0	.163	0.018	0.132	0.009	0.095	0.024	0.152	0.014	0.118
Pregnancy ended in a miscarriage	0.003 0	.055	0.004	0.066	0.005	0.067	0	0	0.005	0.068
Pregnancy ended in an abortion	0.003 0	.055	0.002	0.047	0.000	0.000	0.002	0.049	0.002	0.048
Number of alive children	0.633 0	116.	0.635	0.931	0.699	0.998	0.656	0.922	0.63	0.921
Health-seeking during most recent live birth										
Number of antenatal care (ANC) visits completed	1.615 2	.351	1.196	0.979	1.204	1.157	1.319	0.923	1.344	1.391
Paid for ANC visit	0.436 0	.497	0.462	0.500	0.422	0.495	0.412	0.494	0.431	0.497
Current pregnancy										
Gestational age at baseline (in months)	4.661 1	.184	4.577	1.139	4.502	1.182	4.467	1.271	4.478	1.273
Pregnancy is registered with healthcare worker	0.931 0	.254	0.905	0.293	0.939	0.24	0.933	0.249	0.927	0.26
Receiveda Mother and Child Protection (MCP) Card	0.814 0	.389	0.784	0.412	0.778	0.416	0.822	0.383	0.788	0.409
Gone for any ANC visits	0.836 0	.371	0.785	0.412	0.778	0.416	0.8	0.4	0.838	0.369
Number of ANC visits compeleted at baseline	1.392 0	.951	1.242	0.904	1.260	0.958	1.247	0.887	1.290	0.88
ANC Knowledge Index										
Correctly identified ANC is important for detecting										
complications for the mother	0.690 0	.463	0.686	0.465	0.688	0.464	0.715	0.452	0.7	0.459
Correctly identified ANC is important for detecting										
complications for the fetus	0.735 0	.442	0.697	0.460	0.69	0.463	0.675	0.469	0.7	0.459
Correctly identified ANC is important for early										
intervention	0.611 0	.488	0.569	0.496	0.618	0.487	0.575	0.495	0.581	0.494
Correctly identified total number of ANC visits										
recommended	0.742 0	.438	0.640	0.481	0.661	0.474	0.658	0.475	0.658	0.475
Know about the Janani Shishu Suraksha (JSS)										
government benefit	0.795 0	.404	0.653	0.477	0.681	0.467	0.696	0.461	0.719	0.45
Know the date of the Village Health and Nutrition										
Day (VHND)	0.803 0	.398	0.745	0.436	0.742	0.438	0.774	0.419	0.768	0.423
Correctly identified riskier pregnancy in first described										
situation	0.732 0	.443	0.723	0.448	0.742	0.438	0.758	0.429	0.698	0.46
Correctly identified riskier pregnancy in second										
described situation	0.387 0	.487	0.376	0.485	0.346	0.476	0.38	0.486	0.386	0.487
Know the cost of an ANC visit	0.923 0	.266	0.947	0.224	0.959	0.198	0.952	0.213	0.906	0.292

(continued on next page.)

0.292	0.5	0.405	0.481	0.341	0.348	0.35	0.319	0.226	0.285	0.267	0.267	0.35	0.357	0.353	0.333	0.252	0.282	0.278	0.278	0.491	0.494	0.377	0.495	0.495
0.906	0.513	0.794	0.637	0.867	0.859	0.857	0.885	0.946	0.911	0.923	0.923	0.857	0.85	0.855	0.874	0.932	0.913	0.916	0.916	0.6	0.578	0.171	0.576	0.426
0.287	0.501	0.395	0.479	0.335	0.329	0.324	0.312	0.283	0.29	0.287	0.297	0.345	0.348	0.348	0.329	0.269	0.28	0.28	0.287	0.484	0.494	0.359	0.498	0.493
0.91	0.508	0.808	0.646	0.872	0.876	0.881	0.891	0.912	0.907	0.91	0.903	0.862	0.86	0.86	0.876	0.922	0.914	0.914	0.91	0.627	0.582	0.152	0.553	0.416
0.317	0.497	0.348	0.48	0.35	0.348	0.348	0.352	0.29	0.3	0.259	0.284	0.366	0.35	0.359	0.361	0.287	0.287	0.259	0.274	0.497	0.498	0.357	0.496	0.501

0.441 0.86 0.643

0.499 0.381

0.462 0.824

0.444 0.497 0.902 0.297

0.477

0.653

0.651 0.477

0.887

0.343

0.864

0.911 0.285

Correctly identified the use of IFA supplements for

blood volume treat anemia

fron and Folic Acid (IFA) Knowledge Index

Correctly identified the use of IFA supplements to

0.857 0.86 0.86 0.855 0.907

0.846 0.855 0.870 0.859 0.897

0.361 0.353

0.846 0.361 0.875 0.331 0.848 0.359 0.870 0.336

0.833 0.373

Permission needed from husband on the following:

Buy clothing for yourself Buy things in the market

Know the importance of IFA supplementation

Know the risk of untreated anemia

0.336 0.348 0.305

0.9 0.928

0.299 0.274

0.901

0.893 0.309 0.908 0.289

Travel a short distance by bus or train or other public

Visit the home of friends by yourself

Visit a family planning clinic

Meet the ASHA worker

Is your opinion taken into account when purchasing

Visit your maternal home

transport

an expensive item like a bicycle or cow

Permission needed from the mother-in-law on the

following:

0.912

0.287

0.910

0.919 0.274

0.842 0.857 0.848 0.846 0.846 0.91

0.361 0.355 0.359 0.359

0.846 0.853

0.825 0.380 0.836 0.371

0.848 0.359 0.837 0.369 0.919

0.290

0.920 0.271

0.91 0.928

0.296 0.299

0.903 0.901 0.908

0.886 0.319 0.911 0.285

Travel a short distance by bus or train or other public

Visit the home of friends by yourself

Visit a family planning clinic Buy clothing for yourself

Meet the ASHA worker

Buy things in the market

Is your opinion taken into account when purchasing

Visit your maternal home

transport

0.316

0.864 0.343

0.848 0.848 0.888

0.563 0.552

0.489 0.493

0.607 0.587

0.511 0.500 0.474 0.500

MIL limits contact with maternal household members

Restrictive relationship with mother-in-law

an expensive item like a bicycle or cow MIL limits contact with female friends Cannot discuss issues relating to your health or

women's health in general with MIL

0.149

0.359

0.152

0.220 0.414

0.57 0.493

0.494 0.500

0.578 0.481

0.431 0.496 0.432 0.496

MIL gets upset if you disagree with her on something

Feel nervous discussing issues or arguing with MIL

(continued on next page.)
Adherence to social norms										
A woman's most important role is to be a good										
homemaker	0.878 0	.328 (.886	0.319	0.889	0.314	0.924	0.265	0.906	0.292
It is not good for pregnant women to be seen alone in										
public	0.822 0	.383 (.807	0.395	0.846	0.361	0.853	0.355	0.848	0.36
A woman should tolerate violence to keep the family										
together	0.527 0	.500 (.571	0.495	0.577	0.495	0.589	0.493	0.6	0.491
A daughter-in-law should not argue with her mother-										
in-law	0.837 0	.369 (.824	0.381	0.857	0.35	0.867	0.34	0.857	0.35
A daughter-in-law should listen to her mother-in-law										
regarding maternal health issues	0.926 0	.262 (.936	0.245	0.952	0.213	0.931	0.254	0.937	0.244
Women should be able to travel on their own to health										
centers	0.133 0	.339 (0.171	0.377	0.176	0.382	0.081	0.273	0.126	0.333

This table presents the means and standard deviations of daughters-in-law reported covariates in the control and treatment groups at baseline, prior to any intervention and post-randomization. For binary characteristics, it shows the proportion of daughters-in-law.

			Pairwise diff	erences p-valu	es			
	Control vs. T1	Control vs. T2	Control vs.T3	Control vs.T4	T1 vs.T2	15 VS. T4	T1 vs. T3	T2 vs.T4
Daughter-in-law characteristics								
Age at baseline	0.601	0.404	0.5	0.938	0.765	0.89	0.375	0.746
Y ears of schooling completed	0.225	0.011 **	0.73	0.756	0.149	0.35	0.245	0.49
Religion: Hindu	0.283	0.126	0.072 *	0.054 *	0.42	0.65	0.549	0.675
Social category: General	0.303	0.486	0.52	0.501	0.884	0.48	0.543	0.852
Social category: Scheduled caste/ Scheduled tribe	0.034 **	0.704	0.713	0.953	0.046 **	0.75	0.254	0.5
Social category: Other backward castes	0.011 **	0.62	0.71	0.761	0.019 **	0.25	0.148	0.739
Currently working outside the home	0.546	0.546	0.534	0.446	0.881	0.46	0.314	0.374
Household characteristics								
Total permanent household members	0.881	0.888	0.94	0.645	0.393	0.4	0.576	0.464
Household head is the mother-in-law	0.974	0.486	0.457	0.989	0.774	0.72	0.881	0.232
Household head is the father-in-law	0.326	0.21	0.212	0.631	0.856	0.2	0.607	0.074 *
Monthly household income $< $ ₹2000 (\$24)	0.241	0.32	0.188	0.268	0.757	0.58	0.572	0.784
Husband characteristics								
Husband's age	0.842	0.582	0.809	0.457	0.67	0.71	0.956	0.879
Husband's years of schooling completed	0.012 **	0.002 ***	0.936	0.311	0.753	0.13	0.057 *	0.444
Husband's occupation:								
Daily wage worker	0.082 *	0.375	0.445	0.41	0.188	0.81	0.401	0.948
Agricultural worker	0.418	0.302	0.007 ***	0.015 **	0.782	0.71	0.427	0.268
Migrant worker	0.005 ***	0.114	0.019 **	0.013 **	0.164	0.32	0.485	0.559
Public sector employee	0.716	0.922	0.083 *	0.494	0.716	0.85	0.643	0.465
Private sector employee	0.901	0.98	0.269	0.093 *	0.983	0.4	0.551	0.062 *
Unemployed	0.469	0.237	0.568	0.563	0.554	0.41	0.9	0.063 *
Marriage characteristics								
Number of years married at baseline	0.974	0.911	0.012 **	0.456	0.928	0.57	0.178	0.693
Knew husband before marriage	0.019 **	0.022 **	0.206	0.642	0.889	0.23	0.104	0.047 **
Husband lives in the same household for at least 9								
months in a year	0.248	0.224	0.85	0.784	0.961	0.85	0.264	0.113
Spend less than 6 hours alone with husband in a day	0.661	0.98	0.629	0.293	0.621	0.14	0.522	0.521
Husband spends less than 6 hours at home in a day	0.17	0.479	0.081 *	0.088 *	0.046 **	0.21	0.682	0.404
Husband discusses work often	0.022 **	0.093 *	0.045 **	0.017 **	0.381	0.22	0.519	0.644
Husband discusses community issues often	0.061 *	0.108	0.02 **	0.02 **	0.54	0.83	0.932	0.449
Husband discusses family issues often	0.205	0.245	0.016 **	0.026 **	0.749	0.94	0.873	0.583
Husband discusses family planning often	0.028 **	0.026 **	0.046 **	0.039 **	0.958	0.81	0.478	0.603

Table B.3: Baseline covariate balance of baseline sample (DIL responses only) (N=2,409)

Fertility history								
Been pregnant before	0.339	0.46	0.353	0.883	0.77	0.61	0.885	0.861
Number of previous pregnancies	0.798	0.127	0.908	0.94	0.16	0.56	0.911	0.268
Pregnancy ended in a live birth	0.659	0.259	0.239	0.771	0.874	0.73	0.85	0.208
Pregnancy ended in a stillbirth	0.846	0.023 **	0.473	0.244	0.212	0.27	0.667	0.48
Pregnancy ended in a miscarriage	0.467	0.435	0.177	0.755	0.91	0.17	0.164	0.534
Pregnancy ended in an abortion	0.608	0.276	0.697	0.739	0.352	0.91	0.833	0.297
Number of alive children	0.841	0.023 **	0.884	0.561	0.146	0.97	0.77	0.039 **
Health-seeking during most recent live birth								
Number of antenatal care (ANC) visits completed	0.047 **	0.118	0.254	0.502	0.616	0.63	0.283	0.426
Paid for ANC visit	0.822	0.346	0.547	0.62	0.052 *	0.62	0.433	0.935
Current pregnancy								
Gestational age at baseline (in months)	0.44	0.779	0.657	0.955	0.567	0.96	0.984	0.593
Pregnancy is registered with healthcare worker	0.046 **	0.625	0.803	0.638	0.011 **	0.71	0.01 **	0.966
Receiveda Mother and Child Protection (MCP) Card	0.07 *	0.041 **	0.338	0.055 *	0.837	0.11	0.325	0.895
Gone for any ANC visits	0.046 **	0.059 *	0.536	0.757	0.904	0.07 *	0.172	0.063 *
Number of ANC visits compeleted at baseline	0.079 *	0.271	0.259	0.489	0.413	0.46	0.515	0.687
ANC Knowledge Index								
Correctly identified ANC is important for detecting								
complications for the mother	0.532	0.306	0.357	0.735	0.754	0.51	0.683	0.832
Correctly identified ANC is important for detecting								
complications for the fetus	0.608	0.844	0.326	0.728	0.968	0.37	0.522	0.757
Correctly identified ANC is important for early								
intervention	0.06 *	0.193	0.176	0.203	*** 600.0	0.78	0.449	0.888
Correctly identified total number of ANC visits								
recommended	0.007 ***	0.012 **	0.025 **	0.018 **	0.364	0.83	0.822	0.802
Know about the Janani Shishu Suraksha (JSS)								
government benefit	0.003 ***	0.013 **	0.002 ***	0.021 **	0.149	0.14	0.77	0.537
Know the date of the Village Health and Nutrition								
Day (VHND)	0.047 **	0.045 **	0.105	0.061 *	0.972	0.72	0.404	0.752
Correctly identified riskier pregnancy in first described								
situation	0.151	0.089 *	0.689	0.146	0.468	0.05 *	0.325	0.921
Correctly identified riskier pregnancy in second								
described situation	0.574	0.085 *	0.298	0.261	0.27	0.88	0.766	0.454
Know the cost of an ANC visit	0.314	0.131	0.193	0.812	0.462	*** 0	0.979	0.05 *

Iron and Folic Acid (IFA) Knowledge Index								
Correctly identified the use of IFA supplements for								
blood volume	0.062 *	0.236	0.14	0.132	0.376	0.72	0.187	0.443
Correctly identified the use of IFA supplements to								
treat anemia	0.652	0.706	0.653	0.4	0.886	0.76	0.353	0.106
Know the risk of untreated anemia	0.402	0.59	0.231	• 860.0	0.204	0.3	0.983	0.289
Know the importance of IFA supplementation	0.448	0.625	0.117	0.146	0.557	0.92	0.886	0.946
Permission needed from husband on the following:								
Buy clothing for yourself	0.456	0.769	0.62	0.196	0.639	0.85	0.733	0.313
Buy things in the market	0.332	0.408	0.61	0.041 **	0.915	0.48	0.684	0.245
Visit a family planning clinic	0.378	0.059 *	0.262	0.012 **	0.209	0.47	0.423	0.225
Meet the ASHA worker	0.604	0.268	0.979	0.611	0.477	0.77	0.988	0.665
Visit the home of friends by yourself	0.946	0.563	0.498	0.087 *	0.56	0.01 ***	0.437	0.155
Travel a short distance by bus or train or other public								
transport	0.923	0.894	0.954	0.433	0.971	0.51	0.427	0.929
Visit your maternal home	0.982	0.55	0.257	0.839	0.478	0.22	0.067 *	0.294
Is your opinion taken into account when purchasing								
an expensive item like a bicycle or cow	0.559	0.614	0.068 *	0.775	0.712	0.03 **	0.128	0.827
Permission needed from the mother-in-law on the								
following:								
Buy clothing for yourself	0.655	0.278	0.433	0.081 *	0.35	0.74	0.531	0.511
Buy things in the market	0.571	0.662	0.294	0.041 **	0.893	0.86	0.268	0.238
Visit a family planning clinic	0.594	0.442	0.185	0.217	0.783	0.43	0.436	0.673
Meet the ASHA worker	0.587	0.267	0.406	0.224	0.513	0.48	0.695	0.934
Visit the home of friends by yourself	0.849	0.31	0.567	0.298	0.136	0.36	0.761	0.851
Travel a short distance by bus or train or other public								
transport	0.613	0.327	0.368	0.074 *	0.67	0.74	0.736	0.831
Visit your maternal home	0.203	0.736	0.34	0.698	0.037 **	0.45	0.543	0.206
Is your opinion taken into account when purchasing								
an expensive item like a bicycle or cow	0.417	0.978	0.186	0.924	0.224	0.44	0.311	0.655
Restrictive relationship with mother-in-law								
MIL limits contact with female friends	0.488	0.091 *	0.274	0.827	0.276	0.31	0.309	0.154
MIL limits contact with maternal household members	0.941	0.269	0.439	0.299	0.307	0.56	0.966	0.198
Cannot discuss issues relating to your health or								
women's health in general with MIL	0.485	0.254	0.074 *	0.246	0.836	0.24	0.955	0.488
MIL gets upset if you disagree with her on something	0.173	0.224	0.021 **	0.019 **	0.583	0.79	0.951	0.6
Feel nervous discussing issues or arguing with MIL	0.516	0.444	0.895	0.498	0.807	0.92	0.904	0.855

Adherence to social norms								
A woman's most important role is to be a good								
homemaker	0.333	0.132	0.204	0.401	0.465	0.35	0.874	0.87
It is not good for pregnant women to be seen alone in								
public	0.904	0.226	0.956	0.903	0.049 **	0.99	0.683	0.605
A woman should tolerate violence to keep the family								
together	0.343	0.236	0.759	0.363	0.911	0.33	0.735	0.62
A daughter-in-law should not argue with her mother-								
in-law	0.592	0.258	0.751	0.978	0.348	0.85	0.758	0.439
A daughter-in-law should listen to her mother-in-law								
regarding maternal health issues	0.867	0.639	0.375	0.955	0.447	0.23	0.206	0.247
Women should be able to travel on their own to health								
centers	0.642	0.712	0.15	0.684	0.72	0.05 *	0.183	0.522

The table includes two types of pairwise comparisons: the first set of p-values indicates significant differences between the control group and each treatment group, and the second set compares the treatment groups of interest for the analysis. The displayed p-values result from a regression of the dependent variable on an indicator variable for each treatment group, with the control vs. treatment groups and an indicator variable using the first treatment group specified as the reference category. Strate fixed effects are included, and standard errors are clustered at the village level (not shown here). * denotes statistical significance at 10 pct, ** at 5 pct, and *** at 1 pct level.

(,991)
(N = N)
sample
midline
in
statistics
summary
law
ter-in-
)augh
Ц
e B.4
Tabl

	Control		T1: Individ	lual +	T2: Individ	lual +	T3:Group	+ Only	T4: Gro	+ dn
	CONTROL	(116=1		(066=0	DILLOWILL ((0CC=II)		(coc	DIFCINIT	(/0C=II)
	mean	ps	mean	ps	mean	sd	mean	ps	mean	ps
Daughter-in-law characteristics										
Age at baseline	23.043	3.017	23.595	3.397	23.372	3.033	23.189	3.142	23.237	3.413
Years of schooling completed	8.9	3.431	8.764	3.464	8.648	3.217	8.781	3.484	8.695	3.615
Religion: Hindu	0.949	0.22	0.99	0.101	0.994	0.075	0.984	0.127	0.989	0.104
Social category: General	0.096	0.295	0.072	0.258	0.075	0.264	0.082	0.275	0.071	0.257
Social category: Scheduled caste/ Scheduled tribe	0.315	0.465	0.413	0.493	0.36	0.481	0.34	0.474	0.354	0.479
Social category: Other backward castes	0.564	0.496	0.433	0.496	0.52	0.5	0.51	0.501	0.523	0.5
Currently working outside the home	0.145	0.352	0.185	0.388	0.187	0.391	0.211	0.409	0.183	0.387
Household characteristics										
Total permanent household members	5.36	1.674	5.362	1.682	5.38	1.743	5.334	1.552	5.417	1.8
Household head is the mother-in-law	0.166	0.373	0.156	0.364	0.17	0.377	0.164	0.371	0.142	0.349
Household head is the father-in-law	0.166	0.373	0.156	0.364	0.17	0.377	0.164	0.371	0.142	0.349
Monthly household income < ₹2000 (\$24)	0.489	0.5	0.454	0.499	0.447	0.498	0.452	0.498	0.463	0.499
Husband characteristics										
Husband's age	25.851	3.501	26.323	3.617	25.983	3.74	26.055	3.513	26.093	3.597
Husband's years of schooling completed	9.859	3.56	9.59	3.492	9.52	3.305	9.899	3.373	9.616	3.457
Husband's occupation:										
Daily wage worker	0.212	0.409	0.236	0.425	0.188	0.391	0.162	0.369	0.18	0.385
Agricultural worker	0.507	0.5	0.536	0.499	0.579	0.494	0.633	0.483	0.635	0.482
Migrant worker	0.134	0.341	0.072	0.258	0.084	0.278	0.09	0.287	0.063	0.243
Public sector employee	0.012	0.108	0.013	0.113	0.017	0.129	0.008	0.09	0.011	0.104
Private sector employee	0.094	0.292	0.092	0.29	0.087	0.282	0.071	0.258	0.052	0.222
Unemployed	0.028	0.164	0.026	0.158	0.014	0.118	0.022	0.147	0.038	0.192
Marriage characteristics										
Number of years married at baseline	3.585	3.157	3.654	3.497	3.43	3.146	3.427	3.071	3.499	3.225
Knew husband before marriage	0.272	0.445	0.223	0.417	0.212	0.41	0.186	0.39	0.215	0.412
Husband lives in the same household for at least 9										
months in a year	0.971	0.169	0.977	0.15	0.986	0.118	0.967	0.179	0.965	0.185
Spend less than 6 hours alone with husband in a day	0.785	0.411	0.777	0.417	0.813	0.391	0.822	0.383	0.787	0.41
Husband spends less than 6 hours at home in a day	0.671	0.47	0.546	0.499	0.584	0.494	0.597	0.491	0.556	0.498
Husband discusses work often	0.509	0.5	0.564	0.497	0.528	0.5	0.521	0.5	0.564	0.497
Husband discusses community issues often	0.44	0.497	0.446	0.498	0.425	0.495	0.449	0.498	0.466	0.5
Husband discusses family issues often	0.569	0.496	0.572	0.495	0.539	0.499	0.542	0.499	0.578	0.495
Husband discusses family planning often	0.577	0.494	0.59	0.493	0.581	0.494	0.542	0.499	0.559	0.497

APPENDIX B. CHAPTER 3 – SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES AND FIGURES

Fertility history										
Been pregnant before	0.44	0.497	0.436	0.497	0.416	0.494	0.449	0.498	0.436	0.497
Number of previous pregnancies	1.524	0.808	1.494	0.905	1.537	0.927	1.512	0.787	1.475	0.839
Pregnancy ended in a live birth	0.419	0.494	0.428	0.495	0.405	0.492	0.441	0.497	0.42	0.494
Pregnancy ended in a stillbirth	0.027	0.163	0.018	0.133	0.011	0.105	0.022	0.147	0.016	0.127
Pregnancy ended in a miscarriage	0.004	0.062	0.003	0.051	0.006	0.075	0	0	0.005	0.074
Pregnancy ended in an abortion	0.004	0.062	0	0	0	0	0.003	0.052	0.003	0.052
Number of alive children	0.636	0.912	0.638	0.94	0.628	0.955	0.647	0.892	0.605	0.89
Health-seeking during most recent live birth										
Number of antenatal care (ANC) visits completed	1.375	1.673	1.184	1.026	1.215	1.288	1.325	0.967	1.289	1.286
Paid for ANC visit	0.423	0.495	0.414	0.494	0.408	0.493	0.42	0.495	0.422	0.496
Current pregnancy										
Gestational age at baseline (in months)	4.595	1.189	4.571	1.142	4.478	1.173	4.423	1.257	4.387	1.277
Pregnancy is registered with healthcare worker	0.918	0.275	0.903	0.297	0.933	0.25	0.934	0.248	0.924	0.266
Receiveda Mother and Child Protection (MCP) Card	0.795	0.404	0.776	0.418	0.769	0.422	0.836	0.371	0.785	0.412
Gone for any ANC visits	0.826	0.38	0.782	0.413	0.76	0.428	0.792	0.407	0.826	0.38
Number of ANC visits compeleted at baseline	1.362	0.952	1.256	0.916	1.246	0.982	1.211	0.866	1.232	0.864
ANC Knowledge Index										
Correctly identified ANC is important for detecting										
complications for the mother	0.701	0.458	0.682	0.466	0.687	0.464	0.696	0.461	0.711	0.454
Correctly identified ANC is important for detecting										
complications for the fetus	0.763	0.426	0.692	0.462	0.682	0.467	0.658	0.475	0.711	0.454
Correctly identified ANC is important for early										
intervention	0.613	0.488	0.577	0.495	0.626	0.485	0.581	0.494	0.597	0.491
Correctly identified total number of ANC visits										
recommended	0.767	0.423	0.659	0.475	0.676	0.469	0.677	0.468	0.643	0.48
Know about the Janani Shishu Suraksha (JSS)										
government benefit	0.798	0.402	0.649	0.478	0.687	0.464	0.682	0.466	0.7	0.459
Know the date of the Village Health and Nutrition										
Day (VHND)	0.793	0.406	0.749	0.434	0.743	0.438	0.756	0.43	0.752	0.432
Correctly identified riskier pregnancy in first described										
situation	0.746	0.436	0.705	0.457	0.737	0.441	0.77	0.421	0.7	0.459
Correctly identified riskier pregnancy in second										
described situation	0.37	0.483	0.374	0.485	0.344	0.476	0.395	0.489	0.39	0.488
Know the cost of an ANC visit	0.914	0.281	0.949	0.221	0.953	0.213	0.953	0.211	0.907	0.29

0.338 0.344 0.309 0.238	0.29 0.278 0.274	0.352 0.36 0.346 0.328 0.257	0.29 0.29 0.286	0.486 0.491 0.373	0.493

0.856 0.847 0.861

0.361 0.347

0.846 0.86

0.368 0.361

0.838 0.846

0.373 0.362 0.338

0.834 0.845 0.8690.867

0.35 0.353 0.353 0.329 0.279

0.858 0.855 0.855 0.877 0.877 0.915

0.35 0.356 0.277

0.858 0.852 0.916

0.364

0.371

0.844 0.836 0.885

0.36 0.34

0.847

0.32 0.304 0.307

0.877 0.929

0.907 0.907

0.287

0.91 0.907

0.277 0.255

0.916

0.897 0.895

0.3 0.278

0.916

0.9

Travel a short distance by bus or train or other public

Visit the home of friends by yourself

Visit a family planning clinic

Buy clothing for yourself

following:

Buy things in the market Meet the ASHA worker 0.93

0.291 0.291

0.91

0.907

0.26

0.927

0.297

0.903

0.249

0.933 0.503

Is your opinion taken into account when purchasing

Visit your maternal home

transport

Restrictive relationship with mother-in-law MIL limits contact with female friends

an expensive item like a bicycle or cow

0.621 0.599

0.48 0.489

0.641 0.605

0.495 0.496

0.573 0.567

0.493 0.496

0.59 0.569

0.5 0.5

0.472

MIL limits contact with maternal household members

Cannot discuss issues relating to your health or

vomen's health in general with MIL

0.589 0.425

0.495 0.494

0.575 0.416

0.497 0.5

0.561 0.48

0.494 0.499

0.582 0.459

0.495 0.496

0.425 0.434

MIL gets upset if you disagree with her on something

Feel nervous discussing issues or arguing with MIL

0.166

0.344

0.137

0.35

0.142

0.354

0.146

0.409

0.211

(continued on next page.)

APPENDIX B. CHAPTER 3 – SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES AND FIGURE	S
---	---

0.869 0.864 0.864 0.894 0.94

0.341 0.335 0.332 0.332 0.313 0.313

0.866 0.871 0.874 0.89 0.907

0.341 0.341 0.341 0.353 0.353

0.866 0.866 0.866 0.855 0.855

0.841 0.849 0.862 0.851 0.897

0.362 0.35 0.305 0.34 0.34 0.325

0.867 0.881

0.845 0.857 0.896

Permission needed from husband on the following:

0.366 0.359 0.346 0.356 0.304 0.907 0.916

0.299 0.302

0.901

0.29

0.908 0.93

0.3 0.282

0.9 0.913

0.295 0.284

0.904 0.912 0.933

Travel a short distance by bus or train or other public

Visit the home of friends by yourself

Visit a family planning clinic Buy clothing for yourself

Buy things in the market Meet the ASHA worker Is your opinion taken into account when purchasing

Visit your maternal home

transport

an expensive item like a bicycle or cow

Permission needed from the mother-in-law on the

0.918

0.302

0.899

0.269

0.922

0.29

0.908

0.249

Adherence to social norms											
A woman's most important role is to be a good											
homemaker	0.902	0.297	0.867	0.34	0.877	0.329	0.921	0.271	0.907	0.29	0.42
It is not good for pregnant women to be seen alone in											
public	0.798	0.402	0.8	0.401	0.846	0.361	0.847	0.361	0.842	0.365	0.932
A woman should tolerate violence to keep the family											
together	0.548	0.498	0.59	0.493	0.592	0.492	0.614	0.488	0.613	0.488	0.448
A daughter-in-law should not argue with her mother-											
in-law	0.824	0.381	0.831	0.375	0.855	0.353	0.863	0.344	0.864	0.344	0.599
A daughter-in-law should listen to her mother-in-law											
regarding maternal health issues	0.914	0.281	0.938	0.241	0.958	0.201	0.929	0.258	0.937	0.243	0.765
Women should be able to travel on their own to health											
centers	0.1	0.3	0.177	0.382	0.165	0.372	0.088	0.283	0.134	0.341	0.592

This table presents the means and standard deviations of daughters-in-law reported covariates in the control and treatment groups at baseline, prior to any intervention and post-randomization. For binary characteristics, it shows the proportion of daughters-in-law.

Ξ
ŝ
<u> </u>
\mathbf{Z}
Ċ
\frown
\geq
Ы
ö
0
Ğ
B
OI
ă
Š.
E
Ľ
-
Ψ
đ
В
5
\mathbf{v}
Ð
Ц
Ξ
<u>10</u>
H
Gf
~
8
ă
g
a]
ã
d)
ţ
ia.
Ц
/a
б
õ
Ð
Ē
÷
9G
Б,
Ď
.—.
$\frac{10}{10}$
Щ
Ð
-l
Ä
гĭ
1 1

			Pairwise diff	erences p -v	alues			
	Control	Control	Contro	Contro	T1	T3	T1 vs.	T2
	vs. T1	vs. T2	1 vs.T3	1 vs.T4	vs.T2	vs. T4	T3	vs.T4
aughter-in-law characteristics								
Age at baseline	0.524	0.499	0.437	0.936	0.94	0.819	0.331	0.985
Years of schooling completed	0.396	0.039 **	0.589	0.967	0.189	0.422	0.301	0.592
Religion: Hindu	0.114	0.017 **	0.065 *	0.052 *	0.352	0.644	0.847	0.647
Social category: General	0.26	0.445	0.448	0.506	0.816	0.549	0.383	0.676
Social category: Scheduled caste/ Scheduled tribe	0.033 **	0.703	0.732	0.898	0.045 **	0.791	0.217	0.49
Social category: Other backward castes	0.012 **	0.636	0.791	0.682	0.021 **	0.293	0.14	0.63
Currently working outside the home	0.923	0.553	0.475	0.374	0.839	0.437	0.344	0.373
ousehold characteristics								
Total permanent household members	0.808	0.958	0.99	0.625	0.342	0.449	0.452	0.412
Household head is the mother-in-law	0.772	0.436	0.676	0.663	0.587	0.716	0.848	0.067 *
Household head is the father-in-law	0.441	0.213	0.422	0.382	0.98	0.255	0.505	0.029 **
Monthly household income < ₹2000 (\$24)	0.517	0.841	0.32	0.495	0.525	0.576	0.545	0.61
usband characteristics								
Husband's age	0.764	0.79	0.675	0.509	0.915	0.646	0.83	0.637
Husband's years of schooling completed	0.039 **	0.009 ***	0.708	0.54	0.724	0.146	0.086 *	0.54
Husband's occupation:								
Daily wage worker	0.144	0.605	0.684	0.593	0.159	0.825	0.4	0.963
Agricultural worker	0.471	0.235	0.006 ***	0.013 **	0.58	0.638	0.426	0.382
Migrant worker	0.009 ***	0.095 *	0.036 **	0.026 **	0.333	0.309	0.443	0.835
Public sector employee	0.923	0.935	0.117	0.666	0.724	0.857	0.637	0.455
Private sector employee	0.765	0.773	0.293	0.105	0.886	0.34	0.554	0.035 **
Unemployed	0.523	0.247	0.583	0.492	0.566	0.406	0.817	0.07 *
Marriage characteristics								
Number of years married at baseline	0.904	0.545	0.006 ***	0.375	0.71	0.58	0.183	0.923
Knew husband before marriage	0.017 **	0.024 **	0.184	0.562	0.949	0.262	0.11	0.066 *
Husband lives in the same household for at least 9								
months in a year	0.284	0.08 *	0.919	0.731	0.282	0.847	0.276	0.01 **
Spend less than 6 hours alone with husband in a day	0.584	0.901	0.546	0.329	0.653	0.259	0.627	0.607
Husband spends less than 6 hours at home in a day	0.153	0.369	0.092 *	0.089 *	0.066 *	0.201	0.634	0.474
Husband discusses work often	0.024 **	0.124	0.067 *	0.03 **	0.234	0.223	0.457	0.635
Husband discusses community issues often	0.084 *	0.133	0.034 **	0.034 **	0.536	0.829	0.978	0.543
Husband discusses family issues often	0.201	0.263	0.026 **	0.041 **	0.594	0.945	0.946	0.55
Husband discusses family planning often	0.025 **	0.034 **	0.062 *	0.048 **	0.715	0.806	0.433	0.634
rusoand discusses ramily issues orten Husband discusses family planning often	0.025 **	0.034 **	0.062 *	0.041 **		0.715	0.715 0.806	0.715 0.806 0.433

Fertility history								
Been pregnant before	0.842	0.665	0.995	0.407	0.813	0.588	0.767	0.482
Number of previous pregnancies	0.663	0.334	0.662	0.88	0.25	0.583	0.951	0.379
Pregnancy ended in a live birth	0.609	0.283	0.233	0.753	0.902	0.745	0.86	0.207
Pregnancy ended in a stillbirth	0.864	0.025 **	0.444	0.235	0.22	0.259	0.64	0.477
Pregnancy ended in a miscarriage	0.533	0.443	0.162	0.825	0.878	0.173	0.163	0.529
Pregnancy ended in an abortion	0.613	0.301	0.68	0.716	0.351	0.932	0.79	0.294
Number of alive children	0.963	0.112	0.885	0.813	0.227	0.96	0.784	0.072 *
Health-seeking during most recent live birth								
Number of antenatal care (ANC) visits completed	0.116	0.211	0.853	0.689	0.72	0.587	0.301	0.423
Paid for ANC visit	1	0.22	0.416	0.488	0.059 *	0.53	0.398	0.897
Current pregnancy								
Gestational age at baseline (in months)	0.478	0.115	0.699	0.339	0.346	0.742	0.324	0.728
Pregnancy is registered with healthcare worker	0.067 *	0.664	0.758	0.714	0.016 **	0.715	0.012 **	0.978
Receiveda Mother and Child Protection (MCP) Card	0.089 *	0.041 **	0.402	0.071 *	0.788	0.108	0.331	0.957
Gone for any ANC visits	0.101	0.095 *	0.704	0.556	0.867	0.066 *	0.229	0.051 *
Number of ANC visits compeleted at baseline	0.193	0.452	0.443	0.797	0.518	0.463	0.582	0.58
ANC Knowledge Index								
Correctly identified ANC is important for detecting								
complications for the mother	0.55	0.415	0.461	0.895	0.885	0.492	0.682	0.909
Correctly identified ANC is important for detecting								
complications for the fetus	0.458	0.684	0.301	0.677	0.952	0.341	0.59	0.739
Correctly identified ANC is important for early								
intervention	0.068 *	0.193	0.144	0.208	0.011 **	0.649	0.528	0.848
Correctly identified total number of ANC visits								
recommended	0.005 ***	0.009 ***	0.013 **	0.011 **	0.385	0.828	0.79	0.868
Know about the Janani Shishu Suraksha (JSS)								
government benefit	0.006 ***	0.029 **	0.004 ***	0.035 **	0.17	0.162	0.787	0.524
Know the date of the Village Health and Nutrition								
Day (VHND)	0.069 *	0.05 *	0.155	0.097 *	0.91	0.698	0.371	0.612
Correctly identified riskier pregnancy in first described								
situation	0.135	0.075 *	0.641	0.122	0.525	0.027 **	0.277	0.853
Correctly identified riskier pregnancy in second								
described situation	0.787	0.171	0.471	0.395	0.343	0.722	0.699	0.514
Know the cost of an ANC visit	0.298	0.119	0.158	0.886	0.464	0.004 ***	0.993	0.052 *

Iron and Folic Acid (IFA) Knowledge Index Correctly identified the use of IFA supplements for								
blood volume	0.086 *	0.279	0.208	0.193	0.48	0.686	0.185	0.386
Correctly identified the use of IFA supplements to								
treat anemia	0.796	0.794	0.615	0.375	0.856	0.732	0.4	0.119
Know the risk of untreated anemia	0.444	0.648	0.266	0.13	0.193	0.323	0.95	0.274
Know the importance of IFA supplementation	0.428	0.557	0.106	0.153	0.602	0.984	0.836	0.829
Permission needed from husband on the following:								
Buy clothing for yourself	0.55	0.772	0.916	0.353	0.807	0.908	0.744	0.375
Buy things in the market	0.379	0.452	0.962	* 660.0	0.899	0.426	0.736	0.284
Visit a family planning clinic	0.318	0.07 *	0.333	0.016 **	0.257	0.441	0.419	0.202
Meet the ASHA worker	0.508	0.21	0.879	0.601	0.449	0.796	0.988	0.639
Visit the home of friends by yourself	0.918	0.542	0.578	0.072 *	0.568	0.004 ***	0.354	0.154
Travel a short distance by bus or train or other public								
transport	0.76	0.636	0.781	0.31	0.922	0.474	0.309	0.864
Visit your maternal home	0.925	0.541	0.343	0.977	0.309	0.2	0.092 *	0.346
Is your opinion taken into account when purchasing								
an expensive item like a bicycle or cow	0.687	0.827	0.108	0.58	0.638	0.025 **	0.08 *	0.905
Permission needed from the mother-in-law on the								
following:								
Buy clothing for yourself	0.675	0.306	0.691	0.127	0.335	0.879	0.556	0.477
Buy things in the market	0.547	0.6	0.453	0.052 *	0.878	0.739	0.273	0.211
Visit a family planning clinic	0.695	0.61	0.286	0.298	0.9	0.444	0.375	0.514
Meet the ASHA worker	0.496	0.19	0.438	0.19	0.467	0.48	0.689	0.892
Visit the home of friends by yourself	0.929	0.298	0.461	0.228	0.14	0.303	0.916	0.979
Travel a short distance by bus or train or other public								
transport	0.521	0.209	0.287	0.042 **	0.478	0.648	0.608	0.59
Visit your maternal home	0.208	0.782	0.406	0.885	0.039 **	0.358	0.466	0.212
Is your opinion taken into account when purchasing								
an expensive item like a bicycle or cow	0.449	0.857	0.256	0.92	0.109	0.366	0.253	0.415
Restrictive relationship with mother-in-law								
MIL limits contact with female friends	0.511	0.104	0.268	0.751	0.276	0.342	0.291	0.105
MIL limits contact with maternal household members	0.921	0.319	0.462	0.284	0.376	0.472	0.972	0.186
Cannot discuss issues relating to your health or								
women's health in general with MIL	0.577	0.353	0.086 *	0.281	0.886	0.255	0.919	0.569
MIL gets upset if you disagree with her on something	0.213	0.282	0.022 **	0.018 **	0.527	0.762	0.932	0.436
Feel nervous discussing issues or arguing with MIL	0.503	0.431	0.98	0.523	0.786	0.904	0.952	0.94

Adherence to social norms								
A woman's most important role is to be a good								
homemaker	0.42	0.211	0.273	0.487	0.503	0.341	0.792	0.993
It is not good for pregnant women to be seen alone in		•			** 000 0	0,000		
public	0.932	0.19	0.896	0.871	0.038 **	0.968	0.641	0.633
A woman should tolerate violence to keep the family								
together	0.448	0.279	0.888	0.488	0.946	0.324	0.704	0.709
A daughter-in-law should not argue with her mother-								
in-law	0.599	0.281	0.614	0.878	0.421	0.787	0.62	0.425
A daughter-in-law should listen to her mother-in-law								
regarding maternal health issues	0.765	0.709	0.299	0.844	0.356	0.235	0.217	0.198
Women should be able to travel on their own to health								
centers	0.592	0.586	0.23	0.87	0.628	0.052 *	0.227	0.561

The table includes two types of pairwise comparisons: the first set of *p*-values indicates significant differences between the control group and each treatment group, and the second set compares the treatment groups of interest for the analysis. The displayed *p*-values result from a regression of the dependent variable on an indicator variable for each treatment group, with the control vs. treatment groups and an indicator variable using the first treatment group specified as the reference category. Strata fixed effects are included, and standard errors are clustered at the village level (not shown here). * denotes statistical significance at 10 pct, ** at 5 pct, and *** at 1 pct level.

	Control (1	1=444)	T1: Indivic Only DIL (lual + n=361)	T2: Indivio DIL&MIL	iual + (n=361)	T3:Group DIL (n=	+ Only 333)	T4: Grou DIL&MIL (p + n=345)
	mean	sd	mean	ps	mean	sd	mean	sd	mean	sd
Daughter-in-law characteristics										
Age at baseline	23.182	3.092	23.579	3.446	23.499	3.076	23.402	3.202	23.307	3.404
Years of schooling completed	8.829	3.533	8.765	3.514	8.673	3.077	8.793	3.43	8.577	3.697
Religion: Hindu	0.966	0.181	0.983	0.128	0.994	0.074	0.985	0.122	166.0	0.093
Social category: General	0.088	0.283	0.083	0.276	0.072	0.259	0.084	0.278	0.078	0.269
Social category: Scheduled caste/ Scheduled tribe	0.313	0.464	0.407	0.492	0.332	0.472	0.345	0.476	0.368	0.483
Social category: Other backward castes	0.574	0.495	0.449	0.498	0.54	0.499	0.505	0.501	0.519	0.5
Currently working outside the home	0.153	0.361	0.188	0.392	0.18	0.385	0.207	0.406	0.18	0.385
Household characteristics										
Total permanent household members	5.264	1.576	5.424	1.677	5.463	1.806	5.342	1.478	5.42	1.752
Household head is the mother-in-law	0.162	0.369	0.172	0.378	0.183	0.387	0.165	0.372	0.174	0.38
Household head is the father-in-law	0.791	0.407	0.753	0.432	0.762	0.427	0.775	0.418	0.78	0.415
Monthly household income < ₹2000 (\$24)	0.48	0.5	0.46	0.499	0.443	0.497	0.48	0.5	0.487	0.501
Husband characteristics										
Husband's age	25.957	3.548	26.186	3.426	26.306	3.985	26.234	3.534	26.093	3.599
Husband's years of schooling completed	9.898	3.519	9.668	3.465	9.536	3.265	9.874	3.34	9.58	3.525
Husband's occupation:										
Daily wage worker	0.204	0.403	0.211	0.408	0.186	0.39	0.177	0.382	0.177	0.382
Agricultural worker	0.523	0.5	0.562	0.497	0.569	0.496	0.625	0.485	0.617	0.487
Migrant worker	0.118	0.323	0.072	0.259	0.086	0.281	0.069	0.254	0.067	0.25
Public sector employee	0.014	0.116	0.017	0.128	0.014	0.117	0.009	0.095	0.009	0.093
Private sector employee	0.095	0.293	0.089	0.285	0.097	0.296	0.072	0.259	0.058	0.234
Unemployed	0.034	0.181	0.028	0.164	0.017	0.128	0.033	0.179	0.046	0.211
Marriage characteristics										
Number of years married at baseline	3.688	3.175	3.657	3.416	3.586	3.14	3.58	3.165	3.461	2.981
Knew husband before marriage	0.293	0.456	0.23	0.421	0.205	0.404	0.195	0.397	0.243	0.43
Husband lives in the same household for at least 9										
months in a year	0.973	0.163	0.97	0.172	0.981	0.138	0.967	0.179	0.954	0.211
Spend less than 6 hours alone with husband in a day	0.779	0.415	0.814	0.389	0.812	0.392	0.793	0.406	0.797	0.403
Husband spends less than 6 hours at home in a day	0.68	0.467	0.568	0.496	0.584	0.493	0.565	0.497	0.548	0.498
Husband discusses work often	0.505	0.501	0.548	0.498	0.515	0.5	0.544	0.499	0.594	0.492
Husband discusses community issues often	0.45	0.498	0.432	0.496	0.413	0.493	0.459	0.499	0.475	0.5
Husband discusses family issues often	0.552	0.498	0.568	0.496	0.551	0.498	0.58	0.494	0.6	0.491
Husband discusses family planning often	0.568	0.496	0.582	0.494	0.576	0.495	0.547	0.499	0.571	0.496

Table B.6: Daughter-in-law summary statistics in endline sample (N=1,844)

1										
Fertility history							:			
Been pregnant before	0.475	0.5	0.438	0.497	0.452	0.498	0.48	0.5	0.452	0.498
Number of previous pregnancies	1.474	0.77	1.418	0.759	1.54	0.891	1.481	0.752	1.487	0.905
Pregnancy ended in a live birth	0.453	0.498	0.429	0.496	0.446	0.498	0.465	0.5	0.435	0.496
Pregnancy ended in a stillbirth	0.027	0.162	0.014	0.117	0.008	0.091	0.03	0.171	0.014	0.12
Pregnancy ended in a miscarriage	0.002	0.047	0.006	0.074	0.003	0.053	0	0	0.006	0.076
Pregnancy ended in an abortion	0.005	0.067	0.003	0.053	0	0	0.003	0.055	0	0
Number of alive children	0.662	0.893	0.609	0.882	0.69	0.962	0.67	0.878	0.641	0.942
<u>Health-seeking during most recent live birth</u>										
Number of antenatal care (ANC) visits completed	1.368	1.628	1.157	0.779	1.118	0.543	1.314	0.986	1.304	1.474
Paid for ANC visit	0.421	0.495	0.472	0.501	0.417	0.495	0.392	0.49	0.396	0.491
Current pregnancy										
Gestational age at baseline (in months)	4.773	1.1	4.593	1.099	4.571	1.136	4.517	1.243	4.545	1.257
Pregnancy is registered with healthcare worker	0.939	0.239	0.895	0.307	0.936	0.245	0.928	0.259	0.922	0.269
Receiveda Mother and Child Protection (MCP) Card	0.799	0.402	0.786	0.41	0.79	0.408	0.819	0.386	0.792	0.406
Gone for any ANC visits	0.856	0.352	0.789	0.408	0.784	0.412	0.775	0.418	0.832	0.375
Number of ANC visits compeleted at baseline	1.428	0.917	1.233	0.904	1.277	0.969	1.186	0.892	1.264	0.878
ANC Knowledge Index										
Correctly identified ANC is important for detecting										
complications for the mother	0.734	0.442	0.659	0.475	0.668	0.472	0.724	0.448	0.707	0.456
Correctly identified ANC is important for detecting										
complications for the fetus	0.775	0.418	0.668	0.472	0.676	0.469	0.685	0.465	0.713	0.453
Correctly identified ANC is important for early										
intervention	0.588	0.493	0.593	0.492	0.618	0.487	0.556	0.498	0.568	0.496
Correctly identified total number of ANC visits										
recommended	0.793	0.406	0.654	0.476	0.654	0.476	0.655	0.476	0.658	0.475
Know about the Janani Shishu Suraksha (JSS)										
government benefit	0.791	0.407	0.659	0.475	0.679	0.468	0.7	0.459	0.719	0.45
Know the date of the Village Health and Nutrition										
Day (VHND)	0.806	0.396	0.734	0.442	0.726	0.447	0.766	0.424	0.765	0.424
Correctly identified riskier pregnancy in first described										
situation	0.705	0.457	0.726	0.447	0.742	0.438	0.745	0.437	0.667	0.472
Correctly identified riskier pregnancy in second										
described situation	0.347	0.477	0.374	0.485	0.352	0.478	0.396	0.49	0.386	0.487
Know the cost of an ANC visit	0.928	0.259	0.95	0.218	0.956	0.206	0.943	0.232	0.907	0.291

Iron and Folic Acid (IFA) Knowledge Index										
Correctly identified the use of IFA supplements for										
blood volume	0.908	0.29	0.859	0.349	0.884	0.321	0.928	0.259	0.916	0.278
Correctly identified the use of IFA supplements to										
treat anemia	0.471	0.5	0.443	0.497	0.427	0.495	0.505	0.501	0.519	0.5
Know the risk of untreated anemia	0.93	0.255	0.859	0.349	0.87	0.337	0.817	0.387	0.806	0.396
Know the importance of IFA supplementation	0.635	0.482	0.62	0.486	0.648	0.478	0.634	0.483	0.612	0.488
Permission needed from husband on the following:										
Buy clothing for yourself	0.822	0.383	0.837	0.37	0.861	0.346	0.862	0.346	0.843	0.364
Buy things in the market	0.84	0.367	0.845	0.363	0.864	0.343	0.868	0.339	0.843	0.364
Visit a family planning clinic	0.885	0.319	0.856	0.352	0.861	0.346	0.868	0.339	0.841	0.367
Meet the ASHA worker	0.854	0.354	0.848	0.36	0.861	0.346	0.886	0.318	0.872	0.334
Visit the home of friends by yourself	0.851	0.356	0.892	0.311	0.906	0.292	0.895	0.307	0.936	0.245
Travel a short distance by bus or train or other public										
transport	0.878	0.327	0.895	0.307	0.906	0.292	0.895	0.307	0.893	0.31
Visit your maternal home	0.903	0.296	0.909	0.289	0.925	0.263	0.898	0.303	0.907	0.291
Is your opinion taken into account when purchasing										
an expensive item like a bicycle or cow	0.91	0.287	0.903	0.296	0.914	0.281	0.889	0.315	0.907	0.291
Permission needed from the mother-in-law on the										
following:										
Buy clothing for yourself	0.815	0.388	0.834	0.373	0.85	0.357	0.85	0.358	0.838	0.369
Buy things in the market	0.838	0.369	0.837	0.37	0.861	0.346	0.847	0.361	0.832	0.375
Visit a family planning clinic	0.858	0.349	0.834	0.373	0.853	0.354	0.85	0.358	0.835	0.372
Meet the ASHA worker	0.838	0.369	0.839	0.368	0.853	0.354	0.871	0.336	0.858	0.35
Visit the home of friends by yourself	0.849	0.358	0.881	0.324	0.917	0.276	0.904	0.295	0.919	0.273
Travel a short distance by bus or train or other public										
transport	0.878	0.327	0.898	0.304	0.914	0.281	0.901	0.299	0.896	0.306
Visit your maternal home	0.896	0.305	0.895	0.307	0.925	0.263	0.898	0.303	0.899	0.302
Is your opinion taken into account when purchasing										
an expensive item like a bicycle or cow	0.91	0.287	0.898	0.304	0.92	0.272	0.898	0.303	0.901	0.298
Restrictive relationship with mother-in-law										
MIL limits contact with female friends	0.455	0.499	0.596	0.491	0.554	0.498	0.607	0.489	0.594	0.492
MIL limits contact with maternal household members	0.414	0.493	0.579	0.494	0.54	0.499	0.574	0.495	0.577	0.495
Cannot discuss issues relating to your health or										
women's health in general with MIL	0.225	0.418	0.141	0.349	0.166	0.373	0.15	0.358	0.165	0.372
MIL gets upset if you disagree with her on something	0.426	0.495	0.596	0.491	0.571	0.496	0.601	0.491	0.617	0.487
Feel nervous discussing issues or arguing with MIL	0.439	0.497	0.482	0.5	0.476	0.5	0.453	0.499	0.472	0.5

Adherence to social norms										
A woman's most important role is to be a good										
homemaker	0.908	0.29	0.878	0.328	0.873	0.334	0.922	0.269	0.913	0.282
It is not good for pregnant women to be seen alone in										
public	0.804	0.397	0.812	0.392	0.845	0.363	0.841	0.366	0.855	0.353
A woman should tolerate violence to keep the family										
together	0.579	0.494	0.607	0.489	0.615	0.487	0.61	0.489	0.603	0.49
A daughter-in-law should not argue with her mother-										
in-law	0.836	0.371	0.842	0.365	0.87	0.337	0.859	0.349	0.849	0.358
A daughter-in-law should listen to her mother-in-law										
regarding maternal health issues	0.923	0.266	0.934	0.249	0.956	0.206	0.928	0.259	0.933	0.25
Women should be able to travel on their own to health										
centers	0.09	0.287	0.158	0.365	0.175	0.38	0.093	0.291	0.125	0.331

This table presents the means and standard deviations of daughters-in-law reported covariates in the control and treatment groups at baseline, prior to any intervention and post-randomization. For binary characteristics, it shows the proportion of daughters-in-law.

			Pairwise d	ifferences p -v	alues			
	Control	Control	Control	Control	TI	T3	T1 vs.	12
	vs. T1	vs. T2	vs.T3	vs.T4	vs.T2	vs. T4	£	vs.T4
Daughter-in-law characteristics								
Age at baseline	0.154	0.507	0.695	0.936	0.84	0.896	0.307	0.635
Years of schooling completed	0.515	0.499	0.28	0.967	0.549	0.298	0.337	0.978
Religion: Hindu	0.524	0.007 ***	* 860.0	0.052 *	0.289	0.554	0.641	0.983
Social category: General	0.393	0.423	0.668	0.506	0.788	0.564	0.742	0.52
Social category: Scheduled caste/ Scheduled tribe	0.021 **	0.601	0.447	0.898	0.039 **	0.479	0.329	0.105
Social category: Other backward castes	0.023 **	0.645	0.431	0.682	0.02 **	0.78	0.24	0.19
Currently working outside the home	0.485	0.216	0.063 *	0.374	0.749	0.596	0.113	0.25
Household characteristics								
Total permanent household members	0.648	0.7	0.506	0.625	0.484	0.559	0.583	0.574
Household head is the mother-in-law	0.992	0.429	0.593	0.663	0.681	0.885	0.93	0.404
Household head is the father-in-law	0.381	0.242	0.328	0.382	0.962	0.521	0.919	0.324
Monthly household income $< $ ₹2000 (\$24)	0.768	0.439	0.582	0.495	0.668	0.155	0.517	0.931
Husband characteristics								
Husband's age	0.886	0.786	0.611	0.509	0.649	0.891	0.887	0.803
Husband's years of schooling completed	0.169	0.101	0.328	0.54	0.646	0.324	0.218	0.408
Husband's occupation:								
Daily wage worker	0.245	0.662	0.672	0.593	0.313	0.856	0.756	0.867
Agricultural worker	0.689	0.785	0.133	0.013 **	0.996	0.913	0.717	0.427
Migrant worker	0.077 *	0.651	0.185	0.026 **	0.339	0.796	0.808	0.619
Public sector employee	0.666	0.797	0.761	0.666	0.882	0.837	0.564	0.477
Private sector employee	0.772	0.92	0.403	0.105	0.675	0.348	0.733	0.039 **
Unemployed	0.139	0.101	0.395	0.492	0.512	0.621	0.746	0.037 **
Marriage characteristics								
Number of years married at baseline	0.312	0.998	0.048 **	0.375	0.64	0.895	0.17	0.23
Knew husband before marriage	0.012 **	0.019 **	0.104	0.562	0.802	0.187	0.189	0.056 *
Husband lives in the same household for at least 9								
months in a year	0.455	0.11	0.775	0.731	0.11	0.514	0.829	0.025 **
Spend less than 6 hours alone with husband in a day	0.847	0.888	0.371	0.329	0.878	0.534	0.794	0.936
Husband spends less than 6 hours at home in a day	0.355	0.482	0.167	0.089 *	0.059 *	0.531	0.967	0.419
Husband discusses work often	0.158	0.351	0.136	0.03 **	0.287	0.154	0.794	0.297
Husband discusses community issues often	0.445	0.467	0.136	0.034 **	0.923	0.852	0.911	0.455
Husband discusses family issues often	0.345	0.336	0.025 **	0.041 **	0.549	0.933	0.74	0.341
Husband discusses family planning often	0.182	0.15	0.178	0.048 **	0.878	0.608	0.352	0.627

111

*

*

APPENDIX B. CHAPTER 3 – SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES AND FIGURES

Fertility history								
Been pregnant before	0.484	0.375	0.933	0.407	0.484	0.327	0.835	0.963
Number of previous pregnancies	0.405	0.108	0.981	0.88	0.202	0.911	0.888	0.355
Pregnancy ended in a live birth	0.084 *	0.175	0.311	0.753	0.631	0.716	0.732	0.05
Pregnancy ended in a stillbirth	0.847	0.06 *	0.616	0.235	0.337	0.137	0.45	0.404
Pregnancy ended in a miscarriage	0.29	0.393	0.902	0.825	0.573	0.165	0.159	0.222
Pregnancy ended in an abortion	0.606	0.276	0.801	0.716	0.34	0.338	0.925	
Number of alive children	0.391	0.064 *	0.765	0.813	0.156	0.743	0.59	0.047
<u>Health-seeking during most recent live birth</u>								
Number of antenatal care (ANC) visits completed	0.273	0.224	0.567	0.689	0.99	0.719	0.38	0.319
Paid for ANC visit	0.394	0.719	0.495	0.488	0.101	0.752	0.133	0.708
Current pregnancy								
Gestational age at baseline (in months)	0.49	0.363	0.896	0.339	0.75	0.741	0.886	0.734
Pregnancy is registered with healthcare worker	0.154	0.888	0.894	0.714	0.013 **	0.572	0.012 **	0.649
Receiveda Mother and Child Protection (MCP) Card	0.149	* 70.00	0.364	0.071 *	0.911	0.152	0.486	0.992
Gone for any ANC visits	0.132	0.238	0.104	0.556	0.876	0.026 **	0.677	0.104
Number of ANC visits compeleted at baseline	0.299	0.63	0.089 *	0.797	0.413	0.261	0.89	0.966
ANC Knowledge Index								
Correctly identified ANC is important for detecting								
complications for the mother	0.978	0.764	0.988	0.895	0.513	0.569	0.192	0.912
Correctly identified ANC is important for detecting								
complications for the fetus	0.203	0.327	0.125	0.677	0.614	0.341	0.589	0.457
Correctly identified ANC is important for early								
intervention	0.6	0.45	0.281	0.208	0.072 *	0.869	0.676	0.784
Correctly identified total number of ANC visits								
recommended	0.02 **	0.011 **	0.003 ***	0.011 **	0.62	0.834	0.889	0.708
Know about the Janani Shishu Suraksha (JSS)								
government benefit	0.041 **	0.09 *	0.094 *	0.035 **	0.116	0.128	0.589	0.435
Know the date of the Village Health and Nutrition								
Day (VHND)	0.181	0.12	0.271	* 70.00	0.967	0.991	0.297	0.476
Correctly identified riskier pregnancy in first described								
situation	0.463	0.232	0.528	0.122	0.659	0.015 **	0.493	0.929
Correctly identified riskier pregnancy in second								
described situation	0.62	0.858	0.965	0.395	0.657	0.461	0.656	0.94
Know the cost of an ANC visit	0.245	0.202	0.356	0.886	0.944	0.027 **	0.812	0.153

Iron and Folic Acid (IFA) Knowledge Index Correctly identified the use of IFA supplements for								
blood volume	0.232	0.635	0.562	0.193	0.218	0.476	0.052 *	0.378
Correctly identified the use of IFA supplements to								
treat anemia	0.507	0.459	0.977	0.375	0.892	0.767	0.234	0.062 *
Know the risk of untreated anemia	0.557	0.435	0.079 *	0.13	0.705	0.406	0.655	0.231
Know the importance of IFA supplementation	0.374	0.191	0.017 **	0.153	0.924	0.876	0.83	0.76
Permission needed from husband on the following:								
Buy clothing for yourself	0.627	0.868	0.679	0.353	0.855	0.959	0.715	0.246
Buy things in the market	0.341	0.437	0.616	* 660.0	0.875	0.572	0.681	0.265
Visit a family planning clinic	0.076 *	0.045 **	0.133	0.016 **	0.413	0.765	0.328	0.236
Meet the ASHA worker	0.226	0.14	0.759	0.601	0.704	0.746	0.987	0.942
Visit the home of friends by yourself	0.794	0.652	0.656	0.072 *	0.991	0.003 ***	0.243	0.1
Travel a short distance by bus or train or other public								
transport	0.914	0.773	0.672	0.31	0.925	0.389	0.275	0.806
Visit your maternal home	0.758	0.849	0.297	0.977	0.599	0.215	0.117	0.345
Is your opinion taken into account when purchasing								
an expensive item like a bicycle or cow	0.749	0.722	0.2	0.58	0.907	0.016 **	0.095 *	0.926
Permission needed from the mother-in-law on the								
following:								
Buy clothing for yourself	0.683	0.434	0.436	0.127	0.613	0.567	0.518	0.285
Buy things in the market	0.245	0.383	0.147	0.052 *	0.886	0.935	0.329	0.228
Visit a family planning clinic	0.328	0.345	0.138	0.298	0.822	0.491	0.469	0.478
Meet the ASHA worker	0.483	0.219	0.271	0.19	0.689	0.57	0.671	0.784
Visit the home of friends by yourself	0.941	0.2	0.485	0.228	0.102	0.219	0.943	0.809
Travel a short distance by bus or train or other public								
transport	0.815	0.413	0.369	0.042 **	0.632	0.498	0.541	0.639
Visit your maternal home	0.3	0.783	0.271	0.885	0.157	0.217	0.348	0.193
Is your opinion taken into account when purchasing								
an expensive item like a bicycle or cow	0.533	0.815	0.396	0.92	0.327	0.214	0.299	0.667
Restrictive relationship with mother-in-law								
MIL limits contact with female friends	0.652	0.105	0.745	0.751	0.252	0.945	0.553	0.076 *
MIL limits contact with maternal household members	0.893	0.346	0.67	0.284	0.232	0.478	0.971	0.146
Cannot discuss issues relating to your health or								
women's health in general with MIL	0.852	0.763	0.36	0.281	0.525	0.452	0.765	0.974
MIL gets upset if you disagree with her on something	0.474	0.606	0.202	0.018 **	0.292	0.843	0.58	0.347
Food according the second of a second of a second of the MII	0 7/2	0.001	0.57	0.572		0.947	0.020	0.69
reel nervous discussing issues or arguing with with	0./45	167.0	7C'N	670.0	0./4/	0.84/	0.832	U.Dð

Adherence to social norms								
A woman's most important role is to be a good								
homemaker	0.974	0.908	0.946	0.487	0.656	0.627	0.713	0.626
It is not good for pregnant women to be seen alone in								
public	0.91	0.301	0.695	0.871	0.215	0.679	0.751	0.98
A woman should tolerate violence to keep the family								
together	0.523	0.743	0.537	0.488	0.454	0.387	0.23	0.843
A daughter-in-law should not argue with her mother-								
in-law	0.672	0.432	0.431	0.878	0.723	0.96	0.397	0.308
A daughter-in-law should listen to her mother-in-law								
regarding maternal health issues	0.658	0.742	0.342	0.844	0.303	0.274	0.321	0.12
Women should be able to travel on their own to health								
centers	0.152	0.109	0.971	0.87	0.219	0.198	0.633	0.556

The table includes two types of pairwise comparisons: the first set of p-values indicates significant differences between the control group and each treatment group, and the second set compares the treatment groups of interest for the analysis. The displayed p-values result from a regression of the dependent variable on an indicator variable for each treatment group, with the control vs. treatment groups and an indicator variable using the first treatment group specified as the reference category. Strate fixed effects are included, and standard errors are clustered at the village level (not shown here). * denotes statistical significance at 10 pct, ** at 5 pct, and *** at 1 pct level.

	Daughters-in	-law (DILs)	Mothers-in	1-law (MILs)
	(1)	(2)	(1)	(2)
	Without covariates	With covariates	Without covariates	With covariates
Panel A. Pooled treatments				
Group	-0.055	-0.080 **	-0.041	-0.066 *
	(0.033)	(0.035)	(0.034)	(0.035)
	0.100	0.021	0.231	0.056
Individual	-0.047	-0.064 *	-0.032	-0.049
	(0.036)	(0.038)	(0.035)	(0.037)
	0.193	0.097	0.372	0.190
Control mean	0.205	0.205	0.215	0.215
Observations	2,367	2,189	2,367	2,189
R-squared	0.153	0.180	0.125	0.159
p (Group=Individual)	0.763	0.572	0.738	0.573
Panel B. All treatments				
T1: Individual + Only DIL	-0.069*	-0.080 **	-0.053	-0.066 *
	(0.036)	(0.038)	(0.037)	(0.038)
	0.092	0.037	0.149	0.088
T2: Individual + DIL&MIL	-0.023	-0.038	-0.009	-0.026
	(0.038)	(0.038)	(0.040)	(0.041)
	0.536	0.319	0.825	0.527
T3: Group + Only DIL	-0.060*	-0.075 **	-0.034	-0.045
	(0.036)	(0.036)	(0.040)	(0.040)
	(0.036)	0.036	0.401	0.256
T4: Group + DIL&ML	-0.049	-0.063 *	-0.048	-0.065 *
	(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.036)	(0.037)
	0.155	0.072	0.185	0.079
Control mean	0.205	0.205	0.215	0.215
Observations	2,367	2,189	2,367	2,189
R-squared	0.155	0.202	0.126	0.178
<i>p</i> (T1=T2)	0.621	0.612	0.672	0.568
<i>p</i> (T3=T4)	0.0162	0.0397	0.143	0.199
<i>p</i> (T1=T3)	0.780	0.884	0.602	0.576
p(T2=T4)	0.414	0.418	0.286	0.295

Table B.8: Attritio	n between	baseline ar	nd midline	by	treatment a	arms
---------------------	-----------	-------------	------------	----	-------------	------

Notes: This table displays the attrition rates of both daughters-in-law and mothers-in-law between baseline and midline. The attrition variable is an indicator that equals 0 if the baseline survey respondent has a corresponding midline survey and 1 if they do not have a midline survey (have attrited from the study). Panel A shows differential attrition for the pooled treatment groups, where the treatment variable is 1 if the participants belong to the group (individual) treatment and 0 if they belong to the control group. Panel B shows the differential attrition for all four treatments, where the treatment variable is 1 if the participants belong to the control group. Panel B shows the differential attrition for all four treatments, where the treatment variable is 1 if the participants belong to T1-T4 and 0 if they belong to the control group. Each row and column represent a separate regression. Both models (1) and (2) include strata fixed effects, and standard errors clustered at the village level are shown in parentheses. Model (2) includes all baseline covariates specified in Table B.2. *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1

	Daughters-in	-law (DILs)	Mothers-in-	-law (MILs)
	(1)	(2)	(1)	(2)
	Without controls	With controls	Without controls	With controls
Panel A. Pooled treatments				
Group	0.024	0.012	0.018	0.011
	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.030)	(0.031)
	0.429	0.709	0.566	0.715
Individual	0.023	0.023	0.014	0.015
	(0.030)	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.031)
	0.443	0.453	0.660	0.629
Control mean	0.138	0.138	0.152	0.152
Observations	2,367	2,189	2,367	2,189
R-squared	0.128	0.129	0.114	0.129
p (Group=Individual)	0.966	0.684	0.887	0.894
Panel B. All treatments				
T1: Individual + Only DIL	0.027	0.038	0.022	0.033
	(0.032)	(0.031)	(0.034)	(0.031)
	0.402	0.219	0.510	0.290
T2: Individual + DIL&MIL	0.019	0.021	0.004	0.010
	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.032)	(0.032)
	0.551	0.491	0.890	0.749
T3: Group + Only DIL	0.028	0.035	0.022	0.033
	(0.031)	(0.030)	(0.031)	(0.030)
	0.368	0.252	0.476	0.283
T4: Group + DIL&ML	0.020	0.024	0.013	0.023
	(0.033)	(0.033)	(0.033)	(0.033)
	0.539	0.469	0.703	0.494
Control mean	0.138	0.138	0.152	0.152
Observations	2,367	2,189	2,367	2,189
R-squared	0.128	0.175	0.114	0.166
<i>p</i> (T1=T2)	0.682	0.602	0.634	0.647
<i>p</i> (T3=T4)	0.691	0.468	0.442	0.339
<i>p</i> (T1=T3)	0.969	0.909	0.992	0.984
p(T2=T4)	0.962	0.940	0.800	0.707

Table B.9: Attrition between baseline and endline by treatment arms

Notes: This table displays the attrition rates of both daughters-in-law and mothers-in-law between baseline and endline. The attrition variable is an indicator that equals 0 if the baseline survey respondent has a corresponding endline survey and 1 if they do not have a endline survey (have attrited from the study) Panel A shows differential attrition for the pooled treatment groups, where the treatment variable is 1 if the participants belong to the group (individual) treatment and 0 if they belong to the control group. Panel B shows the differential attrition for all four treatments, where the treatment variable is 1 if the participants belong to the control group. Panel B shows the differential attrition for all four treatments, where the treatment variable is 1 if the participants belong to T1-T4 and 0 if they belong to the control group. Each row and column represent a separate regression. Both models (1) and (2) include strata fixed effects, and standard errors clustered at the village level are shown in parentheses. Model (2) includes all baseline covariates specified in Table B.2. *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1

B.2 Maternal health training scripts

B.2.1 Maternal health script for only pregnant women

Namaste, my name is XXX and I am working on behalf of Noora Health, an NGO working with local hospitals to help women get the right care during pregnancy. As you may remember, a member of our team met you recently.

Can you confirm that you are ;read out name of respondent;? Now can you please confirm how far along in the pregnancy you are? months / weeks pregnant?

Today, we would like to provide you with some important information regarding your health during pregnancy. This will take about 15 minutes of your time.

Pregnancy can be a confusing time and there are things you need to do to take care of yourself and your baby. Have you visited the hospital/clinic for ANC check-ups?

- Yes: Very good. Now we will give you more information about this.
- No: Let us go ahead and learn about ANC, and why it is important.
- 1. Antenatal care visits: During pregnancy, it is important to monitor your health in order to detect any health complications and provide treatment. Some pregnant women may undergo problems such as high blood pressure, high blood sugar level, anemia or breech of position of baby. Often, we don't realize these problems are happening. ANC visits help to detect these problems that would have otherwise not been detected and thus protect your health as well as the health of your baby.

It is important to go for at least 4 ANC visits throughout your pregnancy to make sure your baby is growing healthy. Going for an ANC visit means going to a medical provider like a doctor or the ANM. If the ASHA comes to your home and advises you, it is good for you but that is not an ANC visit as no tests or check ups are performed.

- Go for at least 1 ANC visit as soon as you know you are pregnant. This is especially important because this is the time to register your pregnancy and get your Mother-Child Protection (MCP) card.
- The MCP card has many advantages: It allows you and your family to track your pregnancy and keep your records in one place so you have it when you go to deliver.
- You cannot avail any benefits of government schemes without the MCP card. With the card, you and your baby would be eligible for free delivery, cash assistance, antenatal and postnatal care and many other benefits described in detail on the back of the card.
- Remember, you can only register the pregnancy and get the MCP card through the ANM.
- You must go for a total of at least 4 ANC visits throughout your pregnancy.

- ANC visits are provided for free at the Village Health and Nutrition Day (VHND) held at your village every month or for free at your ANM's clinic. You can also get it done on the 9th of every month through the PMMSY.
- You can also go to the district hospital or any clinic at any time to get a check-up done during the pregnancy.
- It is important to remember the Madhya Pradesh (MP) rule: If you go to the hospital for the last two ANC visits, then you can get your MCP number registered with the hospital and get a maximum of Rs. 1400 from the Janani Suraksha Yojana (JSY) scheme when you deliver at the same hospital. Call the 108 number to get a bus to reach the hospital. It is free of cost for women in your situation.

Sometimes it may happen that you are alone at home because your husband has gone for work, and your mother-in-law or other family members are also not at home. And you may be expected to manage the house on your own, at the expense of going to the hospital for a check-up or taking adequate rest. Or you may hear your family members like your mother-in-law or husband asking you not to waste time with these check ups, and stay at home to complete house work. But by not going for the check-ups you risk the chance of harming yourself and your baby. Talk to your MIL and ask her to let you go or to take you herself for the check up.

Do you want me to repeat any of the information I shared about the ANC visit?

2. Iron folic acid tablets: Do you know what IFA tablets are?

Most women are not able to get all the nutrition needed to grow another life. Anemia is one of the most common conditions in pregnancy that can lead to poor health and even death in pregnant women. Your anemia can affect the baby's growth and health. Fortunately, this can be easily controlled through iron and folic acid tablets.

- Take one tablet of iron and folic acid a day throughout your pregnancy. These will be provided to you for free during your ANC visit. If you miss a dose, it's okay. Take one on the next day.
- IFA tablets may make you nauseous, make your stools black, or give you an upset stomach. Do not be discouraged. They will ensure your baby doesn't have any birth defects and you don't get anemic. Drink lots of water throughout the day and eat a diet rich in dark leafy vegetables.
- These are the key things you need to do once you find out you are pregnant. If you do, your baby will grow healthy without any problems.

Lastly, we would like to talk to you about a part of pregnancy that often gets overlooked. At this time, you must be feeling excited, nervous, tired and some physical discomfort.

We advise pregnant women to ask their family for help and support. Your mother-in-law and husband are the people you should rely on during this time. Here are some ways in which you can do this:

- It can be difficult to go for ANC visits alone. Ask your mother-in-law to accompany you to the clinic. We understand that it is sometimes difficult to talk about subjects related to pregnancy and childbirth openly with your family. However, talking to your mother-in-law about the importance of ANC visits like we discussed above, as well as the risks involved if you do not get your health checked regularly will help keep both you and your baby healthy. If your mother-in-law or husband are busy, you can also request a friend of yours to accompany you for an ANC check-up.
- Pregnancy can be tiring especially in the first and last trimester. Try to sleep or rest during the day for an hour at least. Ask your mother-in-law to help with household chores so you can get some time to sleep.
- Many women in your family or among your friends might have already had children. You will receive advice from all these people who care about you on how to take care of your health, what food you should eat, how often you should visit the doctor, etc. In these situations, it is important to remember to always consult your doctor or your ASHA or ANM, and listen to their advice first.

Remember, you are growing a life in you and it is important you prioritize yourself and your baby. That should matter the most to you and your family.

B.2.2 Maternal health script for pregnant women and mothers-in-law

Namaste, my name is XXX and I am working on behalf of Noora Health, an NGO working with local hospitals to help women get the right care during pregnancy. As you may remember, a member of our team met you recently.

Can you confirm that you are ¡read out name of respondent¿? Now Can you please confirm how far along in the pregnancy you are? months / weeks pregnant?

Today, we would like to provide you with some important information regarding your health during pregnancy. This will take about 15 minutes of your time.

Pregnancy can be a confusing time and there are things you need to do to take care of yourself and your baby.

@MIL: Maybe you already know many of the things we might be telling you today. But it is possible that there are better ways to take care of your daughter-in-law's health during pregnancy that might not have existed during your time. That is why we want to talk with both of you together.

@DIL: Have you visited the hospital/clinic for ANC check-ups?

- Yes: Very good. Now we will give you more information about this.
- No: Let us go ahead and learn about ANC, and why it is important.
- 1. Antenatal care visits: During pregnancy, it is important to monitor your health in order to detect any health complications and provide treatment. Some pregnant women may undergo problems such as high blood pressure, high blood sugar level, anemia or breech of position of baby. Often, we don't realize these problems are happening. ANC visits help to detect these problems that would have otherwise not been detected and thus protect your health as well as the health of your baby.

It is important to go for at least 4 ANC visits throughout your pregnancy to make sure your baby is growing healthy. Going for an ANC visit means going to a medical provider like a doctor or the ANM. If the ASHA comes to your home and advises you, it is good for you but that is not an ANC visit as no tests or check ups are performed.

- Go for at least 1 ANC visit as soon as you know you are pregnant. This is especially important because this is the time to register your pregnancy and get your Mother-Child Protection (MCP) card.
- The MCP card has many advantages: It allows you and your family to track your pregnancy and keep your records in one place so you have it when you go to deliver.
- You cannot avail any benefits of government schemes without the MCP card. With the card, you and your baby would be eligible for free delivery, cash assistance, antenatal and postnatal care and many other benefits described in detail on the back of the card.
- Remember, you can only register the pregnancy and get the MCP card through the ANM.
- You must go for a total of at least 4 ANC visits throughout your pregnancy.
- ANC visits are provided for free at the Village Health and Nutrition Day (VHND) held at your village every month or for free at your ANM's clinic. You can also get it done on the 9th of every month through the PMMSY.
- You can also go to the district hospital or any clinic at any time to get a check-up done during the pregnancy.
- It is important to remember the Madhya Pradesh (MP) rule: If you go to the hospital for the last two ANC visits, then you can get your MCP number registered with the hospital and get a maximum of Rs. 1400 from the Janani Suraksha Yojana (JSY) scheme when you deliver at the same hospital. Call the 108 number to get a bus to reach the hospital. It is free of cost for women in your situation.

@DIL: Sometimes it may happen that you are alone at home because your husband has gone for work, and your mother-in-law or other family members are also not at home.

@MIL: Sometimes, your daughter-in-law may be expected to manage the house on her own and complete house work, instead of going to the hospital for a check-up or taking adequate rest.

But by not going for the check-ups you risk the chance of harming yourself and your baby. Talk to each other about when you would like to visit the doctor for a check up, so that you can either go together to the hospital or you can find someone to go with you.

Do you want me to repeat any of the information I shared about the ANC visit?

2. Iron folic acid tablets: Do you know what IFA tablets are?

Most women are not able to get all the nutrition needed to grow another life. Anemia is one of the most common conditions in pregnancy that can lead to poor health and even death in pregnant women. Your anemia can affect the baby's growth and health. Fortunately, this can be easily controlled through iron and folic acid tablets.

- Take one tablet of iron and folic acid a day throughout your pregnancy. These will be provided to you for free during your ANC visit. If you miss a dose, it's okay. Take one on the next day.
- IFA tablets may make you nauseous, make your stools black, or give you an upset stomach. Do not be discouraged. They will ensure your baby doesn't have any birth defects and you don't get anemic. Drink lots of water throughout the day and eat a diet rich in dark leafy vegetables.
- These are the key things you need to do once you find out you are pregnant. If you do, your baby will grow healthy without any problems.

Lastly, we would like to talk to you about a part of pregnancy that often gets overlooked. At this time, you must be feeling excited, nervous, tired and some physical discomfort. We advise pregnant women to ask their family for help and support. @DIL: Your mother-in-law and husband are the people you should rely on during this time. @MIL: Your daughter-in-law usually relies on you for help and advice during this time. Thus, it is important that you support her and give her good advice.

• It can be difficult to go for ANC visits alone. @DIL: Ask your mother-in-law to accompany you to the clinic. @MIL: Try to accompany your daughter-in-law to the ANC visit. We understand that it is sometimes difficult to talk about subjects related to pregnancy and childbirth openly with your family. However, talking to each other about the importance of ANC visits like we discussed above, as well as the risks involved if you do not get your health checked regularly will help keep both you

and your baby healthy. @DIL: If your mother-in-law or husband are busy, you can also request a friend of yours to accompany you for an ANC check-up.

- Pregnancy can be tiring especially in the first and last trimester. Try to sleep or rest during the day for an hour at least. @MIL: You can help your daughter-in-law with household chores so she can get some time to sleep.
- Many women in your family or among your friends might have already had children. You will receive advice from all these people who care about you on how to take care of your health, what food you should eat, how often you should visit the doctor, etc. @MIL: You might also have some advice based on your experience during your pregnancy. In these situations, it is important to remember to always consult your doctor or your ASHA or ANM, and listen to their advice first. @MIL: You will also receive advice from many of your friends on how to help your daughter-in-law be healthy during this time. It is normal to not have answers to all of your daughter-in-law's questions, and. It is also normal to not know everything about good health practices during pregnancy. In this case, always remember to consult a doctor or ask your daughter-in-law to consult a doctor.

Remember, you are growing a life in you and it is important you prioritize yourself and your baby. That should matter the most to you and your family.

Appendix C

Chapter 4 – Supplementary Tables and Figures

<u> </u>
Ы
Ġ.
Ō
Ę.
3
\sim
6
5
E
<u> </u>
0
Ч
Ц
g
S
õ
್ಷ
g
ŝ
e,
В
1
۲
\bigcirc
()
Ŧ
\sim
\sim
Ľ.
лu
ran
gran
ogran
rogram
Program
n Program
on Program
nion Program
anion Program
panion Program
npanion Program
mpanion Program
Jompanion Program
Companion Program
e Companion Program
re Companion Program
are Companion Program
Care Companion Program
e Care Companion Program
ile Care Companion Program
bile Care Companion Program
obile Care Companion Program
Mobile Care Companion Program
Mobile Care Companion Program
: Mobile Care Companion Program
.1: Mobile Care Companion Program
C.1: Mobile Care Companion Program
C.1: Mobile Care Companion Program
le C.1: Mobile Care Companion Program
ble C.1: Mobile Care Companion Program
able C.1: Mobile Care Companion Program

Lopic Welcome	wessage *Welcome 淡 to Aarogya Seval Congratulations 👏 on your delivery!* 🧏 Taking care of a newborn can be hard. By sending messages about baby and mother care, we will make this easy for you.	Scneaule Day 1, upon enrollment
Service information message	Todays message for your family : The Care Companion Program is here to support you on this journey. From today onwards, for the next 45 days, you will receive health messages regarding mother and child health at 8 am in the morning.	Day 1, upon enrollment
Breastfeeding initiation / colostrum	The Care Companion Program is here to support you on this journey. Make sure that the mother starts breastfeeding the baby within 1 hour of delivery. The first yellow milk produced is very good for your baby. This will build the baby's immunity and protect your baby against several diseases! On one give honey, sugar water, gripe water, cow's milk or any animal milk as this can diarrhoea and even malnutrition. Breastfeed the baby whenever it demands or at least every 2-3 hours, even during the night time.	Day 1, upon enrollment
Breastfeeding and flow of breast milk	Todays message for your family d=: The Care Companion Program is here to support you on this journey. The amount of milk the mother is getting (producing), is adequate for her baby ! Dont worry ! Milk flow increases more and more as the baby sucks. The more you breastfeed the baby, the milk in your breasts will increase. Also, remember that your baby has a small stomach and the breastmilk you get is just the amount that the baby's stomach can hold at one time. Ensure that the mother is eating a nutritious diet [A] eat of food and dont eat less.	Day 2, 8 am
Burping	Todays message for your family d=: The Care Companion Program is here to support you on this journey. Small babies throw up milk (regurgitate) quite often or vomit after feeds This is how you can do it This is how you can do it at the heady over your shoulder at the heady over your shoulder at the head of the baby is turned outward and the baby can breathe properly at the the baby's back gently or rub the back at the keep like this position for 10 to 15 min or till the baby burps ! wIDEO LINK: https://youtu.be/fij9B6uHjyc	Day 3, 8 am

Maternal support	Todays message for your family different care Companion Program is here to support you on this journey. The period of childbirth and recovery can be physically and mentally tiring for the mother. She needs a lot of rest in She needs the support for the family. Support for the family. Support her and give her time to rest, by doing important things for the baby like burping the baby, doing skin to skin care, and cleaning the baby. This can be done by the father, grandmother or any family member. Make sure to wash your hands before touching the baby of the baby doing skin to skin care, and cleaning for the baby. This can be done by the father, grandmother or any family member.	Day 3, 8 am
Cord Infection	Todays message for your family d :: - Keep the baby's cord clean and dry! On thouch your baby's cord, don't try to pull it off and most importantly, do not apply ANYTHING on the cord such as powder, oil, cream, ghee or turmeric! O If the skin around the cord is red, there is swelling around the cord, pus, foul smell, or blood, or your baby cries on touching near the cord, take the baby to the hospital immediately. The standard the cord, pus, foul smell, or blood, or your baby cries on touching near the cord, take the baby to the hospital immediately.	Day 4, 8 am
Service information	Do you know that you can respond to our messages any time? And you can also ask us any questions that you may have about the mother or the baby? From Monday 8 am to Saturday 8 pm our nurses are here to answer all your questions and support you.	Day 5, 8 am
Baby sleep	Todays message for your family The Care Companion Program is here to support you on this journey. ▲ Your baby can sleep for more than 12 hours in a day. This may be in small durations, several times a day. Gently wake the baby and feed every 2-3 hours . th Even if you are unwell or have fever, you can breastfeed the baby. If the baby has fever, diarrhoea or is sick, the baby can be given breastfeedia. So, continue breastfeeding without any hesitation! A	Day 6, 8 am
Skin-to-skin	Todays message for your family <i>d</i> ⁻ : Providing warmth to the baby by placing the baby without clothes, on the bare chest of the mother, father or any family member, is skin to skin care or KMC A . -This is an easy and very effective method to take care of babies below 2.5 kg weight, premature babies and sick babies. It is useful for normal babies as well. - It keeps the baby warm and helps gain weight. - It keeps the baby to grow well, improves its intelligence, and increases the family bonding. Skin to skin care can be done anytime in the day - each time for 1 hour or more, and as many times possible in a day th VIDEO LINK: https://youtu.be/Ln9xhliNy4k	Day 8, 8 am
	(сопылиеа он нехт раде.)	

125

Hypothermia	Todays message for your family ←: The Care Companion Program is here to support you on this journey. A Baby should be covered properly and kept warm in all weather conditions. Its head and feet should always be kept covered. To prevent your baby from getting very cold, after cleaning the baby, use a towel to dry the baby. To find out if the baby is warm enough, check like this - If the palms and soles of the baby feel cold, the baby has mild coldness of the body. Do skin to skin care. If the chest and abdomen of the baby feel cold, it indicates severe coldness of the body. Place your baby, without clothes on your chest, cover both with a shawl and rush to the hospital immediately.	Day 10, 8 am
Jaundice	Todays message for your family The Care Companion Program is here to support you on this journey	Day 12, 8 am
Baby warning signs -1	The Care Companion Program is here to support you on this journey. A. If your baby is having breathing difficulty, rapid breathing, ribs are prominent and chest goes in while breathing, making grunting sounds or has blueness of lips, palms, or soles - your baby has respiratory problems. Go to a doctor immediately.	Day 14, 8 am

APPENDIX C. CHAPTER 4 – SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES AND FIGURES

(continued on next page.)

126

Service info	The Care Companion Program is here to support you on this journey. Please message us on this chat if you have any questions about the baby or mother's health.	Day 16, 8 am
Diarrhoea	Todays message for your family $\overset{\frown}{\overset{\frown}{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{\phantom{$	Day 18, 8 am
Maternal diet	Todays message for your family \checkmark : There must be no restrictions in the food for the mother. A lactating mother requires a nutritious and complete diet after the delivery. This will help in wound healing for the mother, help increase the breast milk, and help in the baby's growth. She should have locally available fruits and vegetables. Her food should include grains like rice and wheat, green leafy vegetables (spinach), drumstick leaves, pulses (dal), rajma, groundnuts, jaggery, dates, paneer, milk and if non - vegetarian, she can eat eggs, meat or fish. \checkmark	Day 20, 8 am
Mother warning signs	Todays message for your family \checkmark : Caring for the mother after delivery is as important as caring for the baby * 🎔 📩 A if mother has excessive vaginal bleeding , burning sensation while passing urine, or fever A pain or redness around the stitches, pus discharge, or the wound has opened up A breast problems like redness, pain, lumps, crack/tear in the nipple A or dizziness, fits, excessive tiredness, or loss of appetite Make sure to visit the hospital immediately!	Day 22, 8 am
Baby warning signs-2	Todays message for your family drift you see these warning signs A in the baby, take the baby to the hospital immediately a A Breathing difficulty or rapid breathing A Passing urine less than 4 times in a day, loose motions many times in a day or blood in stools A Passing urine less than 4 times in a day, loose motions many times in a day or blood in stools A Passing urine less than 4 times in a day, loose motions many times in a day or blood in stools A Passing urine less than 4 times in a day, loose motions many times in a day or blood in stools A Passing urine less than 4 times around it ~ A Daundice, Fever, coldness of the baby's body, Lethargy or inactive baby, fits If you see any of these signs, take your baby to the hospital ! Tool on to telay !	Day 24, 8 am

127

VIDEO LINK: https://youtu.be/oA8suyA2LaQ

Family Planning	Todays message for your family der: A woman can become pregnant even when she is breastfeeding, even within 2 months of delivery, if she does not use any family planning method. Select and start using any type of contraceptive method to avoid pregnancy, like condoms, Copper T, oral tablets or operation. Please contact the ASHA or ANM in your area and ask about them. Keeping a gap of at least 3 years of a limproving the health of the baby and the mother, and it helps in the family savings too the flaving throug the using contraced risk of disease or death in the mother or the child.	Day 26, 8 am
Immunization	Todays message for your family —: The baby must be immunized right from birth onwards, against serious childhood infections like Polio, T.B, Measles, Diphtheria, Pertussis and Hepatitis and many more. Vaccines are given according to the schedule provided in the Mother and Child Protection (MCP) Card. To get your baby vaccinated for free, go to your nearest government hospital or get them from your ANM at the Village Health and Nutrition Day (VHND).	Day 28, 8am
Reinforcement message	Todays message for your family \checkmark : You are doing a great job by only feeding your baby breastmilk! \textcircled{A} \textcircled{A} Breastfeeding is the first step towards protecting your child! \textcircled{A} Here are some known (or recognized प्रमाणित) benefits for the mother if she only breastfeeds her baby and gives nothing else to the baby. \textcircled{A} helps in postpartum weight loss. A helps in postpartum veight loss. A reduces the risk of cancers of the breasts and ovaries. The next step towards protecting your child is immunisation \checkmark - take a look at the MCP card (in KA -Thayee card) to check for the next date of vaccination and plan for the hospital visit! \blacksquare If you like this message, give thumbs up \textcircled{A}	Day 31, 8 am
Reminder message	Todays message for your family: Namaste! A your baby is due for vaccination /	Day 40, 8 am
Vaccination reminder 2	Todays message for your family 👉: Hope your baby has already been given the vaccines at 1.5 months of age! In case you have missed it, don't worry, you can still get the vaccine 🖉 by visiting the health center.	Day 46, 8 am
Vaccination reminder 3	Remember that the next vaccine is due at 2.5 month age of baby - refer to the MCP/thayee card or ask the ANM or ASHA worker about this. If you like this message, give thumbs up 👍	Day 51, 8 am
Service end	This is the last message about mother and baby's health. If you have any questions about the mother and baby health, please ask us.	Day 51, 8 am

APPENDIX C. CHAPTER 4 – SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES AND FIGURES

128

Ľ
riê
+
sed
imi
ndd
r ra
Iste
clu
а
reporting
when
lation
inform
JC
с ц
IS.
Ł
Ω.
ch
10
20
Ē
Я
Q
$\overline{\mathbf{S}}$
X
SC
5:
С.
е
[q
Γa
L '

Section/Topic	Item No	Checklist Item	Extension for cluster designs	Page No	
Title and abstract					
	la	Identification as a randomised trial in the title	Identification as a cluster randomised trial in the title	Title	
	lb	Structured summary of trial design, methods, results, and conclusions (for specific guidance see CONSORT for abstracts) ^{[i],[ii]}	See table 2	Abstract	
Introduction					
Background and	2a	Scientific background and explanation of rationale	Rationale for using a cluster design	Methods Para 1	
objectives	2b	Specific objectives or hypotheses	Whether objectives pertain to the cluster level, the individual participant level or both	Intro Para 7, Methods Para 8	
Methods					
Trial design	3a	Description of trial design (such as parallel, factorial) including allocation ratio	Definition of cluster and description of how the design features apply to the clusters	Methods Para 4-6	
	3b	Important changes to methods after trial commencement (such as eligibility criteria), with reasons		Methods Para 5	
Participants	4a	Eligibility criteria for participants	Eligibility criteria for clusters	Methods Para 4-5	
	4b	Settings and locations where the data were collected		Methods Para 4	
Interventions	3	The interventions for each group with sufficient details to allow replication, including how and when they were actually administered	Whether interventions pertain to the cluster level, the individual participant level or both	Methods 1-2	
Outcomes	6a	Completely defined pre-specified primary and secondary outcome measures, including how and when they were assessed	Whether outcome measures pertain to the cluster level, the individual participant level or both	Methods 7-9	
	6b	Any changes to trial outcomes after the trial commenced, with reasons		N/A	
Sample size	7a	How sample size was determined	Method of calculation, number of clusters(s) (and whether equal or unequal cluster sizes are assumed), cluster size, a coefficient of intra- cluster correlation (ICC or k), and an indication of its uncertainty	Methods Para 4	
	7b	When applicable, explanation of any interim analyses and stopping guidelines		N/A	
Randomisation					
--	-----	--	---	----------------	--
Sequence generation	8a	Method used to generate the random allocation sequence		Methods Para 5	
	8b	Type of randomisation; details of any restriction (such as blocking and block size)	Details of stratification or matching if used	Methods Para 5	
Allocation concealment mechanism	6	Mechanism used to implement the random allocation sequence (such as sequentially numbered containers), describing any steps taken to conceal the sequence until interventions were assigned	Specification that allocation was based on clusters rather than individuals and whether allocation concealment (if any) was at the cluster level, the individual participant level or both	N/A	
Implementation	10	Who generated the random allocation sequence, who enrolled participants, and who assigned participants to interventions	Replace by 10a, 10b and 10c		
	10a		Who generated the random allocation sequence, who enrolled clusters, and who assigned clusters to interventions	Methods Para 5	
	10b		Mechanism by which individual participants were included in clusters for the purposes of the trial (such as complete enumeration, random sampling)	Methods Para 6	
	10c		From whom consent was sought (representatives of the cluster, or individual cluster members, or both), and whether consent was sought before or after randomisation	Methods Para 6	
Blinding	11a	If done, who was blinded after assignment to interventions (for example, participants, care providers, those assessing outcomes) and how		N/A	
	11b	If relevant, description of the similarity of interventions		N/A	
Statistical methods	12a	Statistical methods used to compare groups for primary and secondary outcomes	How clustering was taken into account	Methods 9-10	
	12b	Methods for additional analyses, such as subgroup analyses and adjusted analyses		Methods 9-10	

(continued on next page.)

Results				
Participant flow (a diagram is strongly recommended)	13a	For each group, the numbers of participants who were randomly assigned, received intended treatment, and were analysed for the primary outcome	For each group, the numbers of clusters that were randomly assigned, received intended treatment, and were analysed for the primary outcome	Methods Para 4-6, Figure 1
	13b	For each group, losses and exclusions after randomisation, together with reasons	For each group, losses and exclusions for both clusters and individual cluster members	Figure 1
Recruitment	14a	Dates defining the periods of recruitment and follow- up		Methods Para 6-8
	14b	Why the trial ended or was stopped		N/A
Baseline data	15	A table showing baseline demographic and clinical characteristics for each group	Baseline characteristics for the individual and cluster levels as applicable for each group	Results, Table 1
Numbers analysed	16	For each group, number of participants (denominator) included in each analysis and whether the analysis was by original assigned groups	For each group, number of clusters included in each analysis	Methods Para 10, Figure 1, Tables 3- 4
Outcomes and estimation	17a	For each primary and secondary outcome, results for each group, and the estimated effect size and its precision (such as 95% confidence interval)	Results at the individual or cluster level as applicable and a coefficient of intracluster correlation (ICC or k) for each primary outcome	Results Tables 3-4
	17b	For binary outcomes, presentation of both absolute and relative effect sizes is recommended		Results Tables 3-4
Ancillary analyses	18	Results of any other analyses performed, including subgroup analyses and adjusted analyses, distinguishing pre-specified from exploratory		Results Table 2, Supplements S8- S9
Harms	19	All important harms or unintended effects in each group (for specific guidance see CONSORT for harms[iii])		N/A

(continued on next page.)

Discussion				
Limitations	20	Trial limitations, addressing sources of potential bias, imprecision, and, if relevant, multiplicity of analyses		Discussion Para 2
Generalisability	21	Generalisability (external validity, applicability) of the trial findings	Generalisability to clusters and/or individual participants (as relevant)	Discussion Para 3
Interpretation	22	Interpretation consistent with results, balancing benefits and harms, and considering other relevant evidence		Discussion Para 1, 3-4
Other information				
Registration	23	Registration number and name of trial registry		Methods Para 4
Protocol	24	Where the full trial protocol can be accessed, if available		N/A
Funding	25	Sources of funding and other support (such as supply of drugs), role of funders		Acknowledgement s and via online submission system as per journal's instructions

Notes:(Hopewell et al. (2008a,b); Ioannidis (2004))

Table C.3: High dimensional controls

S. No.	Panel A: Individual-level covariates
	Mother's demographic characteristics
1	Age of the mother
2	Gender of the baby
3	Primary respondent is the mother
4	Baby readmitted to the hospital after initial discharge
5	Vaginal or C-section delivery type
6	Number of previous births
7	First-time mother
8	Belongs to General social category
9	Belongs to SC/ST social category
10	Belongs to a Below Poverty Line household
11	Caregiver also responded to the survey in addition to the mother
	SES indicators
12	Roof material is concrete
13	Fuel type used in household is Liquified Petroleum Gas (LPG)
14	Toilet type used in household is not an open toilet
15	Household assets: own pressure cooker
16	Household assets: own color television
17	Household assets: own refrigerator
18	Household assets: own table
19	Household assets: own washing machine
20	Household assets: own sewing machine
21	Household assets: own air conditioner/cooler
22	Household assets: own mattress
23	Household assets: own motorcycle/scooter
24	Household assets: own none of the above assets
	Education
25	No formal schooling completed
26	Primary school completed
27	Secondary school completed
28	Higher than secondary school completed
	Occupation
29	Unemployed
30	Homemaker
31	Daily wage worker
32	Work in the private sector
33	Work in the public sector
	Panel B: Hospital-level covariates
34	Presence of a high-risk maternity ward
35	Number of staffed maternity nurses
36	Hospital provided support for CCP

Notes: This table provides the list of individual and hospital-level covariates that were used in the PDS-lasso model to select the final list of covariates for the estimation. Mother's demographic characteristics and SES indictors were collected as part of the demographic survey prior to offering enrollment in MCCP. Education and occupation were collected at the time of the follow-up survey. Hospital characteristics were collected by survey team by interviewing a member of the administrative staff at each hospital in the study.

	mean	sd
Mother's age	24.35	4.053
Newborn is male	0.530	0.499
Primary respondent is the mother	0.975	0.155
Newborn readmitted to hospital after delivery	0.098	0.298
Vaginal delivery	0.676	0.468
First time mothers	0.267	0.443
Number of previous live births	1.396	1.210
Ownership of smartphone that supports WhatsApp	0.000	0.000
Category: General	0.054	0.225
Category: Scheduled caste/scheduled tribe	0.835	0.371
Category: Other	0.111	0.315
Ownership of a Below Poverty Line (BPL) card	0.560	0.496
SES index	-0.573	1.153
Ownership of household items		
Pressure cooker	0.501	0.500
Color television	0.426	0.495
Refrigerator	0.142	0.349
Table	0.125	0.330
Washing machine	0.040	0.196
Sewing machine	0.073	0.260
Air conditioner/cooler	0.163	0.369
Mattress	0.370	0.483
Motorcycle/scooter	0.267	0.442
None of these	0.294	0.456
Home roof material is concrete	0.534	0.499
Household uses LPG fuel mostly for cooking	0.717	0.451
Household uses open toilet	0.303	0.460

Table C.4: Demographic	characteristics	of excluded	sample	(N=3,466))
------------------------	-----------------	-------------	-------------------------	-----------	---

Notes: This table shows the means and standard deviations of the individuals surveyed during the demographic survey who did not meet the inclusion criteria and were excluded from the study. For binary characteristics, the proportion of participants is shown. The SES index is calculated using the methodology from the NFHS-4 and standardized around the control group.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
	Without	controls	With contr	ols (all vars)
	β	se	β	se
Treatment group	0.029	(0.053)	0.014	(0.043)
Control mean	0.356		0.356	
Observations	21,930		21,930	
R-squared	0.093		0.117	

Table C.5: Attrition by treatment assignment

Notes: We exclude observations for individuals who do not meet the inclusion criteria. The attrition variable is an indicator which is 0 if the demographic survey respondent does not have a corresponding followup survey and 1 if they have a followup survey. The treatment variable is a indicator which is 0 for the control group and 1 for the MCCP treatment group. Standard errors in parentheses. *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1

-	N T	4.1	A 44	. 1	NT
	Non-att	rited	Attrit	ed	Non-attrited
_	(n = 13,	491)	(n = 8,4	139)	vs. attrited
	mean	sd	mean	sd	p-values
Mother's age	24.329	3.715	24.546	3.989	0.396
Newborn is male	0.523	0.499	0.524	0.499	0.834
Primary respondent is the mother	0.979	0.143	0.931	0.254	0.014 **
Newborn readmitted to hospital after delivery	0.074	0.262	0.123	0.328	0.073 *
Vaginal delivery	0.533	0.499	0.589	0.492	0.049 **
First time mothers	0.242	0.428	0.273	0.446	0.090
Number of previous live births	1.227	0.972	1.167	0.997	0.317
Category: General	0.130	0.336	0.145	0.352	0.978
Category: Scheduled caste/scheduled tribe	0.825	0.380	0.767	0.423	0.183
Category: Other	0.045	0.207	0.089	0.284	0.026 **
Ownership of a Below Poverty Line (BPL) card	0.591	0.492	0.530	0.499	0.135
SES index	0.072	0.955	-0.152	1.073	0.053 *
Ownership of household items:					
Pressure cooker	0.781	0.414	0.683	0.465	0.053 *
Color television	0.735	0.442	0.642	0.479	0.003 ***
Refrigerator	0.392	0.488	0.402	0.490	0.030 **
Table	0.323	0.468	0.348	0.476	0.666
Washing machine	0.132	0.338	0.170	0.376	0.999
Sewing machine	0.222	0.415	0.236	0.425	0.972
Air conditioner/cooler	0.301	0.459	0.323	0.468	0.208
Mattress	0.599	0.490	0.395	0.489	0.371
Motorcycle/scooter	0.598	0.490	0.473	0.499	0.053 *
None of these	0.057	0.232	0.098	0.297	0.036 **
Home roof material is concrete	0.644	0.479	0.772	0.419	0.919
Household uses LPG fuel mostly for cooking	0.856	0.351	0.842	0.365	0.684
Household uses open toilet	0.200	0.400	0.222	0.416	0.202

Table C.6: Demographic characteristics, by attrition

Notes: This table shows the means and standard deviations of the participants that we were able to track and stayed in the study (non-attriters) versus those we lost to follow up (attrited). We exclude observations from participants that did not meet our inclusion criteria. For binary characteristics, the proportion of participants is shown. The p-value displayed is from a regression of the dependent variable on an indicator variable for treatment. State fixed effects are included, and standard errors were clustered at the hospital level (not shown here). The SES index is calculated using the methodology from the NFHS-4 and standardized around the control group. *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1

-	Contr	ol	Treatn	nent	Treatment
	(n = 11,	627)	(n = 13)	,769)	vs. Control
-	mean	sd	mean	sd	p-values
Mother's age	24.327	3.826	24.468	3.880	0.712
Newborn is male	0.527	0.499	0.523	0.500	0.935
Primary respondent is the mother	0.975	0.155	0.952	0.214	0.421
Newborn readmitted to hospital after delivery	0.127	0.333	0.065	0.247	0.097 *
Vaginal delivery	0.599	0.490	0.548	0.498	0.781
First time mothers	0.235	0.424	0.274	0.446	0.065
Number of previous live births	1.285	1.037	1.184	1.000	0.936
Ownership of smartphone that supports WhatsApp	0.888	0.316	0.843	0.364	0.139
Ownership of a smartphone currently being used for WhatsApp	0.898	0.303	0.849	0.358	0.104
Category: General	0.127	0.333	0.122	0.328	0.555
Category: Scheduled caste/scheduled tribe	0.836	0.370	0.783	0.412	0.763
Category: Other	0.037	0.189	0.095	0.293	0.288
Ownership of a Below Poverty Line (BPL) card	0.568	0.495	0.565	0.496	0.704
SES index	0.000	1.000	-0.166	1.079	0.365
Ownership of household items:					
Pressure cooker	0.749	0.434	0.677	0.468	0.365
Color television	0.710	0.454	0.621	0.485	0.155
Refrigerator	0.374	0.484	0.351	0.477	0.112
Table	0.253	0.435	0.347	0.476	0.427
Washing machine	0.105	0.307	0.155	0.362	0.542
Sewing machine	0.228	0.420	0.188	0.390	0.660
Air conditioner/cooler	0.339	0.473	0.248	0.432	0.548
Mattress	0.492	0.500	0.507	0.500	0.672
Motorcycle/scooter	0.549	0.498	0.480	0.500	0.697
None of these	0.082	0.274	0.121	0.326	0.072 *
Home roof material is concrete	0.624	0.484	0.712	0.453	0.282
Household uses LPG fuel mostly for cooking	0.801	0.399	0.859	0.348	0.353
Household uses open toilet	0.290	0.454	0.163	0.369	0.134

Table C.7: Baseline balance table of full demographic survey sample

Notes: This table shows the means and standard deviations of the participants in the control and treatment groups at the time of recruitment and prior to any intervention. For binary characteristics, the proportion of participants is shown. The *p*-value displayed is from a regression of the dependent variable on an indicator variable for treatment. State fixed effects are included, and standard errors were clustered at the hospital level (not shown here). The SES index is calculated using the methodology from the NFHS-4 and standardized around the control group. * denotes statistical significance at 10 pct, ** at 5 pct, and *** at 1 pct level.

Table C.8: Effect of MCCP Intervention on newborn care, maternal diet, and complications, unadjusted (N=13,491)

Outcomes	Control mean	RD	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	q -value
Newborn care					
Exclusive breastfeeding	0.499	0.005	[-0.105, 0.115]	0.929	0.485
Fed any breastmilk	0.941	0.068	[0.032, 0.104]	0.000 ***	0.001
Practiced recommended cord care	0.489	0.057	[0.003, 0.111]	0.000 ***	0.001
Mother practiced skin-to-skin with newborn	0.094	0.106	[0.070, 0.142]	0.000 ***	0.001
Father practiced skin-to-skin with newborn	0.010	0.021	[0.006, 0.036]	0.006 ***	0.015
Completed six week vaccinations	0.509	0.054	[-0.032, 0.139]	0.218	0.230
Maternal diet practices					
No reduction of food intake	0.697	0.065	[0.020, 0.110]	0.004 ***	0.012
No reduction of water intake	0.751	0.036	[-0.046, 0.118]	0.390	0.288
No restriction of food items	0.380	0.101	[0.061,0.141]	0.000 ***	0.001
Consumed iron and folic acid supplements	0.124	0.083	[-0.003, 0.169]	0.059	0.093
Consumed calcium supplements	0.116	0.091	[0.013, 0.169]	0.023 **	0.042
Newborn and maternal complications					
Newborn admitted to hospital after discharge	0.068	-0.005	[-0.026, 0.015]	0.601	0.399
Newborn experienced complications after discharge	0.295	0.019	[-0.017, 0.054]	0.301	0.261
Mother admitted to hospital after discharge	0.012	0.003	[-0.003, 0.010]	0.272	0.256
Mother experienced complications after discharge	0.112	0.014	[-0.004, 0.032]	0.131	0.160
Experienced issues with cord care	0.056	-0.007	[-0.023, 0.009]	0.400	0.288

Notes: This table presents the unadjusted results of the logistic regression of the primary outcomes on treatment. Each row represents a separate regression. The same estimation specification as described for Table 3 was used, without the addition of the covariates. All outcome variables presented are indicators that are 0 if the behavior was not practiced, and 1 if the behavior was practiced. The treatment variable is an indicator that is 0 if they were assigned to the control group and 1 if they were assigned to treatment. Standard errors (not shown here) are robust, and are clustered at the hospital level. We present sharpened False Discovery Rate (FDR) adjusted q-values to correct for multiple hypothesis testing (Anderson (2008)). * denotes statistical significance for p-values at 10 pct, ** at 5 pct, and *** at 1 pct level. RD: risk difference; CI: confidence interval.

Table C.9: Effect of MCCP Intervention on newborn care, maternal diet, and complications, unadjusted (N=13,491)

Knowledge outcomes	Control mean	RD	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	<i>q</i> -value
Know to breastfeed when mother has a fever	0.402	0.068	[-0.017, 0.152]	0.117	0.160
Know to breastfeed jaundiced newborn	0.535	0.070	[-0.013, 0.154]	0.097	0.145
Know age to start complementary feeding	0.683	0.022	[-0.085, 0.128]	0.689	0.400
Know recommended cord care	0.380	0.036	[-0.016, 0.087]	0.177	0.195
Know about skin-to-skin care	0.185	0.163	[0.110, 0.217]	0.000 ***	0.001

Notes: This table presents the results of the logistic regression of the knowledge outcomes on treatment. Each row represents a separate regression. The same estimation specification as described for Table 4 was used, without the addition of the covariates. All outcome variables presented are indicators that are 0 if they did not have the correct response to the knowledge question, and 1 if they did. The treatment variable is an indicator that is 0 if they were assigned to the control group and 1 if they were assigned to treatment. Standard errors (not shown here) are robust, and are clustered at the hospital level. We present sharpened False Discovery Rate (FDR) adjusted q-values to correct for multiple hypothesis testing (Anderson (2008)). * denotes statistical significance for p-values at 10 pct, ** at 5 pct, and *** at 1 pct level. RD: risk difference; CI: confidence interval.